



A Department of Defense information analysis center

A focal point in acquiring, evoluoting, and disseminating outhoritative, timely information about ceramic materials of interest to the Department of Defense, other Government agencies, their contractors, and their suppliers



a approved

103

ie; ta

This docum

for public mi

distribution in a

DCIC REPORT 69-2 JUNE, 1969

> Reproduced by the CLEARINGHOUSE for Federal Scientific & Technical Information Springfield Va. 22151

> > ١

DISCLAIMER NOTICE



THIS DOCUMENT IS BEST QUALITY AVAILABLE. THE COPY FURNISHED TO DTIC CONTAINED A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF PAGES WHICH DO NOT REPRODUCE LEGIBLY.



MISSION

The Center collects, interprets, and disseminates technical information about ceramics for Department of Defense needs.

SCOPE

The Center's coverage and acquisitions, selected primarily on the basis of material composition, includes borides, carbides, carbon (graphite), nitrides, oxides, sulfides, silicides, and selected intermetallic compounds and glasses in the form of monophase and polyphase ceramic bodies, coatings, fibers, composites, and foams.

The subject fields include applications, property and performance data, processing and fabricating methods, testing methods, and fundamental aspects of processing and behavior of these materials.

SPONSOR

Air Force Materials Laboratory Materials Support Division (MAAM) Wright Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio

SERVICES

The services of the Center include answering technical inquiries, providing technical advisory services, and publishing data compilations, critical technical reviews, and news of recent developments.

QUALIFIED USERS

U. S. Government agencies, their contractors, suppliers, and others in a position to assist the defense effort.

ADDRESS

Defense Ceramic Information Center Battelle Memorial Institute Columbus Laboratories 505 King Avenue Columbus, Ohio 43201 Telephone: Area Code 614, 299-3151 Extension 2758

and has

ACCE	S\$100 for		1
CFST	1	WHITE SECTION	1
'70C		BUFF SECTION [
A.4	NOUNCED	0	
	= ICATION		
1	n an the second s	AVAILEDILITY CODES	
915	T. AV.	AIL and or SPECIAL	

NOTICES

This document is approved for public release and sale; its distribution is unlimited.

DCIC Report 69-2 June, 1969

SURFACE ENERGY OF CERAMIC MATERIALS

Prepared by

Jules J. Duga

for the

Defense Ceramic Information Center Battelle Memorial Institute Columbus Laboratories 505 King Avenue Columbus, Ohio 43201

۱

ABSTRACT

The concepts, experimental techniques, and theoretical analyses of the surface energy of solid ceramic materials are reviewed with the aim of condensing a large mass of unrelated data into a concise form for comparison and evaluation. It is shown that various experimental methods can be applied to the measurement of surface energy, but, that each of these has certain limitations which are often unstated. Furthermore, it is shown that theoretical analyses and empirical correlations, while sometimes rather imprecise, can be used to approximate surface energies, particularly as functions of temperature. While a few materials have been discussed in considerable detail (such as MgO, Al2O3 and some alkali halides), a review of the literature notes that there is a great paucity of information on the surface energies of many solids of interest. Improvements and extensions of experimental and empirical techniques are suggested that will help to fill the voids in the present understanding of ceramic solid surfaces, and specific analyses of experimental methods are forwarded. It is shown in the report that the proper use of thermodynamic techniques offers considerable potential for the measurement and interpretation of solid surface energies of a large number of materials that are poorly understood at present. In addition, the further development of thermodynamic methods precents an opportunity to investigate solid surface energies of nonbrittle materials, thus overcoming one of the basic limitations of the use of mechanical methods.

FOREWORD

This special report was prepared for the Defense Ceramic Information Center (DCIC) by Dr. Jules J. Duga, Associate Advisor, Physical Chemistry and Solid State Materials Division, Department of Chemistry and Chemical Engineering, Columbus Laboratories, Battelle Memorial Institute.

The author wishes to acknowledge the contributions from the following individuals: B. R. Emrich of the Air Force Materials Laboratory for his support and encouragement; Prof. J. A. Pask, University of California; Prof. Hayne Palmour, III, North Carolina State University; Dr. A. R. C. Westwood, Research Institute for Advanced Studies; and Dr. S. M. Wiederhorn, National Bureau of Standards, for their contributions to the literature search; and W. H. Duckworth and C. L. Downey of Battelle's Columbus Laboratories for their advice and editorial comments.

DCIC is operated by Battelle's Columbus Laboratories under U.S. Air Force Contract No. F33615-67-C-1472. The program is administered by the Information Branch (MAAM), Materials Support Division, Air Force Materials Laboratory, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

.

.

				Page
Ι.	INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY.	•••	•	1
II.	SCOPE	• •	•	4
III.	. THE CONCEPT OF SURFACE ENERGY.			6
	III-1. Basic Definitions and Distinctions	• •	•	6
	III-2. Factors Allecting the Ideal Surface Energy	• •	•	07
	111-5. Relation of Surface Energy to Other Material Properties .	•••	•	(
IV.	EXPERIMENTAL TECHNIQUES	• •	•	12
	IV-1. Summary of Experimental Techniques			12
	IV-2. Mechanical Methods.			15
	IV-2.1. Crack Propagation			15
	IV-2.2. Calculation from Elastic Constants		•	18
	IV-2.3. Strain Energy Release		•	19
	IV-2.4. Crushing.			23
	IV-2.5. Bent-Wafer Techniques			24
	IV-2.6. Fiber Stress			25
	IV-2.7. Unit-Cell Measurements			27
	IV-2.8. Other Mechanical Techniques		•	27
	IV-3. Thermodynamic Methods		•	28
	IV-3 1 Critical Angle for Wetting	•••	•	28
	IV-3.2 Heat of Immersion	•••	•	32
	IV-3.3 Dissolution and Heat of Solution	•••	•	34
	IV-4 The Interpretation of Experimental Data	•••	•	35
	IV 4. The interpretation of Experimental Data	•••	•	35
	IV-4.2. Liquid-Solid Interfacial Effects	• •	•	36
	IV 4.2. Depticle Sine Effects	•••	•	20
		•••	•	20
	V-4.4. Grain-Size Lifects	••	•	29
v.	THEORETICAL CALCULATIONS	•••	•	41
	V-1 The Atomictic Approach			41
	V-1. The Atomistic Approach	· ·	•	45
	V-2. Senn-Quantitative Structural and Thermodynamic Consideration		•	53
	V-3. Correlation rechniques	• •	•	55
ΥІ.	. SOLID SURFACE ENERGIES	· •	•	58
	VI-1. The Surface Energy of Crystalline Solids			58
	VI-2. The Surface Energy of Glasses		•	72
	The outrace Divergy of Glasses	• •	•	(2
VII	I. CONCLUSIONS	•••	•	75
RE	CFERENCES			77

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

		Page
	APPENDIX A	
APPLICAT	ION OF TECHNIQUES.	A-1
	APPENDIX B	
CLASSES O	F MATERIALS STUDIED	B-1
	APPENDIX C	
SURFACE T	TENSION OF SELECTED FUSED SALTS AS A FUNCTION ERATURE	C-1
	LIST OF FIGURES	
Figure 1.	Schematic Drawing of the Cleavage of a Crystal	15
Figure 2.	Specimen Geometry: Strain-Energy Release	20
Figure 3.	A Typical Load/Deflection Curve for Determining Strain-Energy Release Rates	20
Figure 4.	Variation of Crack Depth-to-Thickness Radio Correction Factor, f(c/t), With Changing Ratio	21
Figure 5.	General Form of the Curve of Stiffness, k, versus Crack Area, A	22
Figure 6.	Schematic Load-Time Curves Representing (A) Catastrophic, (B) Semistable, and (C ¹ Stable Fractures	23
Figure 7.	(A) Fiber Elongation and (B) Glass Fiber as a Cylinder of Viscous Material	25
Figure 8.	Surface Tension Versus Silica Contents for Binary Silicate Melts.	30
Figure 9.	Surface Tension Versus SiO ₂ Contents for FeO-SiO ₂ and CaO-SiO ₂ Melts	30
Figure 10.	Surface Tension in the System FeO-MnO-SiO2 at 1400 C	31
Figure 11.	Surface Tension in the System FeO-CaO-SiO2 at 1400 C	31
Figure 12.	Structures of Liquids Used for Immersion Studies	37
Figure 13.	Calculated Effect of Particle Size on the Surface Tension of a Liquid	39

LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

.

Page

Figure 14.	Measured Surface Energies as a Function of Grain Size for Al ₂ O ₃ and MgO	•	•	40
Figure 15.	The Positive Quadrant of a Stereographic Projection of a Cubic Crystal With Some Planes Indicated by Their Miller Indices.	•	•	49
Figure 16.	The Surface Energy Ratios for the Simple Cubic System Plotted on a Stereographic Projection	•	•	49
Figure 17.	The Surface-Energy Ratios for the Face-Centered Cubic System Plotted on a Stereographic Projection			50
Figure 18.	The Surface-Energy Ratios for a Body-Centered Cubic Material (α -Fe) Plotted on a Stereographic Projection	•	•	50
Figure 19.	Correlation Between Surface Free Energy Density, $\Im F_S$, and the Cohesive Energy Parameter, δ_V , for Various Types of Solids .		•	55
Figure 20.	Change in Surface Tension of Fused Metal Oxides by Addition of Various Other Metal Oxides	•	•	57
Figure 21.	Temperature Coefficient, $d\Gamma/dT$, of the Surface Tension of Mixtures of Fused Metal Oxides	•	•	57
	LIST OF TABLES			
Table 1.	Summary of Principal Experimental Techniques for Determining Surface Energy		•	14
Table 2.	Partial Surface Energies of Various Solids Immersed in Different Liquids	•	•	36
Table 3.	Heats of Immersion of Rutile in Various Liquids	•	•	37
Table 4.	Theoretical Surface Energies of Alkali Halide Crystals at 0 K .	•	•	44
Table 5.	Surface Tensions (Γ) and Energies (γ) Calculated for Alkali Halides at 0 K	•	•	45
Table 6.	Solid Surface Energies of Ceramic Compounds	•	•	60
Table 7.	Surface Energies of Various Glasses	•	•	74
Table A-1.	Primary Experimental Techniques and the Materials Measured by Them	•	•	A-1

1 1

LIST OF TABLES (Continued)

Page

• • • • • •

.

Table A-2.	Major Theoretical Techniques and Solid Surface Energies Calculated by Them
Table B-1.	Materials Studied by Primary Classes
Table B-2.	The Composition of Minerals Listed in the Text, Table 6
Table C-1.	Constants for the Equation $\gamma_L^T = k (1 - T/T_c)^{1.2}$ for Various Fused Salts

.

I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

The surface energy of a solid is an important factor in many phases of science and technology, not only for itself but also through its marked influence on other physical properties. Since the earliest work of Griffith, in which the now famous "Griffith criterion" for crack propagation (i.e., for surface formation) was expounded, many researchers have attempted to use his concepts in describing the nature of fracture in brittle, semi-brittle or ductile materials. Moreover, numerous modifications to basic Griffith theory have been developed to account for deviations from the perfect cases, which are more easily treated.

During the past few years, efforts on the study of solid surface energies have increased, particularly as a by-product of basic research on fracture. While the preponderance of recent literature on the subject of solid surface energy is still devoted to considerations of the fracture process, the study of surface energy is increasingly being extended to numerous other areas of investigation. One of the most obvious applications lies in the theory of adhesic. and the development of adhesive joints, which have tremendous potential, for instance, in airplane and automotive construction, in the fabrication of habitable dwellings, and in spontaneous cold-welding of components in high vacuum environments, such as outer space. Surface energy is an important factor in all studies of friction, lubrication, and wear; of coatings; of glass-to-metal seals; and many other areas of product development. Similarly, in process development the surface energy of a material will contribute, in part, to mechanisms of filtering, wetting, catalysis, sintering, epitaxial growth, any kind of joining or bonding, and crystallite and colloid morphology, including the size and shape of ultra-fine particles in smokes and other particulate pollutants. Furthermore, the role of the surface energy is a critical determinant in any surface treatment, such as cleaning, polishing, activation, or the like. The design of coupling agents for composite structures is an area of particular current importance in which surface energy is basic.

Inasmuch as the colid surface energy is a significant factor in many different fields of research and technology, and, in addition, since there is no collected work known to this writer which organizes the subject in any detail, the present state-of-the-art report was commissioned.

The concept of surface energy, from its basic definition through a discussion of general factors that affect measured values, is covered in some detail, and the relations betw een surface energy and other materials properties are explored.

From an experimental point of view, the report describes various techniques that have been devised for the determination of surface energy. These may be broadly classed in two categories: mechanical and thermodynamic. In the former, primary consideration has been given to the Griffith criterion for crack propagation and the extensions of this to a multitude of experimental arrangements. The fracture of a material is accompanied by the creation of fresh surfaces, and the simplest concepts show that the energy required to effect fracture is merely the product of the surface energy and the area of the newly exposed faces. This theory, with modifications, has been applied to the determination of surface energies in brittle materials, but is seen to be insufficient in materials with significant plasticity. Techniques based on the Griffith criterion have included single crystal fracture and crack propagation, determination of total stored elastic energy prior to failure in polycrystalline masses, measurements of total area created in crushing, the energy to effect drilling, and others. Aside from the applications to single-crystal materials, most of these mechanical methods result in erroneous values of surface energy, generally too large as a result of not having corrected for plasticity, kinetic energy of resulting particles, friction effects, and the like.

Other mechanical methods have been devised for specific materials classes, such as the spontaneous bending of thin wafers of compound semiconductor crystals. In this case, a lack of inversion symmetry in the (111) direction of the crystal lattice serves to expose different "compositions" on opposite crystal faces, and a corresponding difference in surface tension produces a bending moment that may be interpreted in terms of these tension differences. In addition, analyses of unit cell dimensions of extremely fine particles provide a measure of the degree to which surface tensions act as body forces on the bulk of the sample, and the technique is found to apply where there are large surface area/volume ratios. Other determinations of surface energy have been made through the observation of the stretching of a heated fiber under its own weight or an applied force. It is presumed that gravitation effects will tend to elongate a fiber while surface tension forces tend to reduce the length. From the balance of forces that results, an estimate of the surface tension, as well as the effects of adsorbed impurities, may be ascertained.

Each technique is described in sufficient detail to provide familiarity, and each is criticized for its ranges of applicability and the reliability of the results obtained.

The crack propagation experiments are believed to be the most direct method of determining solid surface energies. Their nujor drawback lies in the range of temperatures over which they may be applied. Wherever dislocation maneuverability becomes appreciable, surface energy measurements are grossly affected, and complicated correction factors must be applied to the analysis. Hence, additional techniques must be supplied for the determination of surface energies over a wider temperature range. To this end, various methods are reviewed that involve the interaction between solids and liquids, these falling into the general category of thermodynamic techniques. The method showing the greatest potential for further development involves the determination of the critical surface tension for wetting of a solid. This method, originally applied to the wetting of low-energy organic materials, has been modified for certain high-energy solids and suggests that similar critical surface tensions can be measured. There are, however, two major difficulties in the interpretation of data. First, one must recognize that the critical tension for wetting is different from the solid surface energy by an amount equal to the spreading pressure of the candidate liquid on the solid, a term which may be difficult to evaluate. Second, it has been shown by various investigators that thermodynamic technique, will generally provide only a partial answer to the problem, this being due to the different types of interactions that are possible between dissimilar materials. In this case, it is necessary to determine critical tensions using various classes of liquids for a given solid, and the analysis tends to become quite involved.

In spite of these difficulties, thermodynamic techniques (including heats of immersion, heats of solution, solubility rates, and the like) offer considerable promise through their applicability to materials at clevated temperatures. While the most reliable mechanical methods may be applied only to complete brittle materials, the thermodynamic methods can, in principle, be utilized up to the melting point of the specimen.

The theory of solid surface energies is discussed from essentially two points of view, with different degrees of sophistication in each. The most detailed work on first-principles calculations of surface energy is considered, where much of the effort has

been directed toward materials which crystallize in the simple cubic structure, such as the alkali halides. Calculations are highlighted in which consideration is given to the electrostatic forces between ions, the effects of surface relaxation, and deformation of the lattice due to thermal oscillations. In addition to the detailed formulation given for the alkali halides, simpler approaches have been used for the estimation of surface energies of several chalcogenides and oxides.

Various techniques have been proposed for the estimation of surface energy of solids based upon correlations with other physical properties. While one method suggests comparison of surface energies with mechanical properties such as hardness, recrystallization temperature, and elastic modulus, to name a few, other methods are based on the comparison with thermodynamic and structural data, including heats of formation, critical temperatures, crystal structure, and the like. To make full use of these correlative approaches, it is necessary to obtain information on the surface tensions of molten ceramics and their temperature dependencies. To this end, the scope of the report is expanded to include such data on the liquid state, where applicable.

The report includes tabulation of surface energies for many different materials (with many common minerals), and reports most measured values, with appropriate comments regarding the reliability of the results. In addition, data on several different types of glasses are combined in separate tables, although no major effort is expended to evaluate this information.

Finally, recommendations are made regarding the direction in which future research should be directed to the determination of surface energies of ceramic materials.

IJ. SCOPE

While the surface energy is an important parameter in a number of different fields of interest, as indicated in the previous section, certain limitations must be placed on the scope of materials to be considered in this present review. Firstly, we shall be concerned only with ceramic materials (i.e., nonmetallic inorganic materials). A number of research programs have been devoted to the determination of surface energies of metals, many through the use of scratch-smoothing, grain-boundary grooving, sintering, and similar techniques. A complete analytical compendium of the solid surface energies of metals is definitely needed, but this subject is beyond the scope of this report.

Furthermore, much work has been done on organic materials, particularly by Zisman⁽¹⁾ and his co-workers, but this subject is similarly omitted from this review. However, some of Zisman's techniques are applicable to ceramic materials and consequently, this report will consider some of the organic materials with which he has been concerned, but solely for illustration.

Secondly, little space will be given to the discussion of the surface tension of molten ceramics or glasses. It is well-recognized that the surface tension of glasses and slags has important technological implications, including the applications to glass molding, enameling, glass-to-metal seals and other areas; however, the material presently available is quite voluminous (with many major contributions from the Russian literature) but so unrelated that no detailed review is possible at the present time. To collect the data without some semblance of a connecting thread would be inconsistent with the aims of the present report. Such a compilation will be left to future reviews^{*}.

There are, to be sure, several materials that are expected to fall within the scope as defined here and for which no values of surface energy are available except in the liquid state (primarily alkali metal compounds). The inclusion of such data here will be seen to be consistent with the scope of the report when discussions on correlation techniques begin.

There will, in addition, be some reference to the work on selected molten ceramic systems, particularly where it is believed that the use of critical contact angle data will provide information relative to the surface energy of certain solids. Several glass systems suggest themselves as being suitable for this application, and mention of these and their role in the determination of solid surface energies will be made at the appropriate places.

Two very important aspects of the surface-energy determinations have also been omitted from this report: namely, surface preparation techniques and surface area determinations. The first of these constitutes a major report in itself, being comprised of complicated procedures and analytical techniques. The preparation of a surface for detailed structural, physical and chemical studies is not necessarily directed toward the attainment of a <u>clean</u> surface so much as it has the aim of obtaining a characterized surface. Although clean surfaces are highly desirable in fundamental studies of interface reactions, the <u>characterized</u> surface provides a more direct means of analyzing effects at real interfaces.

[•]There are several early reviews on the surface tension of molten glasses, as noted by Parikh⁽²⁾. The reader is referred to these (3, 4) for general details.

Surface area determinations have similarly been omitted from detailed consideration here, although it is necessary to have such information available. This is particularly true in those cases where fine particle distributions are required in surface energy measurements, such as by solubility rates and heats of immersion. Quite generally, the surface area can be measured by adsorption techniques, usually employing nitrogen gas where interactions other than physical adsorption are generally negligible. Surface measurement methods have recently been reviewed by Kantro et al.⁽⁵⁾

III. THE CONCEPT OF SURFACE ENERGY

III-1. Basic Definitions and Distinctions

There are several ways to view the concept of surface energy, depending upon the degree of detail required and whether interest is theoretical or practical. For a basic qualitative picture, we may first consider a perfect crystal in an evacuated chamber in equilibrium with its own vapor. The atoms in the bulk of the crystal are surrounded on all sides by other bulk atoms and are in an equilibrium configuration that can be readily determined by well-known x-ray techniques.

At the surface of this perfect crystal, such an arrangement is not generally maintained. The surface atoms interact with only half as many atoms as do bulk atoms and, as a consequence, the surface lattice is somewhat distorted; a certain energy must be applied if this distortion is to be eliminated. <u>The solid surface energy is the energy</u> required to restore the bulk lattice configuration at the surface of a perfect crystal. It is always greater than zero.

A similar concept is surface tension (the force tending to reduce the area of a surface in equilibrium with its vapor), more commonly considered in discussions of the properties of liquids. Under certain conditions, surface tension and surface energy are equal, although a rigorous thermodynamic treatment is required to delineate the conditions of equivalence clearly. One of the more important conclusions of such a treatment is that not only can the surface energy and surface tension be different, but the surface tension can be negative (6) (in anisotropic cases). Specific examples of the difference between surface energy and surface tension of solids will be given in Section V-1.

The details of the argument regarding the differences between surface energy and surface tension of solids are not necessary to this review. Perhaps the most critical review and exposition has been given by $Johnson^{(7)}$, with further discussion by $Gregg^{(8)}$. In the rest of the text, little distinction will be made between tension and energy. In general, this decision will not affect the interpretation of experimental techniques and measurements. Where confusion might arise (for example, in the discussion below regarding the thermodynamics of surfaces and interfaces), surface tensions will be denoted by Γ while surface energies are given as γ . Where the two are equivalent, particularly with liquids, γ is used.

III-2. Factors Affecting the Ideal Surface Energy

In the preceeding paragraphs, we considered only the case of nearly perfect crystals that might be studied in the laboratory and neglected the more "practical" types of morphologies encountered in ceramic technology. The reasons for this are rather straightforward; it is generally easier to measure, interpret and analyze the experimentally observed behavior of simple, pure structures rather than become involved in a number of additional variables that are often poorly specified. In fact, throughout this report major emphasis has been placed on high-quality well-characterized materials rather than on the so-called "engineering" materials. In view of this situation, we should consider, in rather broad terms, the nature of the differences to be expected between the types of information obtained with pure single crystals as opposed to polycrystalline masses and other material conditions, particularly with regard to experimental observation. First, as will be discussed later, the surface energy of a crystal is not a unique quantity but varies rather widely for different crystal orientation. Hence, in a polycrystalline material with many different crystal faces exposed, the measured surface energy will be a weighted average of the spectrum of values realizable for the specific material.

Further complicating the theory of a heterogeneous sample face are the contributions from exposed grain-boundary traces, where the grain-boundary energy is difficult to isolate, although it is usually intermediate between the surface energies of the juxtaposed faces at the boundary; however, exceptions to this are quite important.

Various extrinsic factors also affect the ideal surface energy, the most common of which is the adsorption of extraneous phases from a surrounding atmosphere. For example, a freshly cleaved surface will rapidly reduce its surface energy by adsorbing gaseous species. Such contamination is one of the factors that can prevent easy "repair" of a fresh break by simply remating the exposed fracture surfaces (surface rearrangement due to surface tension also makes repair difficult).

In addition, "real" materials pose an important impurity problem. In certain systems, these impurities are surface active, that is, they tend to concentrate at surfaces and interfaces (grain boundaries) and lower the surface energy. While high-purity materials may be available in the laboratory, processing steps can introduce impurities in the final product, and significant differences in surface energy can result. Furthermore, as mentioned above, in all materials (of both scientific and technological usage) atmospheric impurities reduce the practical surface energy, not only through adsorption but often through chemical reaction.

We also note that temperature affects the solid surface energy of any body, both intrinsically and extrinsically. The intrinsic value of surface energy is temperature dependent, partly because of configurational changes caused in the crystal lattice. Secondly, an extrinsic factor arises in consideration of the equilibrium adsorbate pressures, also temperature dependent. As the temperature increases and the degree of surface coverage decreases, a "cleaner" surface is exposed, which has a higher surface energy than the "dirty" surface.

III-3. Relation of Surface Energy to Other Material Properties

From purely qualitative reasoning, it appears that the surface energy of a solid could be correlated with other physical properties if we give a more detailed description of the energy concept. Some of these correlations are introduced below.

Since the analysis of fracture mechanics is important in the measurement of surface energy (as will be discussed in Section IV), it is necessary to consider the conditions necessary for an applied force to propagate a crack. Quite simply, the basic Griffith criterion for crack propagation stems from an energy-balance relationship in which the energy required to extend a crack is balanced by the increased energy of the two fresh surfaces created. Griffith considered the two-dimensional case of an idealized elliptical crack in an isotropic elastic material. By calculating the rate of decrease in strain energy associated with the growth of the crack under stress and equating this to the rate of increase of surface energy, he derived the relation

$$\sigma = \sqrt{\frac{4E\gamma}{\pi c}},$$
 (1)

where σ = minimum applied stress required for crack growth

E = Young's modulus

 γ = surface energy

c = length of ideally grown crack

Similar treatments have been given to ellipsoidal cracks, surface cracks, and the discrete nature of the crystal structure. In general, it is found that

$$\sigma = \mathbf{k} \sqrt{\mathbf{E} \gamma / \mathbf{c}}, \qquad (2)$$

÷ •

- #

--

- -

. .

. .

- -

• •

. .

··· :.

where the geometry factor, k, can vary between 0.8 and 1.3.

A major limitation of such straightforward models is associated with the value chosen for c, which can be interpreted in different ways. In a review of the brittle behavior of glasses, Mould⁽⁹⁾ discussed the effect of stress concentration on the propagation of a crack and showed that for a surface crack of depth, c, and tip radius, ρ , the maximum stress, at the tip, is greater than the applied stress by a factor of $2\sqrt{\frac{c}{\rho}}$. It follows that the minimum applied stress for growth, σ , and the ultimate stress, $\sigma_{\rm m}$, are related by

$$\sigma = \frac{1}{2} \sigma_{\rm m} \sqrt{\rho/c} \quad . \tag{3}$$

This is equivalent to Equation (1) if

$$\frac{\sigma_{\rm m}\sqrt{\rho}}{2} = \sqrt{\frac{4E\gamma}{\pi}} \quad . \tag{4}$$

Several researchers investigating fracture in ceramic materials have concluded that the definition of the tip radius, ρ , affects the determination of γ . A major limitation of fracture energy measurements and their application to surface energy determinations relates to the uncertainty of assigned values of ρ , which, in turn, relates to considertions of partial plasticity, effective values of ρ , and similar perturbations. In a recent review, Stokes⁽¹⁰⁾ delved into questions associated with the definition of brittleness, semibrittleness and ductility, and discussed dislocation mobility and maneuverability in various crystal systems. Major corrections to the values of ρ are necessary whenever a material is sufficiently ductile to result in a plastically deformed zone around the crack tip. Otherwise, such zones (and the corresponding work to produce these zones) result in a larger apparent value of the surface energy.

In most materials with a brittle-to-ductile transition, it has been observed that the transition temperature can depend on the experimental conditions, particularly the magnitude of impulse or strain rate imparted to the specimen. For sufficiently small impulses, a material can behave in a ductile, plastic manner, while large impulses (at the same temperature) will produce catastrophic failure. It is therefore important to recognize that fracture-surface energy measurements and interpretations must consider the relative ductility at particular temperatures. As will be seen in later comparisons of data, for KC1, for instance, plasticity effects are readily observed in various materials and these are reflected in the values of surface energy that result.

At this point, we should also consider the concept of surface energy as it applies to the thermodynamics of wetting and adhesion, inasmuch as experimental tools related to these phenomena have been proposed. One of the more complete, yet straightforward, descriptions of these interface characteristics has been forwarded by Sharp and Schonhorn⁽¹¹⁾, who use the following approach.

In an equilibrium closed system of a liquid, L_2 , in contact with a plane surface of an isotropic solid, S_1 , (completely insoluble in L_2) and with the saturated vapor V_2^0 of the liquid, the Young-Dupre equation may be written as

$$\Gamma_{\mathbf{S}_{1}}\mathbf{v}_{2}^{\circ} - \Gamma_{\mathbf{S}_{1}}\mathbf{L}_{2} = \Gamma_{\mathbf{L}_{2}}\mathbf{v}_{2}^{\circ}\cos\theta.$$
 (5)

where the Γ 's are surface tensions between the phases denoted by the subscripts and θ is the liquid-solid contact angle. For an equilibrium situation, the surface tensions are replaced by free energies, which yields:

 $\gamma_{\mathbf{S}_{1}\mathbf{V}_{2}^{\mathbf{o}}} - \gamma_{\mathbf{S}_{1}\mathbf{L}_{2}} = \gamma_{\mathbf{L}_{2}\mathbf{V}_{2}^{\mathbf{o}}} \cos \theta, \qquad (6)$

where the γ 's are the surface free energies.

I

Ī

Ŧ

- -

From purely qualitative considerations, if the new solid surface is completely devoid of adsorbed species, it follows that the maximum reversible work of adhesion takes the form

$$W_{adh} = \gamma_{S_1^o} + \gamma_{L_2 V_2^o} - \gamma_{S_1 L_2}, \qquad (7)$$

where the first two terms refer to the new surface created by a complete separation of the interface and the last term represents the work "lost" when the interface is destroyed. Eliminating γ_{S1L2} from Equations (6) and (7) permits writing the combined expression

$$W_{adh} = (\gamma_{S_{1}}^{o} - \gamma_{S_{1}} V_{2}^{o}) + \gamma_{L_{2}} V_{2}^{o} (1 + \cos 9).$$
(8)

We note here that a smaller work of adhesion, W_{adh}^{\prime} , results if the solid retains an adsorbed layer of the vapor V_2 , whence

$$\mathbf{W}_{adh}^{\prime} = \gamma_{L_2} \mathbf{V}_2^{o} (1 + \cos \theta), \qquad (9)$$

If, now, one assumes a reversible work of cohesion of the liquid that is merely the work required to create two new liquid surfaces (without molecular surface rearrangement), we have

$$W_{\rm coh} = {}^{2\gamma}L_2 V_2^{\rm o} \qquad (10)$$

It now follows that for $\theta = 0$ (that is, complete spreading of a drop on a solid surface), then $W_{adh} - W_{coh} = \gamma_{S_1}^0 - \gamma_{S_1} V_2^0$ and the work of adhesion is greater than the work of cohesion of the liquid.

Sharpe and Schonhorn extended the argument to the case in which the liquid of the above example is allowed to solidify (without introducing interfacial stresses) and again concluded that the work of adhesion is always greater than the work of cohesion of the weaker of the two materials.

The line of reasoning developed here assumes that the conclusions are valid when solidification occurs <u>after</u> joining the materials. These authors also argue, without specific substantiation, that the same results will obtain if there is solidification <u>before</u> joining. In that case many additional parameters must be considered in detail.

From this treatment, it can be deduced that where there is intimate contact between two dissimilar, distinct and immiscible solid materials, the joint so formed will always fail cohesively, rather than by a breaking of the interfacial bond. Bikerman's qualitative statistical model⁽¹²⁾, as well as detailed studies on van der Waals forces in gases tend to support this thermodynamic conclusion. However, the application of this conclusion to real systems requires that many other factors be included, such as miscibility, compound formation, surface texture, interfacial strains, and others.

It has been shown that if the liquid, L_2 , spreads on a solid, S_1 , then the work of adhesion is greater than the work of cohesion. Conversely, Sharpe and Schonhorn⁽¹¹⁾ point out that if the work of adhesion of L_2 to S_1 is greater than the work of cohesion of L_2 , then L_2 must spread on S_1 . From above we can write

$$\mathbf{W}_{adh} - \mathbf{W}_{coh} = \gamma_{S_1} - \gamma_{L_2} \mathbf{v}_2^{\circ} - \gamma_{S_1 L_2} = S, \qquad (11)$$

where S shall be considered as the (initial) spreading coefficient.

In the study of the spreading of organic liquids on various substrates, Zisman⁽¹⁾ observed that, for a homologous series of liquids, a linear relation could be established between the contact angle and the liquid surface tension, such that

$$\cos\theta = \mathbf{a} - \mathbf{b} \gamma_{\mathbf{L},\mathbf{V}} \mathbf{o}, \tag{12}$$

I

I

. .

provided that $\gamma_{LV} \circ \gamma_c$, a critical surface tension, the significance of which will be pointed out below. The contact angle vanishes for $\gamma_{LV} \circ = \gamma_c$, and we can then write

$$\cos \theta = 1 + \mathbf{b} (\gamma_{c} - \gamma_{LV} \mathbf{o}). \tag{13}$$

If the term $\Gamma_{S_1}^{o} - \Gamma_{S_1} V_2^{o}$ in Equation (8) is disregarded, and $\cos \theta$ is eliminated between Equations (8) and (13), a quadratic relation results:

$$W_{adh} = (2 + b\gamma_c)\gamma_L v^{o} - b\gamma_L^2 v^{o}, \qquad (14)$$

which, following Zisman, shows a maximum in Wadh when

$$\gamma_{\rm LV_o} = \frac{1}{b} + \frac{\gamma_c}{2} \quad . \tag{15}$$

Zisman concluded that experiments on determination of γ_c , the critical surface tension for wetting, can be used to determine maximum adherence, even if the solid surface energy is not known. The applications of Zisman's techniques and arguments will be pointed out in the following section.

Before leaving the thermodynamic arguments and definitions, one final point or critique should be emphasized. Throughout the above discussions, the thermodynamic relations among the various surface energies and the considerations of different surface phenomena, including wetting, spreading, contact angles, adhesion, etc., are assumed to be quite general and applicable to the study of interactions between all different typ of materials. That such may not be the case has been argued quite strongly by Weyl⁽¹³⁾ and Fowkes (14, 15), where they have suggested that the total surface energy should be divided into various components. Different types of interactions are well known to contribute to the total surface energy of a given material, depending upon the nature of that material. Van der Waals forces, Coulombic forces, metallic bonding, hydrogen bonding, dispersion forces, and the like can each contribute (to one degree or another) to the total surface energy, and similar forces contribute to interfacial interactions between contiguous dissimilar materials. The basic argument suggests that, in a system where two materials interact, consideration should only be given to forces common to both materials. That is to say, for example, that dispersion-force contributions might well be included in a discussion of the interface between a metal and a polymer, but that the metallic component of the metal bonding should be disregarded, inasmuch as there is no counterpart in the other partner. Hence, one should re-evaluate the conclusions regarding so-called general rules of wetting and spreading.

As a consequence, some basic questions might arise in the ensuing discussions of experimental techniques for the determination of the solid surface energy, inasmuch as some of them use, as a tool, the interaction between two dissimilar materials. It is possible, of course, to circumvent some of these difficulties or, in fact, to turn them into advantages by the proper choice of a number of different materials.

IV-1. Summary of Experimental Techniques

In general, the available techniques for measuring solid surface energy are divided into two broad classes: mechanical and thermodynamic. But it must be pointed out, as will be shown in the following text, that the <u>values obtained by different methods</u> will not necessarily be the same. Moreover, the use of two different thermodynamic techniques can yield different results. This can be demonstrated by the following argument.

1.

-

It was shown earlier that the total surface energy of any material is a result of partial surface energies arising from different types of interactions. Furthermore, the available evidence indicates that when two materials interact by surface forces, only similar components of the surface energy contribute to the total interfacial energy of the system. These concepts can now be applied to two examples of experimental methods for determining the surface energy of solids; the extreme mechanical case of a crack propagated in a completely brittle material, and the thermodynamic case of a solid brought into contact with a sessile drop of a high-energy (nonspreading) liquid.

In crack propagation, the freshly created surfaces were in contact with each other in the same material. Since the total surface energy of each of these two surfaces must be equal, it follows that the surface energy calculated from the experimental data must represent the total surface energy of the solid.

On the other hand, if the surface energy of the solid is considered as the sum of individual contributions, say $\gamma_S = \gamma_S(1) + \gamma_S(2) + \gamma_S(3) + \gamma_S(4)$, and the surface energy of the liquid is comprised of only two components, say, $\gamma_L = \gamma_L(2) + \gamma_L(4)$, then the interfacial energy determined by the sessile drop technique will only be $\gamma_{SL} = \gamma_{SL}(2) + \gamma_{SL}(4)$. This argument shows that the sessile drop or other thermodynamic methods require not only a detailed study of the solid surfaces in question, but also a detailed study of the liquids used as the experimental tools.

Returning to the mechanical techniques for surface energy determination, crack propagation methods have been shown to be most suitable for brittle materials; but additional terms enter the analysis when ductility becomes significant at elevated temperatures. Part of this difficulty can be overcome by using high strain-rate methods, although kinetic energy of the separated parts (in a double cantilever experiment) should be included in the calculations. These comments generally apply to other mechanical methods.

While the thermodynamic techniques seem to offer the greatest potential for application to all types of solids over wide temperature ranges, there are limitations above and beyond those pointed out immediately above. The proper choice of liquid systems with which to work (as in sessile drop experiments) is generally difficult, particularly for high-temperature applications. Even small amounts of impurities (especially the so-called "surface-active" impurities) must either be avoided or taken into account to realize the near-equilibrium conditions required. Furthermore, if the substrate dissolves or the liquid diffuses into the solid to an appreciable degree, the thermodynamic analysis will be invalid, at least in the present state of development. Some of these restrictions are not quite so severe when solubility and/or heat of solution methods are used to assess the solid surface energy.

Table 1 summarizes the more common experimental techniques for determining solid surface energy, and points out the areas of applicability and the major difficulties encountered in using them. As the following discussions will show, each method suggested for the determination of surface energy has several restrictions that must either be eliminated or accounted for in the evaluation of experimental parameters. Where extraneous factors affect the measured quantities, the necessary correction factors can be so large they practically swamp the factors sought, and problems inherent in subtracting large numbers to obtain small differences arise.

One of the better reviews of the early techniques for determining surface energies was given by Partington⁽¹⁶⁾, where some discussion was directed toward historical data and the evolution of the significance of the surface energy. Although the data included by Partington are not nearly as well defined as those available from later work, his review provides a reasonable perspective for viewing later results.

More recently, Bikerman⁽¹⁷⁾ investigated the measurement of solid surface energies and drew the conclusion that nothing provides reliable values of this devious quantity, provided that it does indeed exist. It is of interest here to note two of Bikerman's quotations. First, it will be shown in the following sections that cleavage techniques appear to result, when properly interpreted, in values of the surface energy of brit'le solids that agree reasonably well with theoretical values. Of this, Bikerman notes that "...it appears that the fracture methods ... not only yield improbable results but are devoid of any theoretical foundation....." Second, after discussing other expectmental techniques, Bikerman closes with the comments "...this review does not answer the question whether surface energy analogous to that existing in liquids exists in solids but, in the literature, no experiment could be found which would necessitate an affirmative answer. Perhaps the reader of this review will be able to invent such an experiment...".

In many respects, one has to agree with the attitude taken by Bikerman regarding the state of the art of measurement and interpretation of surface energies of solids. The techniques described below all leave something to be desired. Moreover, it should become apparent that the actual experiments depend critically on the definition of surface energy and, therefore, the interpretation of each experiment can be open to question.

While Benson et al. made their major contributions in the theoretical calculation of surface energies (particularly of the alkali halides), their recent review article⁽¹⁸⁾ goes to some length in describing various experimental methods that may be used to determine surface energies.

Techniques have been proposed to measure surface energy other than those discussed in this review, including adherence tests, which are purported to be reliable. As a word of caution, this reviewer points out that extreme care must be used in the application of adherence tests to the determination of the surface energy, inasmuch as it is presumed that complete characterisation of the physical and topographical nature of the pertinent surfaces and interfaces is available. It is the opinion of this writer that ao simple tests of adhesion have been developed to the point where fundamentally reliable information can be extracted from the experimental operation.

Method	Advantages	Limitations
fechanical		
(1) Crack propagation	Measures total surface energy, can determine effect of adsorbate pressure and/or coverage; best applied at low temperature	Analysis applies strictly only to completely brittle materials; inapplicable at elevated temperatures; interpretative dif- ficulties arise with plastic flow, crack branching ⁽¹²⁶⁾ , polycrystalline material
(2) Strain energy release	Essentially same as (1). Somewhat more applicable to polycrystalline bodies, giving averages.	Same as (1); difficulty in separating transgranular from inter- granular components
(3) Crushing	Same as (1)	Must include kinetic energy terms in analysis, complicated contributions from size dependence; "frictionless" apparatus required
(4) Drilling	Same as (1)	Same as (3)
(5) Bent wafer	Accurate determination of surface tension <u>difference</u> ; simple calcu- lation of adsorbate effects.	No absolute values, only applicable to materials with particular features
(6) Fiber stress	High-temperature determinations of ductile materials; believed to measure total surface energy; can be used for adsorbate effects; generally applicable to amorphous structures	Analysis questionable; spurious contributions from grain - boundary sliding in crystalline materials
hermodynamic		
(7) Contact angle	Can be used at elevated temperatures and on ductile materials; nondestructive	Analysis results in only partial surface energy; complicated choice of several homologous liquids required; "homologous series" poorly defined; solubility and compound formation possible
(8) Heat of immersion	Same as (7)	Same as (7); contributions from many different surfaces; edge al corner effects; difficult temperature measurements, especially at elevated temperatures
9) Heat of solution	Avoids final interface contribution if dissolution is complete	Same as (7); size effect enters calculations; totally destructive
0) Dissolution	Can determine magnitude of size effect	Same as (7); difficulties in recovering undissolved fraction for particle size analysis

é v - • . • • . . ۰. - -

••

1

IV-2. Mechanical Methods

IV-2.1. Crack Propagation

As discussed in the reference to the Griffith criterion, brittle fracture provides one of the more popular experimental techniques for determining the surface energy of solids. While many authors refer to the early work on mica by Obreimov⁽¹⁹⁾, the more recent developments by $\operatorname{Gilman}^{(20)}$ set the stage for increased activity in solid surface energy experiments. The method of Gilman will be reviewed, including extensions derived by Westwood et al⁽²¹⁾.

The system studied consists of a specimen of cross-section dimensions, w and 2t, with a crack of length, L, as shown in Figure 1. A force, F, is applied to the two halves of the crystal, which can then be treated as two cantilever beams, and the force required to propagate the crack is measured. Gilman neglected elastic anisotropy in the analysis, with the exception of the choice of elastic moduli values.



With the physical model described in Figure 1, the cantilever beams have a moment of inertia I = $wt^3/12$. Applying the force, F, at x = 0 results in a bending moment M(x) = Fx in each beam and a strain energy, U, in each beam,

$$U = \frac{1}{2EI} \int_{0}^{L} M^{2} (x) dx = \frac{F^{2}L^{3}}{6EI} . \qquad (16)$$

Furthermore, the deflection, δ , of the beam (along the line y = 0, the so-called "neutral" plane in each beam) will be

$$\delta = \frac{Fx^3}{6EI} - \frac{FL^2x}{2EI} + \frac{FL^3}{3EI} + \frac{Ft^2(L-x)}{8GI} , \qquad (17)$$

where the first three terms are due to bending and the last is a contribution from shearing. E and G are the Young's and the shear moduli, respectively. Gilman argued that the contribution from shearing will usually be small enough that the last term of Equation 17 can be neglected and the deflection curve is taken as

$$\delta = \frac{F}{6EI} (x^3 - 3L^2 x + 2L^3) \quad . \tag{18}$$

We must now consider the various contributions to the energy of crack propagation. As a crack propagates under the action of the force, F, the cantilever beams are put into motion, thus creating a kinetic energy term. The mass of an incremental volume in one of the cantilevers is ρ wtdx, where ρ is the density, and the beam moves with velocity d δ /dt; thus the kinetic energy is dT = $\frac{1}{2}\rho$ wtdx(d δ /dt)². The total kinetic energy of the cantilever is

$$T = \frac{\rho wt}{2} \int_{0}^{L} \left(\frac{d\delta}{dt}\right)^{2} dx \quad .$$
 (19)

Now $d\delta/dt = (d\delta/dL) (dL/dt) = (d\delta/dL)v_c$, where v_c is the crack velocity. Substitution and integration yield

$$T = 12 (v_c/v_s)^2 (L/t)^2 U , \qquad (20)$$

where $v_s = (E/\rho)^{1/2}$ = velocity of sound. For specimens where L/t is about 10, the kinetic energy is small compared with the strain energy unless the crack velocity exceeds about $v_s/100$.

If, now, we turn to the energy balances that obtain during the slow reversible extension of a crack, the work done (dW) when a crack increases its length (dL) must be equal to the increase in strain energy (dU) plus the energy of the newly created surfaces (dS), i.e., $dW = dU + d\gamma$. Since $dW = Fd\delta_0 = (F^2L^2/EI)dL$ and $dU = (F^2L^2/2EI)dL = dW/2$, if dS = γ wdL, it follows that

$$\gamma = 6F^2 L^2 / Ew^2 t^3 , \qquad (21)$$

which is the equation derived by Gilman for the measurement of surface energies. This is expected to be a minimum value, measured under reversible conditions, and should provide a direct determination of the intrinsic surface energy. When cracking is accompanied by irreversible phenomena (including plasticity near the crack tip), the measured value should reflect these additional factors and would be larger.

Gillis⁽²²⁾, and Westwood and Hitch⁽²¹⁾ discussed the Gilman approach in some detail, noting that difficulties in interpretation arise for certain values of L/t. In partially ductile materials, large values of L/t give rise to plastic deformation terms that increase the apparent surface energy. Furthermore, for small L/t shearing forces are more pronounced at the crack tip, and erroneous surface energies again result.

Again assuming the geometry of Figure 1, but now following Westwood and Hitch's methods, the deflection at the crack opening is taken to be

$$\delta_{0} = (FL_{0}^{3}/3EI) + (\alpha FL_{0}t^{2}/4GI) , \qquad (22)$$

where the second term (omitted in the preceding discussion) represents the contribution from shearing forces. The factor, α , is a constant determined by the boundary conditions in the vicinity of the crack tip, and, as before, G is the shear modulus. Following the same arguments concerning the energy balance at the instant of crack propagation, it follows that

$$\gamma w = \frac{F}{2} \frac{d\delta_0}{dL} \quad . \tag{23}$$

Taking the derivative of Equation (22) and combining that with Equation (23) yields

$$\gamma = \frac{6 \mathbf{F}^2 \mathbf{L}^2}{\mathbf{E} \mathbf{w}^2 \mathbf{t}^3} \left[1 + \frac{\alpha \mathbf{E}}{4\mathbf{G}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{t}}{\mathbf{L}} \right)^2 \right] , \qquad (24)$$

or

....

•* --• .

$$\gamma = \frac{6F^2L^2}{Ew^2t^3} (1 + C_{\rm s}) , \qquad (25)$$

where the correction term, C_g , includes contributions from end effects and shearing forces. For $a \approx 0.1$ and L > 3t, C_g is <<0.01 and, as in Gilman's report, may be neglected. However, for very short cracks (L < t), C_g becomes quite important in the analysis. Westwood and Hitch's work on KCl shows that the proper interpretation of the data requires that C_g be considered.

If, now, one refers to γ_A as an "apparent" surface energy $(6F^2L^2/Ew^2t^3)$, then Equation 24 can be rewritten as

$$\gamma_{\rm A}^{-1} = \gamma^{-1} + \left(\frac{\alpha E}{4\gamma G}\right) (t/L)^2$$
 (26)

Plotting γ_A^{-1} vs. $(t/L)^2$ should then permit a direct measurement of γ^{-1} and, from the slope of the line, the value of α . The value of γ so calculated is that which would be expected from elementary beam theory.

In other work, Westwood and Goldheim⁽²³⁾ showed that with long beams, erroneous values of γ can be resolved (at least qualitatively) in terms of the plastic relaxation at the crack tip, even for the reasonably ductile materials they investigated.

A somewhat more detailed calculation of crack velocities and crack accelerations has been given by Berry(24), in which the surface energy may be determined from the relations:

$$V_{L} = \frac{v_{\bullet}\tau}{2L\sqrt{3}} \left(1 - \frac{L_{cr}}{L}\right) \left(1 + \frac{2L_{cr}}{L}\right)^{1/2}$$
(27)

$$a_{L} = \frac{v_{s}^{2}\tau^{2}}{12L^{3}} \left(1 - \frac{L_{cr}}{L}\right) \left(\frac{5L^{2}_{cr}}{L^{2}} - \frac{L_{cr}}{L} - 1\right)$$
(28)

where

 $v_{T_{i}} = crack velocity$

 $\mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{T}} = \mathbf{crack} \ \mathbf{acceleration}$

 v_{B} = velocity of sound in the medium

L = length of crack at time, τ

$$L_{cr} = critical crack length = \left(\frac{E\gamma w^2 t^3}{6F^2}\right)^{1/2}$$

The other symbols were defined earlier. In an application of these relations, Wiederhorn(25) has shown that rather precise values of the surface energy may be obtained under a variety of experimental conditions.

In the preceeding discussion, qualitative consideration has been given to the effect of adsorbed impurities on the measured value of surface energy. That adsorption should play such a significant role is clearly pointed out for the case of mica $(K_20.3Al_2O_3.6SiO_2.2H_2O)$, which was the material originally studied by Obriemov⁽¹⁹⁾. While investigations of cleavage in vacuum have resulted in surface energies in the range of 2400 to 5000 dyne per cm^(26, 27, 28), similar experiments in selected atmospheres^(26, 29, 30) show considerably reduced values of surface energy (180 to 375 dyne per cm). All of these measurements were performed at 25 C and clearly show the effects of adsorption on surface energy.

In addition, it should be noted that the values measured in selected atmospheres vary among themselves, where these differences may be associated with the type of species adsorbed. As was discussed earlier, the interaction between dissimilar species will depend upon <u>partial</u> surface energies, and the interaction of mica with water vapor (yielding a measured surface energy of 180 dyne per cm) is significantly different from that with hexane vapor ($\gamma_{e} = 271$ dyne per cm.).

IV-2.2. Calculation from Elastic Constants

Later discussion will be devoted to the theory of surface energies and various methods of calculation, but some of the criteria for crack propagation should be considered here, with the analysis given by Gilman⁽³¹⁾. Gilman's argument rests on various criteria for predicting cleavage planes in different (metallic and non-metallic) systems. Some have agreed that the cleavage planes are those with closest packing, or that bound unit cells, or that cut the fewest chemical bonds; the approach taken here is that cleavage will occur on planes having minimum surface energy.

In the preceding analysis of cleavage cracks the force necessary for crack propagation depended primarily on two materials constants: the elastic modulus and the surface energy. Attempting to relate these two factors, Gilman assumes that the stress between two surfaces can be approximated by a sine function

$$\sigma(w) = \sigma_0 \sin \frac{\pi w}{A} , \ 0 \le w \le A , \qquad (29)$$

where A is a "range" or relaxation distance of the attractive forces. Assuming small displacements (sin $\pi w/A \approx \pi w/A$) and Hooke's law, we have

$$\sigma(\mathbf{w}) = \mathbf{E}\left(\frac{\mathbf{w}}{\mathbf{w}_{o}}\right) = \sigma_{o} \frac{\pi \mathbf{w}}{\mathbf{A}} , \qquad (30)$$

where w_0 is the lattice constant perpendicular to the plane.

Thus,

$$\sigma_{o} = \frac{EA}{\pi w_{o}} , \qquad (31)$$

and

1

I

1

T

• •

- #

$$\sigma(w) = \frac{EA}{\pi w_0} \sin \frac{\pi w}{A} ,$$

If we now integrate this stress function over the entire range of application (0 to A), the resultant surface energy becomes

$$\gamma = 1/2 \int_{0}^{A} \sigma(w) dw$$
$$= \frac{EA}{2\pi w_{o}} \int_{0}^{A} \sin \frac{\pi w}{A} dw \qquad (32)$$

 $= \frac{\mathbf{E}}{\mathbf{w}_{o}} \left(\frac{\mathbf{A}}{\pi}\right)^{-2} \quad .$

Thus, the cleavage planes should be those with minimum elastic stiffness normal to these planes, maximum separation distance, and minimum relaxation distance for the attractive forces between them.

In the subsequent tabulation of surface energies, several values will be found quoted as being "calculated from elastic constants". It is the evaluation of Equation (32) that results in these entries.

IV-2.3. Strain Energy Release

While cleavage methods as outlined above are reasonably straightforward for studies on single crystals, the method is difficult to apply to polycrystalline, noncrystalline, or porous structures.

Davidge and Tappin⁽³²⁾ developed methods to determine the surface energies of a group of different brittle "irregular" materials that require a measure of the total

energy released when a pre-notched specimen is completely broken. In essence, the methods are three separate but related types of measurement with three interpretations. The specimen geometry for the three methods is shown in Figure 2, where a three-point bending apparatus with appropriate recording instrumentation is employed. A typical load/deflection curve is shown in Figure 3.

Í.

į.

;

•-

-

...



The strain energy release rate, dU/dA, where A is the new surface area generated, may be either calculated or determined experimentally. The former involves the stress distribution computed around the specimen notch while the latter derives dU/dA directly from load/deflection curves.

<u>Analytical Approach</u>. For small values of c/t (see Figure 2), the effective surface energy, γ_G , determined by this method is given by

$$\gamma_{\rm G} = -\frac{{\rm d}U}{{\rm d}A} = \frac{(1-\nu^2) \ \pi\sigma_{\rm F}^2 c}{2E}$$
 (33)

where

 $\nu =$ **Poisson's ratio**

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{r}} = \mathbf{Fracture\ stress} = 3\mathbf{F}l/2\mathbf{b}t^2$$

E = Young's modulus.

Aside from specific numerical constants, Equation (33) is essentially the original Griffith criterion.

For crack depths where c/t > 0.1, various mathematical treatments are available⁽³³⁾, with their form being such that the surface energy may be expressed as

$$\gamma_{\rm G} = \frac{(9 \ (1-\nu^2) \ {\rm F}^2 \ell^2 f(c/t)}{8 {\rm Eb}^2 (t-c)^3} , \qquad (34)$$

where f(c/t) is a dimensionless parameter and is plotted in Figure 4. For this correction factor to be interpreted properly, the reader should refer to the original publications, in which the details are explicitly defined.



١

FIGURE 4. VARIATION OF CRACK DEPTH-TO-THICKNESS RATIO CORRECTION FACTOR, f(c/t), WITH CHANGING RATIO⁽³³⁾

<u>Compliance Method</u>. The effective surface energy determined by this method, γ_C , should be the same as γ_G from above. The load/deflection curve may be represented as $F = k\delta$, where k is the specimen stiffness. The stored energy at the moment of fracture is then $U = F^* \delta^*/2$ or $k \delta^{*2}/2$. We now see that, for fracture at a fixed deflection, we have

$$\gamma_{\rm C} = -\frac{\partial U}{\partial A} \Big|_{\dot{\Lambda}} = -\frac{\partial U}{\partial k} \Big|_{\dot{\Lambda}} \frac{\partial k}{\partial A} \Big|_{\dot{\Lambda}} = -\frac{\delta^{*2}}{2} \frac{\partial k}{\partial A} \Big|_{\dot{\Lambda}} \qquad (35)$$

The specimen stiffness, k, must be measured as a function of the initial crack area, A = 2bc. For each notch depth, $(\partial k/\partial A)_{\delta}$ may be obtained from the slope of the crack area-stiffness curve (Figure 5) at the appropriate value of A. Using these values with the experimental values of δ^* will give a series of $\gamma_{\rm C}$ values.

<u>Work of Fracture</u>. For the case of catastrophic failure (which will be better defined below), it is desirable to use deeply notched specimens, so that the total stored energy in a weakened structure will be small compared with the surface energy. In this case, controlled fracture proceeds as in Figure 5. The work of fracture is given quite simply as

$$\gamma_{\mathbf{F}} = \frac{\mathbf{U}}{2\mathbf{b}(\mathbf{t}-\mathbf{c})} \tag{36}$$



FIGURE 5. GENERAL FORM OF THE CURVE OF STIFFNESS, k, VERSUS CRACK AREA, $A^{(32)}$. .

-.

.

••

Solid surface energy can be found from $(\partial k/\partial A)_{\delta}$

In their studies on alumina and an unspecified glass, Davidge and Tappin⁽³²⁾ have shown that the analytical and compliance approaches provide self-consistent measures of the surface energy, and are in reasonably good agreement on the value of $\gamma_{\rm T}$. On the other hand, the surface energy determined from the work of fracture is not as well-defined, there being a dependence on the ratio c/t.

The needs for techniques which are applicable to "rough" materials have been given general consideration by Nakayama⁽³⁴⁾, who compared various energy conditions and predicted the nature of failure. Again taking the case of three-point bending of a specimen of dimension l, w, t, the energies stored at the time of fracture are calculated to be

(a)
$$U_{g} = \frac{\ell w t S^{2}}{18E}$$

(b) $U_{g} = \frac{4 w^{2} t^{4} S^{2}}{K \ell^{2}}$
(37)
(c) $U_{g} = U_{g} + U_{g}$,

where

 U_a , U_a = elastic energy stored in specimen and app ratus, respectively

S = specimen tensile strength

K = apparent spring constant of apparatus

 $U_0 = total stored energy.$

For effective fracture energy of γ_{eff} , the energy required to cause separation in the test piece (with cross section over A) is $U_{\gamma} = 2A\gamma_{eff}$. Now the difference $\Delta U = U_0 - U_{\gamma}$ is an approximate criterion of the mode of fracture. For $\Delta U > 0$, the failure is obviously catastrophic since the stress energy must be consumed by other forms, such as kinetic energy of the fragments. For $\Delta U < 0$, the stored energy is insufficient to cause complete fracture, and this is referred to as stable fracture.

Nakayama showed different modes of failure, illustrated by the three curves of Figure 6, and discussed the conditions under which these obtain. For completely catastrophic brittle failure, the load/deflection curves (or, better, the load/time curves under constant deflection rate) are of the form shown in Curve A of Figure 6. While the total energy supplied to the system can be calculated, no reliable estimate of γ_{eff} is possible, because of the kinetic energy of the fragments.



FIGURE 6. SCHEMATIC LOAD-TIME CURVES REPRESENTING (A) CATA-STROPHIC, (B) SEMISTABLE, AND (C) STABLE FRACTURES⁽³⁴⁾

On the other hand, the introduction of an artificial crack reduces the tensile strength, S, and thus U_0 , and a stable or semi-stable crack can be propagated, as in Curves B and C of Figure 6. Then, the total external work, U_c .

$$U_{c} = v \int_{0}^{\tau_{c}} f d\tau , \qquad (38)$$

can be computed, where v is the speed of the overall deflection, τ_c the time for fracture completion, and f is the bending force. This method has produced results that are in essential agreement with the results of other techniques.

IV-2.4. Crushing

While Berdennikov⁽³⁵⁾ and Kuznetsov⁽³⁶⁾ have considered crushing as a way to determine surface energy, a more nearly complete treatment of the problem has been forwarded by Johnson et al. ^(37, 38, 39) in which experiments on the crushing of quartz, rock salt, and a number of minerals and ores was carried out. The results reported in this latter study seem questionable, but the method itself merits some brief discussion, particularly regarding the difficulties that arise.

In an ideal crushing experiment, a steady force or a sudden impact is applied to the sample, the heat evolved is measured in a completely adibatic system, and the total surface area of sample is determined after each step of comminution. Alternatively, rather than measure the heat evolved, it is possible, in principal, to determine the amount of energy dissipated in, say, a falling weight, that effects the crushing and to translate this energy directly into the surface energy of the resulting fragments.

Either method is grossly oversimplified, since the total energy dissipated in several ways, none of which is simple to calculate or account for. For examples, there are frictional losses in most apparatus used for the transfer of energy to the specimen; in all but the most completely brittle materials, there are energy losses associated with plastic and elastic deformation of the material, as well as in the apparatus, and in unconfined systems, there is a contribution from the kinetic energy of the fragments.

The degree to which these uncertainties affect the results can be surmised from a single comparison of Johnson's data with that reported by other investigators. While the analysis of data was fairly crude, it can be seen that the surface energy experimentally determined from crushing techniques is approximately 1000 times larger than the (albeit inaccurate) theoretical figures quoted by Johnson. Clearly, considerable development is necessary before this technique can be regarded as a promising candidate for surface energy determinations.

IV-2.5. Bent-Wafer Techniques

COLOR ON DESCRIPTION OF TAXABLE PARTY

ķ

Certain crystalline materials lack inversion symmetry in particular crystallographic directions. The most notable of these are the materials with the zincblende structure, particularly the III-V compound semiconductors such as InSb, GaAs An examination of the structure of these materials reveals that if these materials were split along a (111) plane, one resulting face would be all atoms of Group III and the other would be all atoms of Group V. Hence, a specimen of these materials that is cut so that it is bounded by (111) planer on opposite faces would show asymmetrical properties. Some of the earliest experimental evidence of the nonequivalence of the two faces was the work of Maringer⁽⁴⁰⁾ on the etching of (111) faces of InSb and on the resulting dislocation etch pits observed. More detailed observations on the etching behaviour was documented by Gatos et al. ^(41, 42, 43) and by Faust et al. ⁽⁴⁴⁾ in several series of investigations on various materials with the zincblende structure.

A consequence of the dissimilarity in parallel faces is the spontaneous bending of thin wafers of these compounds. The different chemistry of the parallel surfaces gives rise to a different surface tension on each face, and the thin specimens will bend until a balance is achieved between the internal elastic energy and the applied bending moment; this configuration will be characteristic of the material and its dimensions. Cahn and Hanneman⁽⁴⁵⁾ undertook a detailed study of the surface energy of the III-V compounds and, with experimental data of Finn and Gatos⁽⁴⁶⁾, compared computed values of surface energy with the spontaneous bending observed and the resultant surface tension differences. It is expected that similar effects should be found for all materials which crystallize in the zincblende structure, including the III-V compounds of indium, aluminum, and gallium with arsenic, antimony, and phosphorus; as well as compounds from other groups in the periodic table, for example, compounds of beryllium, zinc, cadmium, and mercury with selenium, tellurium, and sulfur in Group VII.

It is interesting that the bent-wafer phenomenon can also be applied to the study of changes in the surface tension differences caused by adsorption of gases, effects of bulk impurities (particularly in very thin sections), and the influence of electronic effects associated with illumination and other excitation mechanisms.

One additional point of clarification should be added regarding the actual quantities contributing to the spontaneous bending of crystals having this structure. In principle, the bending is caused by a difference in surface tension rather than surface energy, and care must be exercised in the design of experiments which study this phenomenon. It has been demonstrated that, while the absolute surface energy of a material is always greater than zero, the surface tension can be negative. A better understanding of the relationships between these two related quantities is required before experimental data can be properly interpreted.

IV-2.6. Fiber Stress

I

I

Most mechanical methods apply only to brittle or semi-brittle material. The fiber-stress technique applies specifically to ductile materials. In this technique for measuring the surface energy of solids, a fiber to be examined is held in a vertical position and a balance of forces is me^t in which the downward force (due to the weight of the fiber) is just balanced by the upward force (applied on the periphery) arising from the surface tension (Figure 7). Early experiments using this method was discussed by Udin et al. (47), with later contributions from Parikh⁽²⁾.



According to Parikh's analysis, one considers the fiber stress along the axis of a cylinder to be given by

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{x}} = \frac{2\pi \mathbf{r} \gamma - \mathbf{w}}{\pi \mathbf{r}^2} \tag{39}$$

where

 $2\pi r\gamma$ = upward surface tension force

w = $\pi r^2 \rho lg$ = gravitational force, downward.

The radial stresses are taken to be $\sigma_y = \sigma_z = 2\gamma/d = \gamma/r$. For the case of zero strain, $\sigma_x = \sigma_y = \sigma_z$, and

26

$$\frac{\gamma}{r} = \frac{2\pi r \gamma - w}{\pi r^2}$$
(40)

11. 5

T

ļ

or

$$w = \pi r \gamma$$

1

But

$$w = \sigma_0 \pi r^2 \tag{41}$$

where σ_0 is the stress at zero strain, so that we have

$$\sigma_{\rm o} = \gamma/r. \tag{42}$$

Fibers of constant radius and different lengths can be suspended in a selected atmosphere at a given temperature and the length of fibers determined that neither contracts under the action of surface tension nor elongates under its own weight. If the radius and density of the material is known, the surface energy can be calculated directly.

Two limiting situations exist. For long fibers that tend to elongate under their own weight, the cross section should decrease continuously, increasing stress and finally causing ductile fracture. On the other hand, the short fibers should react more strongly to the surface forces that tend to reduce the area of the sample, and a sphere should result. In most practical cases, the movement is much too slow to be observed in a reasonable length of time.

As expected, Bikerman⁽¹⁷⁾ takes a somewhat different view of this method, and criticizes its use, noting that "... there is no reason to suspect that surface properties of the solid have any influence on the phenomenon studied. " Bikerman has presented several alternative derivations of the equations necessary to use fiber extension as a total determination of surface energy of thin wires and foils. However, he also details nine different objections to the method, each one of which is supposed to prove that the technique not only does not work but should never be expected to work. He omitted an important point from this critique, however, namely, the effects of creep and viscous flow (also omitted by Parikh). Whatever the relation between the weight of the fiber and the surface forces, no stable equilibrium is expected; in time, the fibers should either break under their own weight or reduce to a sphere. But while no stable equilibrium can be expected, a kinetic equilibrium might be defined in which the elongation caused by the weight of the fiber and the contraction associated with the surface energy are only two of the factors which will be active in the process. In addition to these, one must include terms associated with the diffusion of vacancies and other imperfections, dislocation migration, stress-concentration factors, inter- and inter-granular motion (except in amorphous or single crystal structures), and additional continuously operating variables that will influence the mass motion of the fiber. A concentrated effort on the kinetics of this motion should produce, at a given temperature, a more nearly exact and more rigorously defined value of the surface energy of the specimen.

It should be pointed out, in addition, that while the statement of the problem can be reasonably concise, it is <u>not</u> suggested that the solution of the problem is simple and straightforward. Further, and more important, the effective surface energy will not be constant during the experiment, but will depend, in part, on the composition of surface and the bulk. It is expected, indeed, that the presence of significant vacancy concentrations or other physical defects will affect the surface energy, so that secondorder effects will contribute to the dynamic problem. Moreover, the presence of adsorbed species (where experiments performed in such a manner as to investigate the effect of such species on the surface energy) will complicate the problem further, inasmuch as the density of adsorption sites can be a function of the other variables of the system.

In summary, the reaction of a fiber to its environment can be used, in principles, as an experimental tool for determining solid surface energy, but the results must be analyzed and interpreted very carefully.

IV-2.7. Unit-Cell Measurements

The determination of unit-cell size by X-ray measurements on fine particles has been discussed by Nicolson⁽⁴⁸⁾ as a tool for the study of surface energies. Simply stated, it is assumed that the effective unit-cell dimensions are generally affected by impressed force fields (as observed in high-pressure experiments). For the case considered here, an increase in surface/volume ratios obtained from specimens with successively smaller size should manifest itself by an increased effective surface pressure per unit volume and the concomitant change in unit cell dimension would constitute a direct measure of the surface energy of the material.

It is apparent that the analysis of such an experiment implies that atomic arrangements are independent of position of atoms within a given particle; i.e., the surface "lattice" is essentially identical to the bulk lattice. That such is the case has been disproved in numerous LEED* studies, particularly of nonmetallic materials. Furthermore, considerable care must be exercised in making assumptions regarding the uniformity of the pressure across any crystal face in a fine particle, since it is shown in numerous examples that the surface energy is strongly orientation dependent. Finally, where surface <u>tension</u> effects determine the state of strain in fine particles, additional complications arise due to the fact that this term can be <u>negative</u> for selected crystalline faces.

At this point, it is not possible to ascertain the degree of reliability of data obtained through the use of this method, since there has not been, to this reviewer's knowledge, a detailed treatment of the theory of the measurement and its interpretation.

IV-2.8. Other Mechanical Techniques

Kuznetsov⁽³⁶⁾ reviewed a number of other techniques forwarded for the determination of the surface energy of various solids, particularly the alkali halides. Among these, the major emphasis has been on his own work using mutual grinding, abrading and drilling methods, as well as on the use of hardness as a correlative function. Much of this work is devoted to a semi-quantitative analysis of the weight and/or volume losses of materials that result from the techniques used and, with a few generalities

*Low Energy Electron Diffraction.
about crystal structure, lattice constants and other parameters, provides a highly simplified point of view. From a purely qualitative point of view, many of Kuznetsov's findings suggest areas for fruitful development, but, the analysis of the data (as presented) leaves much to be desired.

In general, Kuznetsov makes very simple assumptions regarding the products of the grinding, abrading or drilling methods, with the generalized comment that all contributions to stored and released energy can be associated with the production of new surfaces of crystallites, which are relatively uniform in size and shape. In some respects, his arguments resemble Nakayama's⁽³⁴⁾, described earlier, but lack enough detail to ascertain the limits of predictability. While Nakayama admits contributions from elastic and plastic deformation and attempts to correct for them, Kuznetsov appears to neglect such "spurious" contributions.

For completeness, many of Kuznetsov's results will be included in the tabulation of surface energy values in Section VI. However, the reader should realize that many of these are subject to more detailed analysis and might be unreliable (particularly where no other comparative data are available).

IV-3. Thermodynamic Methods

IV-3.1. Critical Angle for Wetting

As mentioned in discussing the thermodynamics of interface phenomena, Zisman⁽¹⁾ and his co-workers developed the concept of the critical angle for wetting and have used this to determine wetting conditions and associated phenomena. We shall consider here, in a little more detail, the nature of the approach and its application to inorganic materials as more recently pursued by Eberhart⁽⁵⁷⁾. Using the relation defined in Equation 13, Zisman used a series of homologous liquid organics to determine the so-called critical surface tension, γ_c , of solid substrates. It is argued that the value of γ_c is a characteristic of the solid surface alone. Zisman considers γ_c to be an empirical parameter that varies with the solid surface composition in much the same way as one would expect for the surface energy γ_S^o , although no specific claim is made as to the identity of the two quantities.

More recently, Eberhart⁽⁴⁹⁾ discussed the application of this measurement to solids with high surface energies (it will be recalled that Zisman confined his considerations to materials with relatively low surface energies), comparing experimental determinations of γ_c with other values of γ_S . In reviewing the findings of others, Eberhart noted that the critical surface tension is of the same approximate magnitude as the solid-vapor interfacial tension, $\gamma_S^0 - \pi_e$ where π_e is the spreading pressure of an adsorbed species. If this is the case, it is then only necessary to determine the spreading pressure in order to calculate the intrinsic surface energy directly from such contact-angle measurements.

One immediately encounters certain difficulties in interpretation and translation, however. The first of these comes from the definition of "homologous series of liquids" in the sense envisaged by Zisman. To use the technique with any degree of certainty, the properties of the liquids in a service must be roughly similar or at least must vary in a well-understood manner. It would seem logical to choose binary or higher order liquid mixtures with well-behaved surface tensions in the region of miscibility. That is, the liquids should have a regular (not necessarily linear) variation in surface tension with composition. Further, no component of the liquid should interact to any measurable extent with the substrate material; obviously, compound formation at the interfaces and interdiffusion should be avoided or minimized. These restrictions are somewhat severe, particularly for measurements at elevated temperatures, and one cannot expect that the technique will apply readily to a large range of solid materials until further definitive research has been carried out. Even so, it appears at this writing that the method has distinct advantages and deserves additional attention.

Examples of the type of binary liquid melts that may be used as homologous series for the determination of solid surface energies, are shown in Figures 8 and 9. Where no interactions occur between the melts and the substrates, these curves show that a wide range of liquid surface tensions can be employed for high-temperature measurements on selected solids. Similarly, Figures 10 and 11 depict the variability in surface tensions available in ternary systems at high temperatures, where these can be most useful in examining the surface energies of refractory compounds.

Recently, Rhee⁽⁵⁰⁾ used the "homologous series" technique to measure surface energies of a number of refractory carbides and nitrides using molten metal as the contact liquid, but introduced a simple modification that might be extended to a number of different systems. Rather than choosing a series of liquid metals or metal alloys, Rhee elected to use a single metal and vary the temperature over a range where there is no significant difference in the reactions between liquid and solid surfaces. By plotting the contact angle as a function of temperature, a value is chosen for the critical angle for wetting (similar to Zisman's and Eberhart's method) as a function of temperature.

To lend support to Rhee's results, it is necessary to investigate, at least in a cursory fashion, the theoretical basis for his choice. The most important of Rhee's basic assumptions relates to the temperature dependence of the various surface energies and surface tensions that affect the contact angle. The somewhat arbitrary choice of a linear temperature dependence to all pertinent energies is made and the validity of the final values rests on this assumption. From the discussion given later regarding the Bruce technique⁽⁵³⁾ for estimating surface energies, it is reasonable to assume that the solid surface energy will be a linear function of temperature. This assumption does not apply so well to liquids, inasmuch as a 6/5-power dependence can be shown to obtain^(54, 55). However, it is more important to question whether the interfacial energy can be assumed to be reasonably linear.

In an attempt to analyse the behaviour of the interfacial energy of two materials, each of known surface energy, Berghausen et al. (56) have shown that

$$\gamma_{12} = f(\gamma_1, \gamma_2) = \gamma_1 + \gamma_2 - 2 \Phi \sqrt{\gamma_1 \gamma_2}$$
 (43)

where the γ 's refer to the two separate materials and the interface, and the function Φ depends upon various intrinsic materials parameters. It can be seen here that if both γ_1 and γ_2 are approximately linear functions of the temperature (ignoring the 6/5-power dependence), then γ_{12} will also be a nearly linear function of the temperature, at least



FIGURE 8. SURFACE TENSION VERSUS SILICA CONTENTS FOR BINARY SILICATE MELTS⁽⁵¹⁾



FIGURE 9. SURFACE TENSION VERSUS SiO₂ CONTENTS FOR FeO-SiO₂ AND CaO-SiO₂ MELTS⁽⁵¹⁾



--

• •

FIGURE 10. SURFACE TENSION IN THE SYSTEM FeO-MnO-SiO₂ AT 1400 C⁽⁵²⁾

The surface tension isopleths are in dynes per cm.



FIGURE 11. SURFACE TENSION IN THE SYSTEM FeO-CaO-SiO₂ AT 1400 $C^{(52)}$

Sector Contract

The surface tension isopleths are in dynes per cm.

31

over a small temperature range. It must be emphasized, of course, that Rhee's method applies strictly only over a small temperature range; for large ranges, reaction kinetics would probably invalidate the basic assumptions of the method.

A major advantage of this and similar techniques lies in the measurement of solid surface energies at temperatures where mechanical methods no longer apply. In particular, the fracture techniques required that the specimens fail by completely brittle fracture; difficulties in interpretation arose when plastic flow occurred in the vicinity of the crack tip. The present technique precludes such difficulties, and, in fact, the method is also essentially nondestructive. The only limitations encountered are those associated with an interpretation of the spreading pressure and the problems which would arise from high-temperature interactions. Well-defined data on the surface tensions of a number of liquid metals and alloys are available for a wide temperature range, it appears that this technique, if properly interpreted, provides the most direct and widely usable method for the determination of surface energies and their temperature dependence. Further detailed consideration should be given to the theoretical and experimental application of this method.

However, at this point, we should again refer to the arguments of Fowkes (14, 15)and Weyl(13) regarding the interpretation of interface phenomena and the contributions to total surface tension or energy as represented by the various possible interactions. Certainly, if these arguments are valid, the critical surface tension experiments outlined above would measure only a fraction of the total surface energy of the substrate material. To avoid this problem and obtain representative values of total surface energy, it would be necessary to use liquids that would cover the entire range of the various interactions. Again, it is difficult to determine all the various contributions at a given temperature. The greater the sim¹¹ arity between the substrate and the testing liquid, the greater is their tendency to interact. On the other hand, the more the liquid and solid are dissimilar, the less likely it is that the total surface energy can be measured. Obviously, considerable care is necessary in the selection of "tools" and the interpretation of results. More will be said about this later, when the results of Eberhart's studies are included in the discussion.

One additional note is of interest here, although it might seldom apply. It may be expected that, at sufficiently high temperatures, the weight of a sessile drop could deform the solid surface elastically. This will change the measured value of the contact angle slightly [see Lester⁽⁵⁷⁾]. Generally, this effect is probably not significant unless a temperature is reached where the solid actually becomes quite viscous, as in a glass. The correction factor for most cases (particularly since contact-angle techniques do not measure total surface energy) is probably negligible.

IV-3.2. Heat of Immersion

A series of papers (58, 59) from the University of Cincinnati (1957-58) considered, in great detail, the calculation of many factors related to the interaction between dissimilar phases, with particular emphasis on adhesion, wetting, immersion, adsorption, and similar phenomena. The basic theory was summarized by Berghausen et al⁽⁵⁶⁾ and only the general content of these papers will be discussed here.

J

The general theme of these papers was the application of interaction integrals defined by Fowler and Guggenheim⁽⁶⁰⁾, in which the atomic structure of the subject materials was taken into account and the cohesive and adhesive energies were calculated by integration of the interaction energies over all space. While the form of the integral representations sets the stage for detailed calculations, a major drawback is that the forms of the energies are confined to only the simplest cases of van der Waals interactions and the treatment cannot be translated straightforwardly to other types of interactions between molecular species.

I

. .

- -

- •

.

. .

• •

. .

In addition, Berghausen et al made some extremely simplified assumptions for the sake of tractability, and thereby sacrificed much of the potential value of their results and methods. Be that as it may, Good et $al^{(58)}$ discussed the use of this theory in the determination of the surface energies of solids by measurement of the heat of immersion. Immersion primarily involves the replacement of a solid surface by a solid-liquid interface. The heat evolved in this process can be measured quite accurately with appropriate calorimeters and, with a knowledge of the surface area involved, the <u>change</u> in energy can be determined. With the use of appropriately defined functions of the van der Waals constants for the materials being studied, it was shown that the measured heat of immersion can be related to the surface tension of the liquid (which is directly measurable) and the surface energy of the solid alone, thereby eliminating the effect of the solid-liquid interface.

In principle, this technique offers considerable promise for determining surface energies of solids, rivaling the wetting methods. In fact, it can be shown (through rather laborious calculations) that there is a distinct relationship between these two "surface-thermodynamic" experimental procedures (60, 61). It is anticipated that the immersion method might even be superior, in that lower-energy liquids can be used and a more flexible choice of liquids (especially organics) may be available.

There is one particular drawback, however, similar to the limitation imposed in the earlier discussion of wetting techniques, and this relates to the definition of the function used to describe interaction phenomena. In general, Berghausen et al⁽⁵⁶⁾ derived this function in terms of the van der Waals constants, which depend on such factors as polarizabilities, magnetic susceptibilities, interatomic or intermolecular spacing, crystal structures, and the like. Furthermore, it is assumed throughout the theory that the two species involved are completely immiscible. In the practical application of the theory the conditions imposed and the real situation conflict, for it can be shown that the assumptions necessary to evaluate the function are precisely the same conditions that lead to a basic breakdown of the theory. Specifically, in most cases where the function has been evaluated, polarizabilities, lattice constants, force constants, etc., must be assumed to be roughly equal for the two "dissimilar" materials, whereupon they are no longer as dissimilar as the derivation of the theory demanded. It is in just such cases that compound formation, interdiffusion, and (at least partial) miscibility are the rule rather than the exception, and the entire applicability of the theory is subject to question.

Moreover, as in wettability studies, there is also the question regarding the partial surface energies measured and the necessity of delving into several different materials systems as tools for the determination of the individual components of the total solid surface energy. The heat of immersion technique also has a few drawbacks that critical wetting methods don't have. In the first place, fine particle dispersions must be used to take greatest advantage of the method. With greater area/weight ratios, the heats of immersion are measured more accurately and it would be expected that surface energy would be determined somewhat more accurately. However, it is also obvious that with large number of small particles, there are also increased edge and corner effects; thus the measured heat of immersion represent a more heterogeneous system than does a critical wetting experiment, and the interpretation of total heat of immersion must take this into account. While the "effective area" of the edge and corner effects can be separated by adsorption studies, the heat of immersion is totally integrated, and the weighting of the different components could present formidable analytical problems. Finally, difficulties are expected with the exposure of various crystalline faces, while the wetting angle experiments can conceivably be performed on selected single-crystal faces.

This discussion of the limitations of the theory is not meant to completely discourage consideration of the Berghausen technique and calculations, but merely to point out the immense difficulties to be expected in using heats of immersion as a tool in the quantitative measure of surface thermodynamic properties.

IV-3.3. Dissolution and Heat of Solution

Early experiments showed that both the vapor pressure and the dissolution rate of particles are functions of particle size, with the general result being that in a saturated solution, large particles tend to grow at the expense of smaller ones. From measurements of particle size and solubility, it is possible to calculate the surface tension (surface tension is one of the driving forces for dissolution and, indeed, is the major driving force with all other factors, such as composition, being equal). It has been shown⁽¹²⁾ that the surface energy of a material can be determined from the relative rates of solubility for two particle sizes by the Ostwald-Freundlich equation:

$$\gamma = \left(\frac{r_1}{r_1} - \frac{r_2}{r_2}\right) \frac{RT\rho}{2M} \ln \frac{S_2}{S_1}$$
(44)

]

where

r₁, r₂ = particle radii

 $S_1, S_2 =$ solubility rates

R = gas constant

- T = temperature (K)
- $\rho = \text{density}$
- M = molecular weight.

It should be emphasized here that this relation pertains only to solubility ratios. A related technique is based on the heat of solution as a function of surface area. There is a major distinction between the two types of experiments and great care must be exercised in removing possible confusions. In most heat of solution experiments, the material under study is immersed in the solvent and is then permitted to dissolve completely. During the various steps in the heat of solution determination (where it is assumed that the sample materials are uniform, pure, and homogeneous) the initial introduction into the solvent results in the destruction of the solid-vacuum (or solid-air) interface and the creation of a solid-solvent interface. To this point, the experiment is similar to a normal heat of immersion procedure. However, as dissolution proceeds, the solid-solvent interface eventually disappears completely and the net result - as regards the history of the solid - is the complete destruction of both the original solidvacuum interface and the intermediate solid-solvent interfaces. With the solvent, the total history involves the change in the solvent surface tension resulting from the change in composition. By comparing results of heat of solution determinations that differ only in the surface area of the initial solid, one may then determine the solid surface energy from the original solid surface areas, the temperature changes in the solvent, and the accompanying change in solvent surface tension.

The situation is slightly different in most experimental arrangements employed for dissolution experiments. Here it is often more convenient to use a saturated solution of the solid under investigation, to which are added additional solids of known particle-size distribution. The changes in particle-size distribution (the larger particles grow at the expense of the smaller) is then used to determine the solid surface energy. It should be noted, of course, that neither experiment takes specifically into account the variation in surface energy expected with particle size; such size dependence is averaged out.* Similarly, no account can be made for the presence of surface inhomogeneities, asperities, and the like.

IV-4. The Interpretation of Experimental Data

In the preceding discussion, various experimental techniques have been described that are suggested as means to measure the surface energy of ceramic materials. Whether these do, in fact, result in a true measure of the intrinsic surface energy of a material will generally depend upon a number of factors, some of which are environment-controlled and others that are specimen-controlled.

IV-4.1. Adsorbate Effects

Specifically, it has been shown, in the discussion of the effects of atmosphere on the measured surface energy of mica, that the presence of various adsorbates will result in different, though equally reliable, values of surface energy. Where experiments can be performed in selected atmospheres, it is desirable that one choose, as an added independent variable, varying pressures of adsorbates. It is then expected that a plot of measured surface energy as a function of adsorbate pressure should produce an extrapolated value that is independent of the interaction between the solid

 $\Delta H = 4200 - 4.2 A$

for $0 < A < 60 \text{ m}^2$ per g. See also Section IV-4.3.

[•]Balk and Benson⁽⁶³⁾ have shown that the determination of surface enthalpy of KCl by dissolution techniques yields values that are not strongly dependent on original particle size, at least for particles greater than 500 A in diameter. Their experiments showed that the heat of solution (Δ H, cal per mole) and the specific area (A, m² per g), could be related by the simple equation

surface and the particular gaseous species. Furthermore, such controlled experiments can provide a measure of the different contributions to the total surface energy of the subject material.

.

- •

•

- . .

12

j

IV-4.2. Liquid-Solid Interfacial Effects

As a further example of the effect of various liquids on the measured value of surface energy, we considered heat of immersion studies of a number of different materials. The surface energies determined by such methods are assembled in Table 2.

			Liquid E	Employed		
Solid	Chemical Formula	Water	Ethanol	n-Heptane	Benzene	
a-alumina	Al ₂ O ₃	693		151		
Amorphous alumina	Al ₂ O ₃	454		85		
Kaolinite	A1203 · 2SiO2 · 2H2O	292-352	155	52-89		
Pyrophylite	Al203 · 4SiO2 · H2O	348	154	97-105		
Barite	BaSO ₄	490			140	
Graphite	С	48		122.5	225	
Calcium Montmorillonite		226-284	133-150	71-77		
Sodium Montmorillonite		219-296	137	59-76		
Silica (amorphous)	SiO2	210			218	
Aerosil	SiO ₂	165		118		
β -quartz	SiO2	847				
Zirconia	ZrO2	600			190	

TABLE 2.PARTIAL SURFACE ENERGIES OF VARIOUS SOLIDSIMMERSED IN DIFFERENT LIQUIDS(61, 64)

As is obvious from the Table, the partial surface energy determined by immersion techniques is markedly dependent upon the particular liquid chosen. The observed trends can be understood qualitatively by reference to the chemical structure of the liquids employed, as shown in Figure 12. It will be recalled from earlier discussions that the interaction between like species was expected to consist of similar terms in the expression for the total surface energy or surface tension. Furthermore, it is shown in the evaluation of the Guggenheim integrals(56, 58, 60) that the interaction between two different materials will increase as they become more nearly alike.

r



As a further example of the manner in which the heat of immersion is influenced by the choice of liquid, refer to the data shown in Table 3, where the heats of immersion of rutile (TiO₂) are listed for various liquids. The data, taken from Zettlemoyer⁽⁶¹⁾ have been obtained at 25 C with fine particles (5.8 m² per g, or a particle size of approximately 0.24 μ). The effect of the liquid molecular structure is pronounced.

Liquid	Formula	Heat of Immersion, dynes per cm
n-Nitropropane	CH3CH2CH2NO2	664
n-Butyl aldehyde	сн ₃ сн ₂ сн ₂ сно	556
Water	н ₂ 0	550
Butyric acid	сн ₃ сн ₂ сн ₂ соон	506
n-Butyl chloride	CH ₃ (CH ₂) ₂ CH ₂ Cl	502
n-Amyl alcohol	CH ₃ (CH ₂) ₃ CH ₂ OH	413
n-Butyl alcohol	CH ₃ (CH ₂) ₂ CH ₂ OH	410
Ethyl alcohol	CH3CH2OH	397
n-Butyl iodide	CH ₃ (CH ₂) ₂ CH ₂ I	395
n-Butylamine	CH ₃ (CH ₂) ₂ CH ₂ NH ₂	330
Heptane	CH ₃ (CH ₂) ₅ CH ₃	144
Octane	CH ₃ (CH ₂) ₆ CH ₃	140
Hexane	CH ₃ (CH ₂) ₄ CH ₃	135

TABLE 3. HEATS OF IMMERSION OF RUTILE IN VARIOUS LIQUIDS⁽⁶¹⁾

These concepts will help to provide a degree of understanding to the general list of values of surface energy given in Section VI. In those materials that contain water molecules in their structure (for example, kaolinite, pyrophylite and the montmorillonites), the interaction with water is considerably greater than that with ethanol or n-heptane; that is, the use of water appears to measure a greater contribution to the total surface energy. Similarly, the presence of (OH) groups in ethanol suggests, at least pictorially chemical similarities and, hence, would measure a greater partial contribution to the total surface energy.

The strong interaction between graphite and benzene (Table 2) is quite obviously a consequence of the similarity in structure.

In spite of the apparent simplicity of this argument and the qualitative assertions which can be drawn, particular care must be exercised in attempting to infer too much from this approach. As the liquids and solids become more similar, there is a greater tendency for solution, diffusion, compound formation, and the like, and the initial prerequisites for determining surface energy are sacrificed. Materials which dissolve in water or show strong tendencies toward hydration would normally be expected to interact with water to a greater degree and the measured heat of immersion may then have little relation to the actual surface energy.

IV-4.3 Particle-Size Effects

Throughout much of the discussion, it has been sufficient to consider the surface energy of semi-infinite materials, recognizing only that difference from bulk structure which might occur at or near the surface. One should note, however, that the energy of the surface of a fine particle (which may have a large surface/bulk ratio) is not necessarily the same as the semi-infinite surface. DeBruyn(65) discussed the effects of the radius of curvature on the surface tension of liquids, and Hirschfelder et al. (66) calculated in detail the variation of liquid surface tension with droplet size. It has been shown that the surface tension may be expressed as

$$\ln \frac{\gamma}{\gamma_{o}} = -\int_{r}^{\infty} \frac{\frac{2z_{o}}{r^{2}} \left[1 + \frac{z_{o}}{r} + \frac{1}{3} \left(\frac{z_{o}}{r}\right)^{2}\right]}{1 + \frac{2z_{o}}{r} \left[1 + \frac{z_{o}}{r} + \frac{1}{3} \left(\frac{z_{o}}{r}\right)^{2}\right]} dr$$
(45)

where

 γ_0 = surface tension for a semi-infinite specimen

z_o = depth of "surface layer".

ard r = radius of curvature.

It is implied that z_0 is independent of r in this calculation, which is not necessarily accurate. Care should be taken in the strict application of Equation (45) at large values of z_0/r . For small z_0/r , Equation (45) may be approximated as

$$\frac{\gamma}{\gamma_{\rm o}} \approx 1 - \frac{2z_{\rm o}}{r} , \qquad (46)$$

which is sufficiently accurate for qualitative interpretations. Figure 13 shows the effect of particle drop size on the surface tension of liquids as calculated from Equation (45).



FIGURE 13. CALCULATED EFFECT OF PARTICLE SIZE ON THE SURFACE TENSION OF A LIQUID

The relation between liquid drop size and surface tension may be carried to consideration of similar effects in solid particles. Such dependence is inferred in the experiments on solubility of fine particles and also applies to variations in the surface energies of semi-infinite solids with small, but finite, asperities on the surface. The small radii of curvature of such asperities provide a locus of different surface energy on a material prepared by lapping or cutting. Furthermore, the size effect is one of the major driving forces in scratch-smoothing experiments, which are designed to measure either the surface energy or surface diffusion coefficients, as well as sintering rates. Hence, one should be concerned about the effect of particle size in the interpretation of surface energy experiments. It should also be seen that surface texture is expected to be significant in contact angle observations, a point reviewed by Marian⁽⁶⁷⁾.

IV-4.4. Grain-Size Effects

The next point to be considered is the influence of grain size on the measured value assumed to be the surface energy. The data on grain-size dependence are rather sparse, with the major effort having been directed toward Al_2O_3 and MgO, as shown in Figure 14. For the most part, the data suggest that <u>measured</u> surface energy increases with increasing grain size, although single crystal values are on the order of 1000 to 2000 dynes per cm for both alumina and magnesia. The above emphasis on

"measured" values clearly illustrates the importance of proper interpretation of experimental results. The total energy required to effect fracture is divided among several simultaneous events including transgranular and intergranular fracture, grain-boundary sliding, dislocation maneuverability, crack branching, and similar perturbing influences. It is thus expected that polycrystalline material would show higher apparent surface energies than single crystal specimens.



Ł

FIGURE 14. MEASURED SURFACE ENERGIES AS A FUNCTION OF GRAIN SIZE FOR $Al_2O_3^{(68)}$ and $MgO^{(69)}$

The explanation of the trends as a function of grain size is not quite so straightforward. It is suggested that grain-boundary sliding effects would require less total energy dissipation in those cases where grain boundary densities are high (small grain side). Furthermore, more random crystallite distribution would be expected to provide easier paths for stress relief; hence, less energy is required to propagate a crack. In view of the complex analysis which is required to resolve the many questions associated with surface energy determinations on polycrystalline masses, it is suggested that the most meaningful data which is amenable to detailed studies will be obtained on single crystal specimens.

V. THEORETICAL CALCULATIONS

For the most part, earlier attempts to calculate surface energy of solids were channeled along three approaches. First, several authors went into great detail in the calculation and summation of the interaction forces between atoms and molecules in various crystal structures and developed elegant, though complicated, methods to evaluate the lattice sums and integrals involved. Second, there are semiempirical calculations based upon gross observables, with the inclusion of factors related to general thermodynamic principles and suitable averages to account for crystalline orientation effects. And third, there are estimates of surface energy based upon extrapolation and correlation of various data on other physical properties, such as characteristic temperatures, mechanical properties, diffusion coefficients, and the like. To re-derive the fundamental relationships that have been proposed in detail would lead us somewhat past the scope of the report and would require considerable space in background and supporting data. It is deemed sufficient, at this point, to bring out some of the highlights of different treatments and refer the reader to original sources for whatever minutiae of detail is desired.

For each area, one of the more important contributions to the field will be considered in order to orient the reader and set the stage for later discussions. It is not this reviewer's intention to imply that these papers are the most nearly complete, definitive, or all-inclusive of the many available (some of which are referenced in the text). Furthermore, it should be understood that heavy reference to any one of these three does not necessarily "endorse" the methods or conclusions of the individual authors; the discussion which follows merely illustrates the usage of the different methods and can provide some clue as to the degree to which such approaches are profitable.

V-1. The Atomistic Approach

By far the most exhaustive work on the calculation, from first principles, of the surface energy of solids was carried out by Benson and coworkers in a series of articles culminating with the definitive review recently published⁽¹⁸⁾. For the most part, Benson's work considered only the solid noble gases and NaCl-type crystals, although many of the principles evoked concern other systems as well, including the treatments of defect structures and the effects of impurities, anisotropies, inhomogeneities, physical defects, nonstoichiometry, and the like. (This is not to infer that the extension to include these other variables is straightforward and/or easy; the calculations are exceedingly complex, but the work of Benson sheds considerable light on the use of the method.) Benson includes, in the review paper, not only a compilation of his own work, but also a detailed discussion of the contributions made by other researchers, including the early work of Born and the later computations of Lennard-Jones and Dent⁽⁷⁰⁾, Shuttleworth⁽⁶⁾, Huggins and Mayer⁽⁷¹⁾, and Nicolson⁽⁴⁹⁾. Comparisons of the calculated results of a number of contributors have been presented in concise form by Zadumkin and Khulamkhanov⁽⁷²⁾, with additional discussion by Walton⁽⁷³⁾.

To compute the surface energy of a crystal, it is necessary to define the interaction potential between a pair of particles, i and j, separated by a distance, r_{ij} . Usually the total interaction must be considered as a sum of contributions from various types of forces, with the final expression containing characteristic constants that can be evaluated from other parameters such as compressibility, lattice spacing, etc.

The simplest interaction potential, ϕ_{ij} , used for the rare-gas crystals takes the Lennard-Jones form:

$$\phi_{ij} = \phi(r_{ij}) = c_{12}r_{ij}^{-12} - c_6r_{ij}^{-6} , \qquad (47)$$

- .

• *

.

4 ... 4

* 2

where the c's are adjustable coefficients. Early calculations on the NaCl-type crystals, recognizing the highly ionic character of the bond, used the coulombic and an unspecified inverse nth-power to express the potential, yielding:

$$\phi_{ij} = e_i e_j r_{ij}^{-1} + b r_{ij}^{-n} , \qquad (48)$$

where the e's represent electrostatic charge and b is an adjustable constant. Refinements were made to account for possible differences in interaction between (+, +), (-, -), and (+, -) charges on the ions.

A less approximate potential form,

ł

$$\phi_{ij}^{o} = e_{i}e_{j}r_{ij}^{-1} - c_{ij}^{(6)}r_{ij}^{-6} - c_{ij}^{(8)}r_{ij}^{-8} + b_{ij}\exp(-r_{ij}/\rho) , \qquad (49)$$

has been used which includes not only the coulomb and exponential repulsion forces, but also the interactions due to dipole-dipole and dipole-quadrupole effects $^{(6, 71)}$.

In addition, ions at or near the surface of a crystal are subject to a finite electric field that arises from the loss of bulk crystal symmetry at the surface. The total potential energy for surface ions with dipole moments u_i and μ_j will then be a modified form of Equation (49), namely:

$$\phi_{ij} = \phi_{ij}^{0} - e_{i}(\vec{r}_{ij} \cdot \vec{\mu}_{j})r_{ij}^{-3} + e_{j}(\vec{r}_{ij} \cdot \vec{\mu}_{i})r_{ij}^{-3} - 3(\vec{r}_{ij} \cdot \vec{\mu}_{i})(\vec{r}_{ij} \cdot \vec{\mu}_{j})r_{ij}^{-5} + (\vec{\mu}_{i} \cdot \vec{\mu}_{j})r_{ij}^{-3} \quad .$$
(50)

Benson also notes that the total interaction energy is found by summing ϕ_{ij} over all pairs and adding an "elastic energy", $\mu_i^2/2\alpha_i$, where α_i is the ionic polarizability.

The results of Benson, et al., are found to depend largely upon the values chosen for various parameters of the bulk materials. In principle, it is possible to compute the surface energy of a particular material from the above expressions for the potential and the appropriate lattice sums. In addition, independent expressions containing the same coefficients may be derived for other characteristic physical properties of the materials under study. It is thereby possible to use readily measured or derived quantities (such as polarizability, modulus, sound velocity, etc.) to provide numerical values for the coefficients, and then to determine surface energy, which is not so easily measured.

A point stressed by Benson that is borne out by recent interpretations of LEED $data^{(74)}$, is that the surface structure of a perfect crystal in vacuum is different from that envisaged on a parallel plane in the bulk of the crystal. The discussion of this point considers the atomic processes which accompany perfect cleavage along a given plane.

If it is assumed that at the instant of fracture two new surfaces are formed, each having the same arrangement as in the bulk, then an amount of energy γ^{s0} is required. However, a spontaneous relaxation occurs on the new surfaces, which contributes to a decrease in the surface energy. The resultant surface energy at absolute zero is then conveniently expressed as

$$\gamma_0^{\mathbf{s}} = \gamma^{\mathbf{s}\mathbf{0}} + \Delta \gamma^{\mathbf{s}} , \qquad (51)$$

where the two terms correspond to the two steps outlined. $\Delta \gamma^s$ is, of course, a relaxation term and is negative in value. The $\Delta \gamma^s$ term is computed much like γ^{s0} , taking into account the different displacements of positive and negative ions at or near the surface.

One important point regarding surface distortion should be noted here. Benson assumed that the lattice distorts only in a direction normal to the bulk crystal, that is, the lateral spacing of the surface layer is no different from that in the bulk and the surface crystal plane has the same configuration as the corresponding bulk plane. Along the normal to this plane, ions of different sign are in slightly distorted positions, and the degree of distortion decreases with increasing depth into the bulk. This is essentially the same picture discussed by $Weyl^{(75)}$ in studies of adherence to MgO, where it is assumed that O^{--} ions protrude further from the nominal (100) plane than do the Mg⁺⁺ ions, producing a permanent surface dipole.

On the other hand, Fowkes⁽⁷⁶⁾ allowed both normal and lateral displacements (this has been partially confirmed by LEED studies). However, Fowkes' treatment is almost entirely confined to a thermodynamic and phenomenological approach, so that the exact details of surface structure are irrelevant; it is only necessary to state that the structure is different.

The magnitude and importance of the surface distortion effect can be seen from the values of γ_0^s , γ^{s0} , and $\Delta \gamma^s$, taken from Benson and Yun's review⁽¹⁸⁾ and listed for the (100) and (110) faces of the alkali halides in Table 4.

Benson's steps to include surface distortions are certainly in the right direction. The numerical calculations suggest that distortion must be considered to arrive at reasonable values of surface energy. While the treatment is incomplete, the essential features of the computations appear to suggest additional effort in this area. It is now necessary to extend the calculations to models which include lateral displacements (that is, a three-, rather than one-dimensional density change). It is anticipated that the proper interpretation of LEED data on clean surfaces will provide considerable impetus to these studies. It is important to note, moreover, that the positioning of stress or ions on the surface is not the only factor relating to the accuracy of the calculation. Benson and $Yun^{(18)}$ showed how the particular choice of interaction potential can effect final results markedly, and the need for a more thorough study of this aspect of the calculations is certainly indicated.

All of the above discussion centered about the problem of computing the surface energy at 0 K. For experimental results to compare better with theory, it has been necessary to extend these studies to finite temperatures. It is generally stated that the surface energy at any temperature may be expressed as a sum

$$\gamma(T) = \gamma_{\text{pot}} + \gamma_{\text{vib}} .$$
 (52)

where the potential energy term, γ_{pot} , depends only on the bulk characteristics and corresponds to the static lattice energy, while the second term, γ_{vib} , is an explicitly temperature-dependent contribution. There is, of course, an implicit dependence of γ_{pot} on T because of the changing lattice parameter, so that we should write

$$\gamma^{s}(T) = \gamma_{0}^{s} + \left(\frac{d\gamma_{0}^{s}}{da}\right) \Delta a + \gamma_{vib}^{s}(T) , \qquad (53)$$

where the lattice parameter is denoted by a and γ_0^s is defined previously [Equation (51)]. Naturally, the contributions from the zero-point energy should be included, although these were omitted earlier.

		(100) Face		(110) Face				
	γ s 0	Δγ s	γ_0^s	$\gamma s0$	Δγ s	γ_0^s		
CsBr			• •	234.4	-34.8	200		
CsCl				256.6	-37.7	219		
CsF	211.2	-63.6	148	436.9	-96.1	341		
CsI				207.1	-31.9	175		
KbR	159.2	-36.4	123	326.5	-64.8	262		
KC1	175.3	-34.0	141	367.3	-69.6	298		
KF	225.9	-41.9	184	528,0	-105.2	423		
KI	140.8	-27.7	113	279.1	-57.6	222		
LiBr	226.2	-140.5	86	515,1	-234.8	280		
LiCl	251.4	-744.7	107	599.2	-259,1	340		
LiF	288.7	-146.4	142	962.3	-394.6	568		
LiI	199.8	-126.4	73	424.6	-198.3	226		
NaBr	192.2	-54.0	138	413.4	-109.2	304		
NaC1	210.9	-52.7	158	469.7	-115.6	354		
NaF	265.9	-49.5	216	711.7	-156.4	555		
Naí	170,5	-52.5	118	348.8	-97.3	252		
RbBr	150.5	-28.5	122	300.9	-55.3	246		
RbC1	166.0	-28.4	138	337.3	-60.0	277		
RbF	213,1	-42.3	171	473.2	-92.9	380		
RbI	133.4	-29.8	104	259.0	-48.9	210		

TABLE 4.THEORETICAL SURFACE ENERGIES OF ALKALI HALIDE
CRYSTALS AT 0 K

The vibrational energy term can best be computed by considering appropriate integrations or summations over the allowed vibrational states, and the calculations proceed with appropriate Debye weighting factors. The Benson calculations for some of the alkali halides and MgO were carried to 298 K for better comparison with experiment. A few of these results are somewhat tenuous, even allowing for approximation, because either surface distortion or lattice expansion factors were omitted. This will be discussed again in Section VI.

Previous discussion has alluded to the difference between surface energy and surface tension. The most detailed calculations of these differences have been reviewed by Benson and $Yun^{(18)}$. The calculations will not be repeated here, but it is worthwhile

including, however, a comparison between the estimates given by various authors. As in the case of surface energy, there is a "bulk" contribution (Γ^0) to surface tension and a correction ($\Delta\Gamma$) due to surface relaxation. The resulting values of Γ^0 , $\Delta\Gamma$ and $\Gamma = \Gamma^0 - \Delta\Gamma$ are compared in Table 5, along with the surface energy γ_0^8 as computed by Benson and Yun⁽¹⁸⁾.

	(110) face,	Shut (1	tleworth 00) face	1 ⁽⁶⁾ ,	Nicolson ⁽⁴⁸⁾ , (100) face	Benso	n & Yun(18), (10	00) face
	ſ	Г	ΔΓ	<u>Г</u>	Г	L.	$\Delta \Gamma$	I'	γ ₀
CsF				~ -	308	497	-126	371	341
KBr	442	341	-842	-501	250	330	-101	229	262
KCl	521	404	-779	-375	310	389	-125	264	298
KF	884	719	-929	-210	549	718	-223	495	423
KI	354	269	-581	-312	172	262	-71	191	222
LiBr					827	786	-195	591	280
LiCl					1025	948	-324	624	340
LiF					2287	1978	-1484	494	568
LiI					558	609	-63	546	226
NaBr	646	534	-868	-334	454	499	-113	386	304
Na Cl	776	641	-771	-130	562	593	-155	438	354
NaF	1443	1214	-1034	180	1031	1149	-408	741	555
NaI	505	419	-724	-305	303	395	-54	341	252
RbBr					204	282	-90	192	246
RbCl					248	331	-109	222	277
RbF					427	600	-173	427	380
RbI					142	225	-49	176	210

TABLE 5. SURFACE TENSIONS (Γ) AND ENERGIES (γ) CALCULATED FOR ALKALI HALIDES AT 0 K

V-2. Semi-Quantitative Structural and Thermodynamic Considerations

The detailed calculations outlined above can provide reasonably good estimates of the surface energies of a multitude of compounds covering a wide range of variables. In fact, there appears to be no limit to the extent of applicability of the method; given sufficient information (from experiments) and time for such calculations, the surface energies of all materials should be calculable, including ceramics, metals, organic compounds, etc. The major factor determining the accuracy of the calculations seems to be in the choice of potential functions and the constants associated with them. As stressed before, it is reasonable to assume that many different materials parameters can be computed and their experimental values can be used to adjust the necessary constants, thus giving credence to the computed values of surface energy.

1

While, in principle, the above technique should suffice for all applications, the calculations are quite time-consuming and a more direct, though perhaps less accurate, method might be preferred, especially for "quick guesses". There are semi-empirical methods that provide reasonable values of surface energy but which involve much simpler calculation. The methods, essentially due to $\operatorname{Bruce}^{(53)}$, circumvent the detail of Benson but include, practically from the outset, a direct relationship between the surface energy and the other measurable parameters that are eventually required for the Benson approach.

The reasoning behind the Bruce approach is not particularly well defined, but many of the results are sufficiently accurate to merit considerations. At the outset, several basic definitions and boundary conditions must be stated.

The surface energy, γ_s , and surface enthalpy, ϵ_s , are usually related through

$$\epsilon_{\rm s} = \gamma_{\rm s} - T \, \frac{{\rm d}\gamma_{\rm s}}{{\rm d}T} \qquad (54)$$

Bruce points out that as $T \rightarrow 0$ K, $d\gamma/dT$ vanishes, so that $\epsilon_s^0 = \gamma_s^0$, the total surface energy at 0 K, which can be computed by the methods of Benson. Inasmuch as the surface energy (or surface tension) vanishes at the critical temperature, T_c (where the liquid-vapor separation is indistinguishable), it then follows that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\gamma_{s}}{\mathrm{d}T} \approx \frac{\epsilon_{s}^{0}}{T_{c}} = \frac{\gamma_{s}^{0}}{T_{c}} \qquad (55)$$

It has also been found that the surface tension of a liquid at a temperature between the melting point and the critical temperature may be expressed as

$$\gamma \frac{T}{L} = k(1 - T/T_c)^n$$
(56)

with k and n as constants. [Further applications of Equation (56) will be considered again later.] If the effect of melting upon the surface energy is known, it should be possible to compute surface energy and surface tension at all temperatures, from absolute zero to T_c over both liquid and solid phases.

Bruce takes the point of view that the surface free energy can be described in terms of the bonding of atoms and that when energy is supplied to effect such breakage between two atoms, one half goes to each atom. Therefore, the bond energy, β , is taken to be

$$\beta = H_g/2cN \qquad (57)$$

where H_g = molar heat of sublimation (ergs/mole), c is the number of bonds per molecule, and N is Avagadro's number. If b represents the number of bonds per cm² of the particular crystal face, then the total surface energy is

$$\gamma = \beta \mathbf{b} \qquad (58)$$

b can be determined from inspection of the surface lattice. We note that a perfect surface, similar in configuration to the bulk lattice, is assumed from these estimates. For the most part, this restriction is no more stringent than the assumptions regarding the initial calculation of γ_0^0 .

¢

Bruce now takes the point of view that Equations (54), (57), and (58) may be applied to the estimation of surface energy in the solid and that Equation (56) applies to the liquid. At the melting point, the latent heat of fusion (H_f) will contribute to a decrease in surface energy in the amount

$$-\Delta\gamma = \eta H_f / AN \qquad (59)$$

where A is the surface area of a molecule and the parameter, η , is the ratio of free bonds to normal coordinate bonds in this surface.

It is now possible, in principle, to estimate surface energies over a wide temperature range, given the appropriate heats of sublimation and fusion. More precisely, the following "recipes" apply to a given system:

(a)
$$\gamma_{g}^{0} = H_{g}b/2cN$$
 $T = 0 K$
(b) $\gamma_{g}^{T} = \gamma_{g}^{0} - \left(\frac{\gamma_{g}^{0}}{T_{c}}\right)T$ $T_{m} > T > 0$

(c)
$$\gamma_{\mathbf{s}}^{\mathrm{Tm}} - \gamma_{\mathrm{L}}^{\mathrm{Tm}} = -\Delta\gamma = \eta H_{\mathrm{f}}/\mathrm{AN}$$
 T = T_m

(d)
$$\gamma_{L}^{T} = k(1 - T/T_{c})^{n}$$
 $T_{c} > T > T_{m}$

where

b = number of bonds per cm^2 of the plane considered

c = number of bonds per molecule

A = surface area of a molecule

 η = ratio of free bonds to normal coordinate bonds

n = adjustable exponent, about 1.2.

The constant k can be evaluated by equating Steps (c) and (d) at $T = T_m$ and, using the definitions of Steps (a) and (b), may be written as:

$$k = \frac{H_{sb}}{2Nc} \frac{(1 - T_{m}/T_{c}) - (2\eta c/bA)H_{f}/H_{s}}{(1 - T_{m}/T_{c})^{n}}$$
(61)

Note that the factor b contains the lattice parameter at T = 0 K, while A contains a similar contribution from the lattice parameter at $T = T_m$.

Inasmuch as critical temperatures are unknown for many materials, Bruce pointed out that the ratio of critical temperature to boiling point, T_c/T_b , is approximately equal for different classes of oxides: for MO, $T_c/T_b \approx 1.52$; for MO₂, $T_c/T_b \approx 1.50$; and for M_2O_3 , $T_c/T_b \approx 1.40$. No other such correlations have been noted thus far.

Comparisons of Bruce's data with previous work suggest that while agreements do not support the technique without qualification, the order-of-magnitude results indicate that as a rough approximation, the methods can be applied to a broad range of materials.

(60

Bruce further considers the effect of crystallographic orientation on the surface energy of different crystal classes. Quoting Friedel et al. (77), the surface energy of a given (h, k, ℓ) plane is a function of h, k, and ℓ , the bond strength, β , and lattice parameter, a_0 , such that, for different crystal systems, we have:

$$\gamma(\mathbf{hk}\ell) = \frac{(\mathbf{h} + \mathbf{k} + \ell) \beta}{\mathbf{a}_0^2 (\mathbf{h}^2 + \mathbf{k}^2 + \ell^2)^{1/2}} \quad (\text{simple cubic}) \tag{62}$$

$$\gamma(hk\ell) = \frac{(2h+k)\beta}{a_0^2(h^2+k^2+\ell^2)^{1/2}} \qquad (face-centered cubic)$$
(63)

$$\gamma(\mathbf{hk}\ell) = \frac{2[2\mathbf{h}\beta_{1} + (\mathbf{h} + \mathbf{k} + \ell)\beta_{2}]}{\mathbf{a}_{0}^{2}(\mathbf{h}^{2} + \mathbf{k}^{2} + \ell^{2})^{1/2}} \quad \mathbf{h} \ge (\mathbf{k} + \ell)$$

$$\gamma(\mathbf{hk}\ell) = \frac{2(\mathbf{h} + \mathbf{k} + \ell)(\beta_{1} + \beta_{2})}{\mathbf{a}_{0}^{2}(\mathbf{h}^{2} + \mathbf{k}^{2} + \ell^{2})^{1/2}} \quad \mathbf{h} \le (\mathbf{k} + \ell)$$
(body-centered cubic)
(64)

The γ 's are surface energies near 0 K, and β_1 and β_2 refer to bond strengths between nearest and next-nearest neighbors, respectively. The equations apply when $h \ge k \ge \ell \ge 0$.

It can be readily seen that, for the simple cubic systems, (100) is the lowest surface energy, and we can then define the ratio

$$R(hk\ell) = \frac{\gamma(hk\ell)}{\gamma(100)} = \frac{h+k+\ell}{(h^2+k^2+\ell^2)^{1/2}} , \qquad (65)$$

which is independent of β and a_0 . It is interesting to note from these expressions that the surface energy varies around a stereographic projection (lattice projection Figure 15) in the manner shown in Figure 16, where contours of constant surface energy (at 0 K) are drawn. Thus the surface energies at (111), (110), and (100) planes are in the ratio $\sqrt{3}$: $\sqrt{2}$: 1, as expected from the simple bond considerations.

Similarly, stereographic projections can be prepared for other crystal structures, that for the face-centered cubic being shown in Figure 17. Note that surface energy is a minimum on the (111) plane, and the indices of Figure 17 refer to the ratio $\gamma(hkl)/\gamma(111)$.

The projections are not quite so simple for the body-centered cubic structure, the added complication arising from the different bond strengths needed to describe the surface energy. Letting $\beta_1/\beta_2 = \tau$, we can rewrite Equation (65) to the form

$$R(hkl) = \frac{(2\tau + 1)h + k + l}{2(h^2 + k^2 + l^2)^{1/2}(\tau + 1)} \quad \text{for } h \ge (k + l)$$

$$R(hkl) = \frac{h + k + l}{\sqrt{2(h^2 + k^2 + l^2)^{1/2}}} \quad \text{for } h \le (k + l) \quad .$$
(66)



FIGURE 15. THE POSITIVE QUADRANT OF A STEREOGRAPHIC PROJECTION OF A CUBIC CRYSTAL WITH SOME PLANES INDICATED BY THEIR MILLER INDICES⁽⁵³⁾



FIGURE 16. THE SURFACE ENERGY RATIOS FOR THE SIMPLE CUBIC SYSTEM PLOTTED ON A STEREOGRAPHIC PROJECTION⁽⁵³⁾

49

¥......

1



FIGURE 17. THE SURFACE-ENERGY RATIOS FOR THE FACE-CENTERED CUB:C SYSTEM PLOTTED ON A STEREOGRAPHIC PROJECTION⁽⁵³⁾



FIGURE 18. THE SURFACE-ENERGY RATIOS FOR A BODY-CENTERED CUBIC MATERIAL (a-Fe) PLOTTED ON A STEREO-GRAPHIC PROJECTION⁽⁵³⁾

50

The (110) plane represents the minimum surface energy and all R(hkl) are referred to this plane in the projection of Figure 18. For $h \ge k + l$, R(hkl) is independent of the ratio, -, and these areas appear in the three "corners" of the projection. However, the center portion where $h \le k + l$ shows the effects of the differing bond strengths and produces "saddle lines" in the projection.

It is also expected that the ratios R(hkl) will be time-dependent for T > 0 K, since a mass arrangement should result from surface diffusion and, in effect, faceting. Such faceting effects proceed in the direction that produces the greatest density of low-energy surfaces. It is the very existence of ratios $R(hkl) \ge 1$, that acts as the driving force for this diffusion. Similarly, differences in surface energy, coupled with the high energies associated with cusps and other surface irregularities, provides the driving force for sintering or agglommeration.

The nature of the effect of temperature on surface energy of cations can be estimated as follows. Although surface diffusion and faceting is expected at all temperatures, there is a "threshold" temperature below which such mass motion is essentially arrested and above which sintering and similar reactions proceed at a measurable rate. This point is referred to as the "Tamman" temperature, T_T , and, for many oxides, is reported to range from 0.5 to 0.6 T_m . This value can vary over relatively wide temperature ranges. The T_T has no theoretical basis, being purely an empirical reference point, but it is sufficiently accurate to form the basis of reasonable speculations.

The rate of change of R(hkl) should be exponential with time for any given temperature, tending to unity in infinite time, so that

$$\mathbf{k}_{T} = \mathbf{1} + \mathbf{b} \mathbf{e}^{-2\mathbf{t}} \tag{67}$$

where b and f are merely constants for a particular material. Inasmuch as the rate should be infinitely slow for $T \leq T_T$ (for simplicity, we assume that R_T is constant for $T \leq T_T$, so that no significant surface diffusion and faceting procurs below the threshold temperature) and is infinitely fast at the melting point (where the amsotropies in surface energy varied), we may then approximate

$$\frac{dR_T}{dt} = -k \left(\frac{T - T_T}{T_m - T} \right) \qquad (2.2)$$

Since $R_T = R_0$ at t = 0, we may differentiate Equation (66) and substitute from Equation (68) to eliminate the factor b, whence.

$$R_{T} = 1 + (R_{0}^{-1})exp \left[\frac{-k(T-T_{T})t}{(R_{0}^{-1})(T_{m}^{-1})}\right]$$

Assuming a standard diffusion character to the mass motion we may let $k \in Dk + r^2 = D_0 e^{-E/RT} k^{1/2} r^2$, where D_0 is the diffusion coefficient; $k_r^{1/2}$ is a statistical weighting factor E, the activation energy for diffusion; and r, the particle size. Taking reasonable figures for the various factors in Equation (66), Bruce computed the change in the ratio of surface energy to time for various particle sizes.

The results of this computation illustrates the nature of the changing driving forces for surface reactions and some of the rate-controlling constants that effect reactions.

Before leaving this section, two points deserve further mention because of their potential applicability in studies of surface energies and solid surface compatibility. First, in previous sections we suggested the possible use of surface-tension versus contact-angle measurements for the determination of critical surface tensions and, hence, solid surface energies, following the Zisman and Eberhart methods. Then, in the discussion of Bruce's work, we have come across the relation between surface tension of a liquid and its temp#; ature dependence, as mentioned in Equation (56). It is therefore worthwhile a, usis point to digress to a short justification of the value of the exponent, n, in that equation.

Mitra and Sanyal⁽⁵⁴⁾ showed that the vapor pressure and surface tension of liquids may be related through

$$\Gamma \ln p = -\mathbf{a} \gamma_L \left(\frac{M}{D-d}\right)^{2/3} + \mathbf{b} \qquad (69)$$

where **p** = vapor pressure

TI = surface tension

T = absolute te.nperature

- D, d = densities of liquid and vapor, respectively
 - M = molecular weight

a, b = adjustab¹ : constants

It has also been shown⁽⁷⁸⁾ that the surface tension and density are related by

$$\gamma_{\rm T} = {\rm C}({\rm D}-{\rm d})^{\rm d} \tag{70}$$

where C is a constant, Using Equation (70) to eliminate (D-d) in Equation (69) yields

$$T \ln p + a \gamma_1^{5/6} = b$$
, (71)

where the factor of M has been absorbed in the constants. By substituting from the integrated Clausius-Clapeyron equation

$$\ln p = C + d/T \qquad (72)$$

I in p can be eliminated, which leaves:

$$r_{\rm L}^{5/6} = {\bf A} - {\bf B}{\bf T}$$
 (73)

From this, it follows that Equation (56), with an exponent of 1.2, is based on better than purely empirical observations. These relations will be important to measurements of critical surface tension over a wide range of temperatures. Further considerations of the relations among liquid surface tension, heats of vaporization and temperature have been forwarded by Bowden⁽⁵⁵⁾ and Lis results can provide good estimates of this difficultly measured parameter. The second point which should be mentioned here relates to the change in surface tension that occurs upon melting or solidification (as well as in other changes of state).

The Sharpe and Schonhorn^(1,) analysis of the thermodynamics of wetting, spreading, and adhesion showed that wetting is not a reciprocal process; that is, if material A will wet material B, then B will not wet A, and conversely. For eximple, to produce good adhesive bonds between polyethylene and epoxy resins, it is necessary to set the epoxy at its curing temperature, and then heat polyethylene to the softening point in order to promote adhesion (since the liquid epoxy will not wet the solid polyethylene). In the Sharpe and Schonhorn analysis, it is implicitly assumed that wetting in any solid-liquid system could be effected (if necessary) by interchanging the roles of the solid and liquid at a given temperature, but this is obviously impossible in all but the most specialized applications. Even given such a situation, their analysis presumes that the surface energy on curing does not change significantly. The earlier discussion on the contribution to surface energy made by the term at the melting point tends to overrule a strict application of the Sharpe and Schonhorn approach, and cautions against the indiscriminate use of their conclusions. This is particularly important in consideration of the role of surface energy differences when designing experiments to overcome intrinsic difficulties in promoting adhesion between dissimilar materials.

These observations are of great importance where attempts to achieve strong bonds between materials use deposition techniques to effect contact. Here we have a case where "solidification after contact" is carried out, rather than the mating of two solid materials. It should be recognized that the change in surface energy of the solidifying material might promote thermodynamic instabilities at the interfaces and the particular components might not adhere to each other well without the use of an intermediate phase.

V-3. Correlation Techniques

Several authors have attempted to calculate the s did surface energy of various solids through the use of correlations with other physical parameters. Quite often, these are based more on qualitative observations than on fundamental scientific investigations. However, it should be pointed out that this is not a criticism of the use of such techniques, inasmuch as the study of solid surface energies needs assistance wherever it car be found.

Considerable work has been done on the surface tensions of liquid metals and correlations with other physical observables, with perhapt the most nearly complete work being that of Siuta and Balicki⁽⁷⁹⁾. Similarly, Sikorsky^(80, 81) and Courtney-Pratt⁽⁸¹⁾ have studied solid metals, reporting on the relations between physical properties and a form of practical adhesion. Perhaps the most extensive work with ceramic systems stems from the work of Livey and Murray⁽⁸²⁾.

Livey and Murray considered the qualitative effects of lattice energy, surface polarization, molar volume, heat of formation, diffusion, and other properties on the solid surface energies of a number of oxides, carbides and alkali halides. They showed that while ball lattice energy certainly relates to surface energy (particularly in elemental materials), there may be some difficulty in associating bulk and surface energies in compounds, especially where there are the added effects of lattice distortion and surface "non-stoichiometry". In addition, polarization effects at the surface add a new dimension to the computations, as shown earlier by Benson et al. ⁽¹⁸⁾; simple extrapolation is not possible.

Furthermore, it is expected that the general rules of correlation should be tempered by the fact that the types of shielding and polarization effects expected in metal oxides of the form say, MO, would be different from those found in oxides of the type M_2O_3 , MO_2 , etc. Moreover, as one grees through a series of "homologous compounds", intrinsic trends might not be justified as factors of correlation when considered individually, and extrapolation must be done carefully within one class of materials.

The results and techniques of Livey and Murray⁽⁸²⁾ are quite important in that this is one 6, the few articles of the correlative type which seems to deal honestly with the limitations of the empirical methods. Throughout their discussion, it is apparent that full consideration must be given to the interactions between different types of contributions to the total surface energy.

Sikorsky^(80, 81) takes a somewhat different approach in the correlation between surface energy and mechanical properties of various solids, notably metals. The coefficient of adhesion is taken to be the ratio of the force necessary to pull apart two specimens divided by the force employed in bringing them into intimate contact. In some cases, it is necessary to effect a twist of the joints in order to break oxide layers, smooth out asperities, and the like. This coefficient of adhesion is then courcelated with such factors as hardness, recrystallization temperature, and associated metallurgical properties, as well as with liquid surface tensions of the metals. The cross-correlations then permit the assessment of surface tension with respect to the mechanical properties of the solids.

Although such correlations may serve as another method or approach for the estimation of the surface energy of selected solids, it is not felt that there is sufficient merit in the method to justify extensive use. For example, the use of hardness as an intrinsic parameter may lead to large discrepancies, since the hardness will depend not only on the surface characteristics but also on bulk properties of the subject material. The hardness of a nearly perfect single crystal is somewhat different from the hardness of the same material in the form of a highly worked, polycrystalline mass. Furthermore, the recrystallization temperature is expected to be a function of diffusivity, crystal structure, defect concentration and other intrinsic factors that will also determine, to a certain extent, the value of surface energy. Consequently, by attempting to cross-correlate between two uncertain correlations one only multiplies the uncertainty.

Two major factors resulting from researches of Bondi⁽⁸³⁾ should be pointed out here inasmuch as they contribute to two distinct aspects of the present report: the correlations between surface tension and other physical measurables, and the use of "homologous" series of liquids for the determination of solid surface energies. In the first place, Bondi shows how the surface free-energy density and the cohesive energy density may be correlated for a number of different classes of molten specimens. As can be seen from Figure 19, the data for these different materials classes is somewhat incomplete, although more further experiments might extend the ranges of applicability of the Bondi correlation, particularly for the oxides (Class III). It is most important to





FIGURE 19. CORRELATION BETWEEN SURFACE FREE ENERGY DENSITY, Δ F_S, AND THE COHESIVE ENERGY PARAMETER, δ _V, FOR VARIOUS TYPES OF SOLIDS⁽⁴⁸⁾

Surface free energy density is given by $\Delta F_S = \gamma / V_L^{1/3}$,

where γ is the surface tension and V_L is molecular volume.

The cohesive energy density parameter is given by $\delta_{\rm V} = \Delta E_{\rm vap} / V_{\rm L}^{1/2}$,

where ΔE_{vap} is the heat of vaporization.

point out, however, that reasonable correlations do indeed exist and even with the limited data presently available, one may be able to determine order-of-magnitude estimates of surface energy for unknown materials.

Secondly, Bonai collected data on the effects of alloying (in the liquid state) on the surface tension of what might be considered a homologous series in the sense defined earlier. As discussed earlier, it is necessary to establish a series of liquid systems that do not interact with a substrate of unknown surface energy in order to define the critical surface energy for wetting, which is relatable to the solid surface energy. With such a series, the solid surface energy might be determined under conditions and at temperatures where mechanical techniques are not valid. Hence, data of the type shown in Figure 20 can be employed for such determinations.

Naturally, one must be cautious about defining the temperature of the experiments, for both the solid surface energy and the surface tension of the liquid mixtures vary with temperature. Again referring to Bondi's work, we see, in Figure 21, the manner in which the surface tension can vary with temperature in mixtures. While the form of the temperature dependence in pure liquids has been shown to be quite regular (sometimes linear, but believed to be related to the 6/5 power), it is seen from Figure 21 that in mixed systems, the variation can be quite erratic. This is thought to be associated with eutectic compounds or unique properties of the selected liquid mixtures. Hence, one must know in considerable detail the nature of the liquid mixtures before attempting use them in the determination of solid surface energies. A similar argument must be '9d in attempting to employ the methods suggested by Rhee⁽⁵⁰⁾, where compound _rmation or enhanced diffusion can occur at a particular temperature.

56



FIGURE 20. CHANGE IN SURFACE TENSION OF FUSED METAL OXIDES BY ADDITION OF VARIOUS OTHER METAL OXIDES⁽⁴⁸⁾



FIGURE 21. TEMEERATURE COEFFIC...NT, d'/dT, OF THE SURFACE TENSION OF MIXTURES OF FUSED METAL OXIDES

57

VI. SOLID SURFACE ENERGIES

VI-1. The Surface Energy of Crystalline Solids

Several aspects of the measurement, interpretation, and theory of surface energies of solid materials have been discussed to provide a framework for understanding the experimental and theoretical values collected in the following tables. From the outset, it is well to point out where the major gaps will be encountered, since only relatively few materials have been investigated and the understanding of the present data is not uniform. The following tables list most reported data, including some that must obviously be in error. Erroneous data is included to illustrate the drawbacks of certain experimental and/or theoretical techniques, but is not meant to be a criticism of the technique as such. Such an exposition should provide a better feel for the applicability of a given method, and will suggest areas for more research.

The tables list the values of surface energy (for both liquid and solid, where applicable), the temperature of measurement, the method used, the condition of the material, and appropriate remarks. There are a number of gaps in the information, partly because the description is incomplete in the original source. In many cases, the values stated by the original authors have not been correlated with other calculations or experiments, and it is difficult to assess the reliability of such results.

The surface energies of most materials have been neither measured, calculated, nor subjected to much speculation; hence, there is little information on this important quantity. In addition, while a few techniques have been developed whereby estimates may be made by the combination of other physical data, there are two major pitfalls in the application of such methods: (1) the data for the correlations is not available, or (2) the correlations are so poorly based that the use of such information can lead to erroneous results.

Where values of γ and $d\gamma/dT$ are available they are included in the table. The Bruce⁽⁵³⁾ approach has been assumed valid, as well as the relation between surface tensions and critical temperatures. The critical temperature and multiplicative constant given in Equation (54) have been calculated by the reviewer. It should be noted that the T_c so determined might not be realistic at all. In many cases, it is impossible to measure T_c or to interpret it in classical terms. For example, where compounds dissociate into multiple components, the T_c bears little resemblance to the same quantity referred to with common materials such as water, the noble gases, single-element liquid metals, etc. Therefore, one should not consider derived values of T_c as being highly accurate; they are included merely for illustration and might be useful in the determination of a new other parameters of the system.

The general character of the tables is such as to present what might at first be considered a collection of unrelated data on many different substances. In this connection, it should be pointed out that the purpose of the present report is not only to collect available data on the surface energies of ceramic sourds, but also to shed some light on the relative reliability of different techniques (bos) experimental and theoretical) which can be used in the determination of these values. For many of the materials listed in the table, there is very little information to support or refute the quoted values of surface energies: several individual values must stand alone without benefit of corroboration. In other cases (particularly those of high technical interest, such as alumina, magnesia and the like), a number of investigations have been carried out using a variety of experimental methods on a variety of materials. It should be obvious, from an inspection of all the data and the discussion throughout the report, that a large number of variables will contribute to the measured values of surface energy and that very few researches have been devoted to a detailed study of these. Under these conditions, it would be normally expected that a variability in results should occur.

For many of the materials reported in the tables, a single value of surface energy has been singled out as being thought of as the most reliable available at the present time. For the most part, however, there is insufficient information available on which to base such a conclusion, and decisions on "best values" have been postponed until further significant research has been completed.

		er 1986 (ball - Sandrards John	And the second sec	interest of the second		- 201- 100- 100 In 27000	Inner brann	and the provide the stating of the stating and the station of the
Barry C. Catalon D. Description Description <thdescription< th=""> <thdescription< th=""> <th< th=""><th>1</th><th>Constant P</th><th></th><th>Entrop</th><th></th><th>0-9-00</th><th>a Test</th><th></th></th<></thdescription<></thdescription<>	1	Constant P		Entrop		0-9-00	a Test	
Ver PD Lage material is from the set of the s			Canal Land		30.	Colorana -	Sector .	Read's
ame Production Bit Control Con					•	•	~ • •	
App Die Service (Dormalities) App Die Service (Dormalities) App Die Service (Dormalities) App Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) App Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) App Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) App Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) App Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) App Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) App Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) Die Service (Dormalities) App Die Service (Do		· 273) · 273-	Sagie cycles - USA place	S(184	Contraction of the state of the second secon	31 31	NF-2.2 m-2.3	*
Spin 17 bage open (10 ord 18 General termine under 11 no.21 Spin pape open (10 ord 10 10 10 10 10 Spin pape open (10 ord 10 10 10 10 10 10 Spin pape open (10 ord 10 10 10 10 11 10 11 Spin pape open (10 ord 10		4.1	Safet children (195) beiter	8044		31	14-6.4	
Barrer Spin <	NO.	277	Suger cyster - 110-and	230	Calculated they statute canalants	31	n+2.1	
Signal D Part of the state Part of the state <td>•</td> <td></td> <td>SED prove</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	•		SED prove					
Apple D <thd< th=""> <thd< th=""> <thd< th=""> <thd< th=""></thd<></thd<></thd<></thd<>		-			•		~ 11	
Ads. 173 Name of the set of the se	4;00 ₈	n	•	57		•	₩-LJ	
PD Normality for the set of the	Anta	. 273	South country (100) along		Literates sale assesses	6	¥2	
175 Lapit pool (10) pool 186 Landsta way generate 4 52		273	Sager oyear, 1126 plan		Subtant of thing approaches	65	+2	
Art for art server, inter a server, int		D 1	Support of the state	100	Ideate any spanses	14	¥-2	
<pre>int pro_ 1/2 verte for the inter 10 is booking in 11 is is one of the intervent i</pre>				است س	*			E-marked to be much starting them extent
Aur Single, Inter Sector (1) Sector (1) <thsector (1)<="" th=""> Sector (1) S</thsector>	1997 yang	1409		10010		<i>v 3</i> , <i>m</i>		digente in alle Scimpel
	ALT BRISKS							
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	(Yeppin)							
					Paratera anatara			forms couldry a fault math many still at
App, 1 batter 120 pars be batter batter reging spectator 3 9.7 No Logit 10 Martin comp spectator 3 9.7 Comp or 1 100 No Logit 10 Martin comp spectator 3 9.7 Comp or 1 100 No Logit 10 Martin comp spectator 3 7.2 Comp or 1 100 No Logit 10 Martin comp spectator 3 7.2 Comp or 1 100 No Logit 10 No 10 10 10 10 No 10 10 No 10 10 10 10 No 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 No 10 <td>-</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>WILDING.</td> <td>furcher of transfert</td>	-						WILDING.	furcher of transfert
Appin - Baste (10) gas In Baste Secondary ang generative 30 9.7 Hence and generative No Logit 10 Maximum ang generative 30 9.7 Ange and the fill of the								•
Lagen : 550 page Samata Samata Samata Samata Samagagementer SJ Samata Samat	1. July 1. Jul	-	Regions - 1850- piese	the Results	Simether may uponetter	50	¥-7	Series and state in 108-4281 (To dag
No Loo Loo No Loo Loo No Loo Loo No Loo			Anna a mila sina	An Anima		43	- •	1 100 1 107 J. C.
NB Lower SI Materials and generative SI +7 1/2		•	affend - stan tette		Pirate and the see	л	₩2	and and 2 million at
Apr. 100 Control Barton			Let	54	Wester may appendix	ទ	*2	τ, - 100-1 -7 580;12
Line Die State Die State <thdie state<="" th=""> <thdie state<="" th=""> <thdie st<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td>Stranda dan</td><td>M</td><td></td><td></td></thdie></thdie></thdie>				-	Stranda dan	M		
Light Light 17 R0 Names are 65 No. Assurption No.		14	Len		bes-ti day	0	¥-3	-
HID Pace pathem BD Same trap B Auspect schwart B HID Pace pathem HID Same trap grow with transmer F - Auspect schwart Zene Banket transmer HID Same transmer HID Same transmer HID V / Zene Banket transmer HID Same transmer HID Same transmer HID V / Zene Banket transmer HID Pace schwart HID Same transmer HID Y / Auspect schwart transmer HID HID Auspect schwart transmer HID			Leve	\$27.70	has a day	85		-
Bit Province and an intervent of the province of the p		1988	Polycryclather		Same an			
Martin Martin <td></td> <td></td> <td>Personal and an and</td> <td></td> <td>Calent mile</td> <td></td> <td>100-1100-47</td> <td>Zumme Finalest Index and</td>			Personal and an and		Calent mile		100-1100-47	Zumme Finalest Index and
NG System To Marce care generate S V/ B Polycythine SA Polycythine Polycythine <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td></t<>						-		
B Magnetistics Sp. 1 Mil of exters B (**) 1/1*4/2 Autor for exters of the set of exters B (**) 1/1*4/2 Autor for exters of the set of exters B (**) 1/1*4/2 Autor for exters of the set of exters B (**) 1/1*4/2 Autor for exters of the set of exters B (**) 1/1*4/2 Autor for exters of the set of exters B (**) 1/1*4/2 Autor for exters of the set of exters B (**) 1/1*4/4		146	Serginen, ((Bill pinn	P	Minne my spector	ម	₩a	
B Proprietation with and the state B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B		2	Puljenjelistene				6911/942	HELDER ADALES DIE Andreas in constants attent
Bit Bit <td></td> <td>8</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Set of latter</td> <td></td> <td>m-2.3</td> <td>actuality carts (parch of and part taundary</td>		8			Set of latter		m-2.3	actuality carts (parch of and part taundary
B Projektive BB Die of backer BB Projektive BB <		~				-		1911
5.5 Magagatation 7.80 Bar of backson B Mala 1000 Table 1000 B Mala 1000 5.5 Magagatation 6.80 B bar of backson S Mala 1000 S Mala 1000 S Mala 1000 S Mala 1000 Mala 10000 Mala 10000 Mala 10000 Mala 10000 Mala 10000 <td></td> <td>8</td> <td>Palyanyalative</td> <td>1.00</td> <td>Bath of Rachert</td> <td></td> <td>14-21.14-4.4</td> <td>Later B, per sa</td>		8	Palyanyalative	1.00	Bath of Rachert		14-21.14-4.4	Later B, per sa
And Description Description<		5	Pelyoyelation	7,58	Net of Sector		N-23N-44	
25 Pedd. 15. a. apage for an analysis 01 bit of analysis 01 ref. 2.2.2.1.1 bit of analysis 26 Pedd. 15. a. apage for an analysis 5. bit of analysis 01 ref. 2.2.2.1.1 bit of analysis 27 Pedd. 15. a. apage for an analysis 5. bit of analysis 01 ref. 2.2.2.1.1 bit of analysis bit of analysis 28 Pedd. 15. a. apage for an analysis 11 dit of analysis 01 ref. 2.2.2.1.1 bit of analysis bit of analysis 29 Pedd. 15. analysis 11 dit of analysis 01 ref. 2.2.2.1.1 bit of analysis bit of analysis 29 Pedd. 15. analysis 11 dit of analysis 11 dit of analysis bit of analysis bit of analysis 20 Pedd. 15. analysis 11 12.2.1 bit of analysis 11 bit of analysis 20 Pedd. 15. analysis 11 12.2.1 12.2.1 bit of analysis 11 ref. 11 21 Pedd. 15. analysis 12.2.1 Pedd. 15. analysis 12.2.1 bit of analysis 12.2.1 bit of analysis 22 Pedd. 15. analysis 12.2.1 Pedd. 15. analysis 12.2.1 bit of analysis 12.2.1 bit of analysis		*	Patronalization 185 At-A	11 1 4 4 4	Table such of because	12	1423	
3 Produ 134, sight plane 5. mail of contract 61 Pr124243 mail of contract 3 Produ 134, sight plane 12 mail of contract 61 Pr124243 mail of contract 3 Produ 134, sight plane 12 mail of contract 61 Pr124243 maint of contract 3 Produ 134, sight plane 12 mail of contract 61 Pr124243 maint of contract 3 Produ 134, sight plane 128 of of barbon 61 Pr124243 maint of contract 3 Produ 134, sight plane 128 0n of barbon 69 Pr23 attact of contract 3 Produ 134, sight plane 128, bit of barbon 10 Pr23 attact sight plane 11 Pr23<		8	Posta LSI & state place	61		61	14-12 42 43	
B Purch MAA Out Out Mail of example 1 P121223 Mailed of example B Purch MAA US High of example <		B	Printer 8.55 p. angen planer	54		61	#124243	tempropi + +4cadar
10 17 18 17 18 17 18 17 18 <th18< th=""> 18 18 18<!--</td--><td></td><td>25</td><td>Pandar, 365A</td><td>.</td><td></td><td>61</td><td>7F124243</td><td></td></th18<>		25	Pandar, 365A	.		61	7F124243	
B Supplem getaxe of relation LLE1 Supplem (B) Supplem getaxe of relation Supplem getaxe of		2		111.0				Annunt for ff-110mm
B Support (Bit) (Bits) Sub (Bit) Out of backets Si Pr22 B Support (B) (Party Si Gat		8	besten plan at state	12.8.1	Res of herses	69	N+2.3	actuals under many taxes
Name Name <th< td=""><td></td><td>8</td><td>Suppose : Stats plant</td><td>3 16 8.851</td><td>Quin of Mechan</td><td></td><td>#23</td><td></td></th<>		8	Suppose : Stats plant	3 16 8.851	Quin of Mechan		#23	
Bit Sugar (1) para R. Co. Ban of balance Si (12) Bit Sugar (1) para B. Co. B. Co. B. Co. Si (12) Bit Sugar (1) para B. Co. B. Co. B. Co. Si (12) Bit Sugar (1) para B. Co. B. Co. Si (12) Si Bit Sugar (1) para B. Co. Bit Si (12) Si Bit Si Si <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>Tagetone 1123; plane</td><td>2 G 2 G</td><td>Walk of Machane Cash of American</td><td>91</td><td>nei 1 1931</td><td></td></td<>			Tagetone 1123; plane	2 G 2 G	Walk of Machane Cash of American	91	nei 1 1931	
Bit Support, (220) plane Bit No. Bit No. Bit A d hatten 11 for 2.3 Bit A, (200) 27 Statute 32 32 32 32 Bit A, (200) 27 Statute 32 32 32 32 Bit A, (200) 27 Statute Statute 33 11/2/2.42 Statute 53 Bit A, (200) 28 Statute Statute 64 17/2.74.42 Statute 54 Bit A, (200) 33 Statut Statut 64 17/2.74.42 Statut 55 Bit A, (200) 33 Statut Statut Statut 64 17/2.74.42 Statut 55 Bit A, (200) 33 Statut Statut Statut Statut Statut 11/2.74.42 Statut Statut Statut Statut Statut 11/2.74.42 Statut			Sundow : Main stans	8.00	Ref of Herber	51	1923	
273 1112 - 720 52 Back - 256 75 21' Back of Vector 53 10-2.3 Beautorie of Selected entropies Internet 75 21' Back of Vector 53 10-2.3 Beautorie of Selected entropies 10 22' Back of Vector 53 10-2.3 Beautorie of Selected entropies 10 22' Back of Vector 64 10-1.7.14.2 Beautorie of Selected entropies 10 22' 0.0 Mask of entropies 64 10-1.7.14.2 Beautorie onthe 110 22' 0.0 Mask of entropies 64 10-1.7.14.2 Beautorie onthe 12.6 460 Mask of entropies 64 10-1.7.14.2 Beautorie onthe 13.7 24' Mask of entropies 64 10-1.7.14.2 Beautorie onthe 13.7 24' Mask of entropies 64 10-1.7.14.2 Beautorie onthe 13.7 24' Mask of entropies 64 10-1.7.14.2 Beautorie onthe 13.7 2		-	Supplement (2000) plane	B. 🗺	Rob of Instant	91	1+23	
Aug. 1984 25 26 26 91 192.3 Manual of Affance statements consecution to Join pressure consecution to Join pressure consecuti		271	•	11 12 - 230	•	\$2		
And And <td>M.A. 784</td> <td>8</td> <td></td> <td>201</td> <td>find of backer</td> <td>13</td> <td>14-2.3</td> <td>Country of States administration processor</td>	M.A. 784	8		201	find of backer	13	14-2.3	Country of States administration processor
1 25 bl/	T	.,		-				entropy salari to some processor
10 <	(lighter)							
13 13 14 14 1912/14-22 Winked a - Augine 13 14 14 1912/14-22 Winked a - Augine 14 1912/14-22 Winked a - Augine 13 15 16 16 16 17 17 Winked a - Augine 14 15 16 16 16 17 Winked a - Augine 15 16 16 16 17 Winked a - Augine 16 16 16 16 17 Winked a - Augine 17 16 18 16 16 17 18 18 18 16 18 16 17 19 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 19 18 18 18 18 18 18 19 18 18 18 18 18 18 19 18 18 18 18 18 18 19 18 18 18 18 18 18 19 18 18 18 18 18 18 19 18		2					PELL 3P42	
1::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::		8	-	22 10 10		ü	19-12-19-42	Braund a e-taptane
1: (b) db() a,a 2: 30 mod d antrea 64 n=12 n+42 Balance a star 1: (b) db() 2: 3: 3: 3: 1: 1: 1: 1: (b) db() 2: 3: 3: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: (b) db() 2: 3: 3: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: (c) db() 2: 3: 3: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: (c) db() 2: 3: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: (c) db() 3: - 3: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: (c) db() 3: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: (c) db() 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: (c) db() 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: (c) db() 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: (c) db() 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: 1: (c) db() 1: 1: </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>								
The field of another Dis The field of another Dis The field of another Ball 13 - 97 to 18 Nat of another 64 19-12/14-32 Wester in a second of another Ball - 97 to 18 Nat of another 64 19-12/14-32 Wester in a second of another Ball - 97 to 18 National or and property of another 64 9-2 - - 77 to 18 Second or and property of another 64 9-2 - - 77 to 18 Second or and property of another 64 9-2 - - 77 to 18 Second or and property of another 65 9-2 - - 77 to 18 Second or and property of another 65 9-2 - - - 180 Second or and property of another 65 9-2 - - - 180 Second or and property of another 65 9-2 - - - 180 Second or and property of another 65 9-2 - - - 180 Second or and property of another 9 180 - - - - 180 Second or another 9	ുള്ള അ നുമ	8	•	340			m-12 m-42	
Lat (-2). Sugar crystal (100 plane) MMI Sugar crystal crystal (100 plane) MMI <	(Chill & Chill)	2		87 in 196			TE-12 RE-4.2	
Arthouse (-27). Suppo cycle (100 plane) MMD Subsection early systemation 45 9-2 (-27). Suppo cycle (100 plane) MMD Subsection early systemation 45 9-2 (-27). Suppo cycle (100 plane) MMD Subsection early systemation 45 9-2 (-27). Suppo cycle (100 plane) MMD Subsection early systemation 45 9-2 (-27). Suppo cycle (100 plane) MMD Subsection early systemation 45 9-2 (-27). Suppo cycle (100 plane) MMD Subsection early systemation 45 9-2 (-27). Suppo cycle (100 plane) MMD Subsection early systemation 45 9-2 (-27). Suppo cycle (100 plane) MMD Subsection early systemation 45 9-2 (-27). Suppo cycle (100 plane) MMD Subsection early systemation 45 9-2 (-27). Suppo cycle (100 plane) MMD Subsection early systemation 45 9-2 (-27). Suppo cycle (100 plane) MMD Suppo cycle (100 plane) 9-2 9-2 (-27). Suppo cycle (100 plane) MMD Suppo cycle (100 plane) 9-2 9-2 (-27). Suppo cycle (100 plane) <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>								
- 277- Suger cyclic - 100 yrger Ped Scheeker eang Approxime 61 97 - 273 Suger cyclic - 100 yrger 200 Scheeker eang Approxime 65 97 Arge - 273 Suger cyclic - 100 yrger 200 Scheeker eang Approxime 65 97 Arge - 273- Suger cyclic - 100 yrger 200 Scheeker eang Approxime 65 97 - 273- Suger cyclic - 100 yrger 100 Scheeker eang Approxime 65 97 - 273- Suger cyclic - 100 yrger 100 Scheeker eang Approxime 65 97 - 273- Suger cyclic - 100 yrger 100 Scheeker eang Approxime 65 97 - 273- Suger cyclic - 100 yrger 100 Scheeker eang Approxime 65 97 - 273- Suger cyclic - 100 yrger 100 Scheeker eang Approxime 65 97 - 273- Suger cyclic - 100 yrger 100 Scheeker eang Approxime 65 97 - 273- Suger cyclic - 100 yrger 100 Scheeker eang Approxime 60 97 - 273- Suger cyclic - 100 yrger 100 Scheeker eang Approxime 61 97 - 273- Suger cyclic - 100 yrger 91 Scheeker eang Approxime <td>h#</td> <td>··P3-</td> <td>Suger cyclet - 100 piero</td> <td>100</td> <td>Selecter any systemater</td> <td>45</td> <td>+1</td> <td></td>	h#	··P3-	Suger cyclet - 100 piero	100	Selecter any systemater	45	+1	
All Company Company All		· 273-	Segue contat - 130 piece	74.6	Tallander under Anten aufer	а ж	* 2	
Arth: 4273 Sugio cycle: Hill price Hill Schwarz comp approaches 45 9.2 -273 Sugio cycle: Hill price Hill Schwarz comp approaches 45 9.2 -273 Sugio cycle: Hill price Hill Schwarz comp approaches 45 9.2 -273 Sugio cycle: Hill price Hill Schwarz comp approaches 45 9.2 -273 Sugio cycle: Hill price Hill Schwarz comp approaches 45 9.2 -273 Sugio cycle: Hill price Hill Schwarz comp approaches 45 9.2 -273 Sugio cycle: Hill price Hill Schwarz comp approaches 45 9.2 -273 Sugio cycle: Hill price Hill Schwarz comp approaches 45 9.2 -273 Sugio cycle: Hill Schwarz comp approaches 41 - 41 - 40 -3.3 Sugio cycle: Hill Schwarz comp approaches 41 - 41 -			andra radiate (, 111). Battar			~	••	
د دور معند دور معند دور معند دور معند دور معند معند معند معند معند معند معند معند	-	- 275	Suger crystal - 180 proce	2007	PL. JOIN MAR Manusches		₩2	
دور معادر معا معادر معادر مع معادر معادر معاد معادر معادر معادر معادر م		: 273-	Segle cystal +118 prose		hinds my speake	45 #	#2	Bellement haberte & and & brans
میں ہے۔ 1946ء میں 1951ء میں 1 1951ء میں 1951ء میں 1		11) 11)	nulla cham (11) haing	4	startin and distribut	40	******	
- Φχάς 1000 L-45-12 - 1.255 άχμαικατά 45 L-45-12 - 1.255 άχμαικατά 45 L-45-12 - 1.24 άχμαικατά 45 L-45-12 - 1.25 (1-2)								
	9 ₄ 9 ₃		Lief	91	leave du	64		6 m 07 - LSto dyne rene rd.
			L 🝽		-		+3	Eng ET - LPE (pak 100-11)

Fachadas at and of talas

			Series .			Report Becallow	
_	Vergeneters"	Name .	East 1		(regel)	e Test	
		Cather			Referenze	hte	
e c ₁	% ,2	UBM	U 1	Northeast when	94		he strengton
				_			
	196	Single crystar - 171) plane		Builde cash-lavar		W2.1	Grandes canals: re hange standar
	03	Single cryster (111) prese	36	Concultated from enables constants		M 2 1	
	mj.	Single crystar, 111-sitese	#1.P	Fut Baselical with	R 95	¥-1	
	273	Single crystal, 118 plane	753.0*	fut barthes and	18 95	#1	•
		•					
		Zuffe cham - 350- bune	641	Canonalized frame with ce entropy and	82	₩-3	*
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Bussepect) consistents		• 3	•
	10	Single crystal - 1889 plane	1997	Elementary calculations	•	₩1	•
		•		-	_		•
	m	Sagte crystar (300 piece	1261	Elementary coloriships		¥ 1	•
	•	Juffen Column + 200+ beime	410		U	₩-2	-
		•		•	-		
	73	Segle cycles, (300- piper-		Elementary conculations	•	¥-1	-
					_		
(HIE) (13	200 to chiggs + 200 beins		Calculated has elable candidate		#12	•
90 4	8	*	74			n+12	Degirten futte collegeben. 100. Men.
	_						And Andrease - 10-
	<u>م</u>	Pantar particle size [.] p	190		61	N+12,0+42	
	120	Parties particle size \$3,	145	tel f albre	61	14-12 /04-12	
	5	-	1290	Petersen	62	r#1.3	•
				-			
Ro Te	<i>r</i> 3	Sager cytha 130-pian	m	Execution calculations		¥ 3	
							1
Sec.	-	Sagie cycle: 4021; piece	In America	There and the second	2	¥-2	BERAR HOLE IN THE LITT OF BEE
							i .
		Sager cryster, 4001-press	See Reagands	Sub-sub-se stage approvalies	엁	#2	Anonge other 1 2000 £3577 (T - dag K)
	7647		1013		41		•
	1	Same country of the same	1164	Litt online status processing	ä	# 7	-
			11.000		44		the bullet and second and an annual limits
	**	Toppenson and			••		
							*
	m		1420	Transports and the set	42	¥-3	3 2055 1 T 6600-1 2
							•
89 ₃	28	Light	65	-	63	¥-3	6-1 17 - 1 18 6-18 - 18 - 1
							-
€C ₁₃	n :	Left	66.2		83	#-3	es ₁ af − 4.13 eper γcp − 4.
							η H2 I T 189-14
							•
C D-amond	273	Single crystar. 380- prime	1980	Calculated have exactly canadiants	31	W 2.2	
	273-	Sage cythe 110 pase	1988	Calculated from enable carefulation	31	r#22	
	273	Single crystal, 111-pige	1580	Calculated from electric calculates	31	n+12	
C Scane	- B-	Pre Grade A appendi	18.60	Ban of hecture	60	m 2.3	ncudes water analy shak
	25	Pre Geer A new-s	11.MQ	Juge ang stant	12	m 2.3	Analysis by completers method
	8	An Date A setting	1 10 1.5 + 10 3	Ban of Machine	22	W-2.3	Canadicable critic branching
	5	Carlado	119		5	#324243	Array has another a street light
	õ		123		4		Begerben fatt centritairen
	8	Partier parten sat 1.000	•		6 1	N-124243	lasgrad = addr
	Б	Panto prict sit iff	225		61	#32.4243	waartad - tangtat
	Б	Paulo paten sat ESta	122 5		6 1	#324243	lanarad a s-lapiger
54C01	25	Cancelle	78 10 1256	Refs of Hecture	93	n# 2.2	Benuted at affected adaptate produces.
•							entropential to save pressure
	75	Capital semilar	10.000	Crusterer		N 2 4	For two stops that to super-starter and
				•			and the second second
	773.	Caroler		Concession from entering constants	78	m 11	Calculated an under effect of an expresses
							4 Millions
	173	Hill along of callula	199	Calculated has even a constants	7	m 2.2	Assume that comments we'll be all edget
							A C Blodge
	P)	Anderer in 1986 andere	276	Catcurcled from elastic constants		m 2.2	1
	196	Sente press catche - 1885	75	Bader Latherer	7	mp 2 i	Salary pyright of zonand sale
Caco, mco.		Search and and a state	See Records	States and Annual	51	• 2	- Bender aber 1. 200 1 207 7 . ma 6.
Dennet a						·	
-		Segre caystar all some	See Panales	Spergter man manager	N	• 2	Autom
							· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	Yest	Partie Children 1865 Notes	1646	Shape and Shinese	u	• 1	
all 1	11		157		-		

62

TABLE & ICONTINUED

						in the party of	
	"Angen also a	and a second sec	tenp '		3.444	4 100	
						Mit Sear	Number 1
(d .			11	D through an	•	n 3 3	Bar matades + mays s if eye ands
•	.5	Single cryster (C) passe	794	Dauber . and man	7 1	19 2 2	Same analyse of passals relationed
	5	Catering parallel	63 SHE	Cush-g	3. 30. 34	5 (A	Fig. Sec. step:
	3	Sugar costa - 111 piane		Pader carb war	.7	F10-1-1	Bears perfect - manager absorbed
		Single cryster - 13th proper	1991 Y	F # Bounds. + Andr	18,95	. • 1	
	179	Sugar carter 111 page	×	for Repairing adde	30 4 5	•	
	2.9		546		N		Ine Ane Remain of P
	10	Pellin (Adm. (1) hans	1384	Carcelland from marticle (containts	b .	n 2.2	
at Kap ay	:		(3 +8 ⁵	(artising	F 16 14	in 14	Equator to be much production that safes
(a)		lage as the still place	for illinges	latenter ning approacher	13	• 1	- Bring and 1 147 1367 11 108 1
		Single cynter - 200 prane	In Americ	lande reg spanse	51	• 2	Annuage some is 1000 1.3387 . 7. ang A
	84	t ***		Lungander has Call 50; makers	42 ·		
	MM	Segre cardin . Mill plane	6.7	Personal and the second	2	•	
	3		LFM SWP			10.55	
		anfine (minten itten betten	1.		•		and the second s
	20	Judia catana mila taka	Md.'	Canadian for silica and stat	ĸ	• '	
		fanne ander till anne			A 11	in 11	
				محمد الطريبيون أ			Annually by IT I to cargo bag dawn
	• •						test too a Jose point
	273		424	Statement & contrations	6 .		
	273	Service and a state proce	NG))	E vanders altertebens		• 1	
	273	Sager cryster 130 plane	364				
	5)	Sage carter - 10 pase	10 14	l uniter societies at completes	9	■ - N ⁺	the printing organs have charactery constant analogy sub-
Card - Band - Banda		Seale (sealer 10) man			31	. *	
50.		frame contract the same					
						•	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	-188-1	All the grant	6.76		**	• *	1 1 1 1 1 1 7 454P * 1
		former and a still state	-		N	• 1	•
			-		1		
Caller	-1	Capital parallel prints part	· ## ##*		5	AU 13	
	3	Segte carder all pase	12 37 710	t waardan . destellingen		N 1	
					-		
Cali		Judia calina 300 fatin	76				
		Segur cydar 120 pane					
	20	Jeffin (dente 326 henn			-	•	
Caller	279	Sager cyster - 189 pare	85	E tandatan a may takens	-	1 i	
Callo, 10,0			5 1	President	κ.	n 1 5	
cale		Sauto custo - 27 o ano	1) 14	Emailes (academs		• :	
		-	_				
(#L+# ++#	.5			228 8 44914	••	n () (n +)	
Carl van	7		.3 b 34		+4	(h) ((h) 4 (
Catho Amil	5		10 🖬 🖬			* 1 (11 1 (
					14	# F . / 9 4 .	
car :	MC	5 (b) 7	÷.		\$ 1	• +	as of the and the a
							1 94 1 1 950 1 1
(m)	A.12		-		64	N 1 1 (n 1	
			3	where of substant		11:1441	" where sure the to be designed in a re-
			-				trub's
	<u>.</u>	bepe in the still place	. 204	Consider has affer story, and	÷:	• 1	
		-		\$			
			18	imethous a contribution	\$C 40	• ,	
ت يە ي		Soge whe will be	fpr finges	Persta web therease	N)	• 2	Brand and S P. 1 20 T. T. 20 B.
		hage costs - 12 A pass	-	be-apher state appreciation		۰.	
		Luna and Mid and		Managina anno managina		• 1	,
	-		* 1	and the second s		••	

TABLE & CONTINUES

			Seriece			Arrent Pacation	
	"enge stare"		t ang "		Deper	a lest	
Ber a	:	Canal Aver T	April (BP CB			2012-00	Cropto
	• •		<u></u>	Contain baller propert			
	•	and a ration of home	•		-	• .	
	-		•:	Statute balls we have			
	2.1	Segre create All pase		fur tousies ante		۰.	
		-					
·•	+40	L 🗣 1	af.		83	● 3	5 2° - 1 3 600 (* *
	64	1.04	M ^a	Contrast Salar product			ົ 🙀 . 15 ກຳ
	• 1	Laws of stars and stars		1	-		s Kultura teres in colut
	. /	Senar contra del pote	1.4	f an Branke a ball			Safar Status stat
		Sent comp all part		fa theat on the		•	
	,	fenter eretter 18 pene	101"	Fur Realics and	3	•	
•	•:	L-Bed	91	Entrane Paper hauter	N 94		A 1 2 34 AM (* 4
	·•.	Second constant of the second	.~	fa marten ante	34		·
					-	·	
-	6,4	L 🕶	C.		\$3	1 1	6. 2 ¹ 1.76 (per
							A REAL MARKED
	M .5	1. April	. : •		61	b F	5 1" EB 500 1 5
•							N I N MARKE
							• •
۶.	`	fine preside and lease	W	ing a second	N	n 82 in 4 s	
		anters states and state					•
••		Suger curter att pane	for Reserve	Subvastor many upon astor	<u>%</u>]	۰.	- Bring in the state of the sta
		pulla chigh 75, hana	Le Quanta	Permit and the apple	?'		Pre- 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10
	.4%	anima M pane	241	School or many approaches	• 3	•	
	45				31	• 2	
	94.7		197			• •	
			-			•	
· · .		Sage type Sid pare	ter transs	be-net-r may approved or	3	•	Benneum ubur bil in 7 mig 6
		•					•
		padia tanya 1526 Saba	ter Granis	Several in some approval in	• '	•	Annual control of the second
	52	and the second second	. 1947	Salestand and approximation		•	
	•		716	man it was a	99	•	
			-1		•		Company take and but at the etc.
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			_		Approved 1
		John (Japp - 10) - Inter				3	
••		Some costa - Mit anna	ter titleine	States and mandals	• •	•	
-							
		Lage Lynn all pare	ter Canpis	Sprage or carry apprending	•9	•	- Average value of the State of any K
		Same roots the same		interaction on the state of	٠,	• •	
·· .		same and and same	ter Renam	Mariate way specad a	41	۰.	- Brits and in the State Aug &
-							•
		Single Lysia - LB a ave	ter Renaus	Printer and the states	\$÷	•	Annage and the State of the state
	•	Lage . who will prove	. 1862	Submachur menge approvallur	۰	•	
••		e da l'axe ng haa		Cake alle has not a stant.		•	
•, •							
		have see a new		Manager and and an			
	4	Seger . yster	-	bernat a more apro ant a	•	•	
	+	Sage valo 2.000	. 🕷	- Sala meg apresia	r	· • •	Difference setates 4 are 8 fairs
	•	bege with the pase			r	•	
		Same rando	10	Lander of the second se	r		
		Segret when the paper	b .N		r	•	
	*	Sage and L pare	1	Literat a sung apres ad a	tr.	•	
	• 1	Sage (vela par	91:	Shade my spande	•	• • •	Difference settates & and # tales
TABLE & ICENTURIES

			5.00		1	femal because	and a fight management of the second se
	Temperature #	Natura -	Eng		0	in Test	
	:	Campens 2	April par cm	10 Part	Reference	Sector .	Lengts
Ge		Sager pyster - 10- jane		Casege	1	r# 2 i	
	.*	Sope costs 100 pass	13	Carcollad ham 111 when	1	79-21	
		Some country 130 proce	1346	Carcariated from 11. what	int i	M 2 1	
	13	Segre crystar 380-press	1122	Calculated from marshic constants	31	#27	
	273	Supercenter 125 prese	aller t	Cancellated from encoder, constants	31	m 1 2	
	Γ:	Sage over 11, pure	`N	Calculated from elastic constants	N1	#22	
لعلاء	-24	. e rf		Taxa - and			6 IT - LIB GREACE-E.
		Pancas sa 99,		He / album	61	#124243	alleriti - utitr
	n	f ne sen car sue 25 é.			¢ !	W 12.47 43	
-	**1	Laure and the second			_	- 1	
	1 1	Sealth country				41	•
	. 773					8.2 09.2 5	Bellement belenen & and & breas. Still der
	• •		~		-		# 0
							-
11 1	273	Segre c year still press	2544	Statistics and approximates	6	#2	
	273	Sugar cythar 130-page	8. 	Salanta mag aparata	-	* 2	•
	273	Sage cyster 122 page	3 100	Sanata ang apa ata	-	¥ 2	
ad .	273	Single cardio - 130 prime	250	Carculated New Headler constants	3:	P# 2.2	-
-				•	-		
	ri -	ange conta Me pare	1 104			• 2	
	73	Judia Laham 130 bebe		Auge and the state		- 1-14	
	· [']	anger olyand, 111 pinne	-		-		
.	-		137		41	*1	A. IT ARRING IN A
						••	
							- 1 , 121 - 3, 200 - 54
							•
0	738	Land		Entern fritte batter			
		Segle civilie. III pilet	13				Belland Brancher angelenner
	71	anger crystel. Die pase			2		
	-(7)	Santo contrat. 188 perce					-
	m	Same cardina . 110 anno	784	fast Benetict ande		8.1	Surface stress stres
	778			Conversion have examine a constants		7922	
	. 773	Same conter 110 mart		Calculated from shaper constants	11	m 2.2	
	73	South could all same	M tr 25.	Canadian Care Char Bann	6	• 1	
	71	Sage cyster 30 pase	123	Fur barthes adt	1	*1	
	r 1	Suger cryster - 130 plane	3. 2	Fur bankar nati	30	# 1	
1	736	Left	9 1	Barnet Lift preser			AL IT ANT AN YOUR
							1 177 - 177 - 1 - T- 2000 - ¹ - 2
							L
	8	Participa di la 68 m ² per g	252	mail of souther and surface	63	#13,78-63	Suggester is to high, due is contribut or
		annual to be all.					par phone proc
		tuning culos					
	5	Judie chann Be ban s	1307	Crandle	1.	194 Z 1	
	1	Sagte cratter BB pie e	584	Fun Repolica and			actuals sequence Japaniance
	81	Judia chaga and have		Lanaring discharging they			
	71	Judie chien III- ben			382		
	<i>[</i> 71					*•	
	F 3		16-1	f the state of the state of the state	174	• 1	
	• •		19.1	a salas balan anto film			Names of the statistic district of any colored of
	73	Sante contine 100 same		Emander mittalitet barr	15		
				a salar tarber men star	~		state a cult
	273	Sample counter and proce	16.2 1342	Ann Mar Sonn	4	¥ 1	
	r 1	Sagte cartle : 18. pint	18.37	Bar-Bayer Many	254	Υ.	
	27	Sugar counter alle prese		(hather rectance consultan	25		
	273	hagte rester 18 pane	178 MS	Barn Bayer Barny		•	
	m	Sage over 10 per	3 🗰	Concurated from prestic constants	31	r# 2.2	
	1.1	Segre civite - 130 prese	r_{\perp}	Carceriated from standie constants	11	P# 2.2	
	2-3			Entrapedat finn signi			there are not desired to the second second
	** 1	Long and the second					Labora Stational activat
	<i>r</i> 1		M.				
	71		11	fast Beautife & anti-	1		
	21	Lange Lange and an and	-47		1		
	F1	Search Chester 1 It same		fat beutics unte		•	-
	••				-		
-	638.5	Level	1	•	94		
ayoyo.	42	1. 1. 1 .	5 4 8 - 1	-	-		

ABLE & ICONTINUED

			Surface		-	Revert Bacuster	
	Tanger Bart B	Caller at	Long/ ¹		0-geo	a Tear	
	<u>د</u>	Casher®	dyne per ca	titlet	Reference	ia.co	Rests.
• 5			140	Wannage below pressure			
	71	refat than the base	28	Bart- Capter Malary		¥ i	
	11	AND CAMER THE LINE			•		Parts and wat
	212				-	•	
	27		34			• .	
	27	South country Mills areas					
	71	Sente contra Litte anno	17	fur banden ante			
					-	• •	
¢.	601 W 123	Land	٦	Man-mar ballets pressure	43 99		big ff I lidene i con rff
							Mark Turk L
							L IN CONTRACTOR
	-	Sager oyster 180 pase	1.50	Fue through car made		¥ 1	ant intered medinenters gebregents
	<i>T</i> 1	Sealan Cologo Tille Bana	m	Concurated from elastic constants	31	a 11	•
	279	Salar Column 118- Salar	80	Carbination and seattle canadian	1.	N/11	Law was a set
	27		12				
	71	Senter control 110 press	714				
	27	Senar another Statement	177	f manager (descriptions	.		
	213	Segre cryster - 20- pres	87	E MARTINE CARCELER CAR			Long Silve and
	273	Sage cytter Mit pase	113	Far Stanbel aufr		۷.	
	273	Segre cryster 138 peace	m	fut bouthes and		•	
+ i k 20 650	в	Single crystar . Mit prate	1766	Bath of Hectore	3	¥23	Autrage pate mit stage of courts 1588
Print of							
federat							Dien beschute an
	17	Santa contas (81) atma-		Converted have standard converted	•	m 7 F	
	• •		-				
4.2 34.00	3		271	Classifier	x	792.0941	
iss, bjo	15			Change	ж	m 2 . m 4 1	e unter anger diesembere
B 12 B (2)	B	Sage cyste		Creatige		m21m4.	
	5	Sage cyste	45-1	Closef	r	f# 2 i f# 4 i	* start
	5	Sager cyclin - Milli pane	375		3 79	rp 7 1 rp 4 .	# #/
			766 % 546			re 2 .	
.	4.8	م من ا	# 1		A1		A
-					•1	• 1	
							- 75 · * 425 · *
	1134			1			-
		. 🗭	34		•	• :	
. 🗰	640	. 🛶	254		41	• 3	5. 27 2 Billion co. 4
							•
							5 2 9 5 9 5
•	7*1	Lauri andra di anna		formation is a set on a			
. •	7-1						
	273	Same raute ille same		fut Statistics and			
	213	Senter overa Me some	91	Full Smatter and	1		Suffact Median adve
	•••				-		
. 1	613	. ent	HE		99		6. 17 3175 for cm 4
							The track
							i atte i state
	21	Saga oyan 30 yant	385	Examples (acathers		€ .	
	.7	Sagar carta III pasa	*	fur bauthes water		۰.	HE WAS SHARP WORK OF
	17	Sage cyste 118 year	300	Fur toutics age		•.	HC LINES SUPACE WARAFAR
	1.3	pedies column 200 kalms	6,34	I No Mappines eath		• .	The second second
4	ARE 10 A.W.		-				
•		Seman contra diff come	16.7	Banday (and Gang		·• 1 .	means meaning the bound of he and
					••	•••	# 31
	1	Sugar cyclin - SE your	113	For theorem and		• .	to conchar for all co report of
		Sage cytta M pare	425	Dauber Lati-mar	л	An 1 1	Crysla strand to 2.5 ptruest categories.es
							tight using brinket to be associated with
							HARE THAT ACTUAL PRATE S
	-			•	-		: an-apr :-arts ar that any
		Single cardia alle prime	338		8		Sample mail-stated to 32 + 32 ** with
	78	HALL CARD	-		5	10 . 1	and which adopted the state of
	-	Lange rough the same	-	Inde (at an		•	A service of the serv
	. 🖬	and the second second	-		••	•••	relation in the local sector of the local
	79	Sage cyster All years	5.8	Bader care man	3	• :	Sample tractat elevent ant there takes
		•				-	444
	23	Segre cryste - 20 pase	200	Examples consultant	٠	• .	
			· · · · · ·	in , in addition i			

			Surface			Berner Distance	
	Transact"	Matter &	test		Cogeni	re Taal	facat:
		Canadian:	fine po ce	La della Restri			
1. M							
d Cannad	2*3		11	f second have static continues	31	422	
	<u></u>	Sage cysta 317 plan		Catandart "	31	r# 2 X	
		Same carter alle state		Fut Bouthca Mar		¥1	Litter anter aller
	23	Lange Dynky - 380- 1488	142	Fur theatthe state		¥-1	the same subscription
	<i>r</i> 1	Sage treater	154	For Boundace Made		• .	
				f		¥ 1	Later wase with
14	273	Suger cryster - Mit press				¥ 1	future Enter etter
	273	Sage cylle an per	-	Fan Bouthest mit	3	¥ 1	includes surface refund-en
	273	Same carder 118 same	78	Fart Beartheat mater		W 1	
							A. 17 13 000 00-F
. 40.	254	Lend	12		U .)	• •	
,							
					a		6. 17 4.83 6m -ca - 1
Liples	15	Leve	74				T IN I T SEPTIZ
• •							
L1,501	1754	Light	374.6				1
		fante andet . Ille state	Ine Brentes	Salatia and specific	53	¥-2	Break stat 100 - 2 107 - (1 + 10] 4
		State Charter - State State					Annual Tring LOST To be to
	R.	Sage cycles - 100 piece	In finants	Through and the state	ىلا	• 2	
					9		- ISC _ T 5470 ¹²
	2000	Light	30		43		
	1480	Sugar cyclat - Sile plane	1798	Linger sup appendix	39 68	#23#44	Spacific grants 3 0
	В	Polychyllifiat gen Las			••		
	-	8,	-	Ball of Machine, actuality		19731944	Sande grande 351
				waste any ters			transfer attacks 1.15
	5	Polycoptioner gan bill	35,000	But if hather activity	60	14 L 3 14 4 4	
		₩,		lutter ang ant		7237944	Specific genete - St
		Paterytheres, per 3.00		handle State Mark			
	-			thes of earther extended	••	W237444	Specific gravite 2.58
		il e		tertite antig theme			
	5	Polycopennet, par 3.0	15.000	Ban of feature, escheling	67	W 2 3 / 5 4 5	
		27.		Print's and the second	6	m 11m44	
	5	Polycoyale/ant gate tall	9 		-		
	_	No.	14	Ban of Section, according	69	m23 #44	
		130 c		benthe range theme			
	Б	Paterytanes, par s.H	2000	a a d hatter while		W [1984 +	
		190 .		Luthe any Pas		#21/#41	Beautif at efferent allerballe property and
	8	Sugar crystar	100 H AN		-		animpeter to pas plants
		Sauth could	1960	But a history - here	59	10-2.5	Support (1) 1 (2)., and it allows how .
				SHEETS SHEETS		A 11	mentant (3 a 32 ¹⁰ mil to septors patter
	5	Sage over	- 100	the a second scholage		M 13	f.m
					n	921	
	n	Server raction . The picture		Contract of the State	107	r# 2 L	Cales and here articulat analysis of
	Б			•			augeneter
	5		1000	Builte catherin	167 	PP 2 1 PP 4 1	Bandi e s.d. sheper had ter
	5		35.0	Bayles carbinets			what hat apprend state bearing and
							aufaut start
					83	w 3	
	2	hand marker till said		Buile cation		P# 2-1	Same tag and Automation and
							MALINE OWNER # 7 C and Lamont
				Barris and Barts	3	×# 2 :	Created at 196 C Seend a pr at 25
	5			far beretes net		9 1	En canterban fur buffere Belleren a fire for
	1		_				
	U*	Suge cyda	50	Bade unt unt		mp 2 1	
	15		UMB UP	Dude cut over	300 M	m 2 1	
	5	Segre cyster . W pass				021	
	1.2	Laure states and states		Bulle (alt til		re 2.1	Created a. Th C. in an answer at 1985.
		Same contra 12 stat	.):	Constant has mathe contain	 31 	N 11	
		Sage cythe 110 per		Calculated from mattic constant	 E E 	PE 2 2	
		Saget cutto		Bude salate	27 1984	ry 13	Assess by P Lines BUCH
	273 W -2				5		The primary marks her channel
	27	Judia chane yas hela		(Jardidens		4	Publics (Ballin and A.S.
					£2	11	

Same a	Tanga alart ^a	Canal and an Rt	Safety Energy ⁴ Spec par ca)-gas Reference	Brouget Disystems in Yost Section	bass
					\$3	¥ ź	
Mr. A. way Server	ANK .	Sing cycle off part	Ser Reasons		53	•:	Bringer were is 200 - 1.617 - T - dag fü
			Im Brents	Longitur and American	N	w 2	Annual and to 188 1577 (T. ang ID
				- Set we Autor		10 2 2	Canage angenet 1 war fo ligh tant
	13	Performance of the second			41		
🗤 ()= -	5	Paulars	134	and is division			
West .	5	Single caystar ME prese		and is thereases	- 81 138		
	2-3	Sage cysts at parts	173		1 22		
	273	Sage costs . 20 pase		Employ (Paulant		►.	
4 17	2.1	Suger cyster 18 pase	15	E-manipy calculations	•	• 1	
Marshing Farmer	r)	Pada colen ag ban	14	Carculated from enable carefulls	•	• 1	5 -ca longitions are assured to range relief
	-	and the	4.0	Calegorith in al works in stage	5.		1
9 .	5		B.7	Lagran .	41 47	* 2	Automotive to the terre
	:7	tige cyster 10 page		Canadadad wan rinner onego and oper wal-	84	• /	
	273		3636		e:	• }	
•	71	Suger crystar 100 passe		and a Physical C	63	# ¹	
ants pa Catalogy	ň	Course paraller while of con- stitutes cannot fallener 2 1 and 2 3	165 + 18 5	Cauthing	3° B B	mg 2 4	Expected to be much proper than when addressed by other techniques
-	¥57.	Lant	35	Lines with second	۰.	•	Later tenan alla
	223	Sage cyste Bergene	364	San-Eight State			Setar William south
	71	Sager Cyllin are plant Same cyllin 111 start	36 2	Ben-Bayer Diers	•	•.	-
	17	Sager canter. 18: pare		fut bouttes and	4		
	•	Singre costa 100 permit		For Boundary State		•	
		Sage cyste i in pare	20	Catalant has ready cardents	з.	· · ·	
	23	Sage cyste . If your	200	Cocurated has mathic containers		n (Landaux service which
		Sugar cysta Mil para	64		•		
M.	-	Sage cysta - ML pare	fer Reapers	Firsts and through	\$!		IT IN LINEY & MER.
	W .	1.44	1,0	Bannar lafet preset	**		6. 1 1 1 400 CP 8
							· 199 . 7.119
	#	. ged		Contractory Providence	53		Balance a la
	3.		38			133	
	2	Pulling Culture - Same Traine	51		112	:• 3 3	
			163 w 132	Bauter carterer		m []	
	5		122		12	m \$1\$2.47	
	.5	Fire pender	730		51	•	
		l	100 to 100		: 2	No. 2	
	••• !	Seate over 12 part	3	Fan Bauth ca main			ur real salta the whenes
		Lage LYES	:e	Dander captorer	1	m 1 1 m 4 .	
	19	Suger cryster	34			· 1 · 4 .	I SLAT
	196	Sage (1/60 30 part	100 H		130	10 1 1 Fe 4 .	a the day of the property
		Same came at part	5		23	• :	
		Sage oysto . M. pas	.**	Entrapentin		• }	A STING A. TE SAME HAR LOOK
	:.;	Sage cyste - all your	20	Cancellant from one forces	Л	•	inter terior and
	: 7	Sage conte . M. same	. 10	San San San	,		Surface these whet
		Sage Dythe		1 fan tine ter	•	• .	Lotare Service and
	21	Same ranks Mill stars		For Deutica mate		•	Surger Breast at
		Sage Date of same	.:	and if such as			Part 1493 198
	273	Logo cytte - 18 pare	5	r for southca sale			
		Sage resta 131 pere	5	r tel paper (a tar	-1	•	
	." 1						

			-		•	ternet Bacase	
	town of the	100 × 1	transf		Organ	a Test	
	6	Canbbar b			Reference .	Sector .	
		2 Y 2 Y 2 Y 2 Y 2 Y 2 Y 2 Y 2 Y 2 Y 2 Y					
~	18 v 19'	Left	21	Entrage auffer property	99		
	1			Ann Marte States	•	¥ 1	Surface lands an indust
	73	Sage cylls at plan		free-linet State		7 1	Salars Baber ettel
	<i>r y</i>	Stage Cryster (10 plane		Ban Bar Stery	•	¥1	Sufatt Balles ablet
	1.3		76.7*	Fatt Barthatt Sales	38	¥1	Public Control and
	273	Sart contra . It's page	1001	Emandary calculations		¥1	
	273	Sage cycle: - 100 place	216	Far teaches and			
	273	Segte	196	Fun Boundes name		•.	
B	651	ta i		Barnun babit jutitert	99		and the branch that findet find
	4	Sage carter alle prese	177	Full Bagellacat Ballet			Laters have all a
	273	THE T AN LOUP AND	385	Bars-Bayler Balliny	1		Surface Same and
	273	Sign oytes, car car	100		i.	¥ 1	Surface Manage water
	273	Jugio Crystel, 111 press	MP	the state of the	6	¥1	Surface Sector and
	273		303	Eunestery calculations		¥ 1	Prints prove were
	273	Sante analisi - 28 piere	11	Fur Bouthest rades		*1	
	23	Segle cycles . [2] place	152	Fun theoretical nedal	30	• •	
w .,	*	Lapel	18.5	Gener bills prime	134		A mapping set of the
-	438		78		U		-
			r.		63		
wyBa						m 12 m 4.7	angeger a caller
Tabus this	Ð	Paula	A 3				
Sector 6	8	Parate	210 to 215		64	m12m42	
Bally sharts	8	Partition	137			n-12 m-42	tuntaritit de t Bagdand
	25	Patalan			•••		
**		Lan	68	lane tu	•		62 47 221 640 - CP 16 7 62 7 3579 12
PB-,	30		130	Baselo	42	m 13	
-	Б		100	Bagettan	62	m 13	
	-		1.92		(1)	¥-3	6-1 17 -113 000 cm. 8-
760	m		239	Interpret consider		• 1	
			(1)	free and and and all a substitute	в	w 2 ?	
PM6	. 23	Sage cystel, - 100-plane			11	n 11	
(and	1 273-	Segle Criste - 110 per	500		63		
	271	and a characteristic from					
		Land		Canada and a second			Surface Mexical addat
-	83	Sagte opene, 180 pene	366	Equality calculate		•1	Later Stor and
	773	Sagte syster - 180 piere	202		5	• 1	1. Apr. 6
	273	Sagte oydar. : CD pield		fer Benetice telle		• 1	
	11	State County - 1100 State					
	1.5	1.94		Constant Selfer Products			Surface they are abled
	273	Sagte ayate . 180 arpre	19	Eleventer columba			
	273	Sagte oyeld - 300- peak				B 4	
	273	Sagle cyllin . 10: part	77	- fan bautbes aut		•	
	713	New Orless 11th Street	•				
-		Light	1.8	Barrays halfer pressure			Later Sector and
-	273	Sage cycle 180 met	Q	· (waaring cataland	30.44		
	271	Sage open 2 per	v				
	81	Tagte optim 18 plane	-		-		
				i the same balles pressure	-		
•				town water		• 1	Lang balan and
	273	Same crater - 184 plant	13	For Shart to make	2		
	73	Sage crete . 10 stat		r fp. Jouthes tol		• 1	
	273	Sugar cyclat -138 pase	7				
1 ,	147	Land	4	T 1	10		
,			1	23	94		
-	1990) - San San Maria - Mari					1 H H H H H H	

•

			Series			Breast Danas or	
	Terrer and	Caller-at	f mm *		0-entr	a Test	
Mart a		Canthar®		ii		lactor	formeries
94-0);	5	Paula	340		L)	W13W43	Congenerat Scholer winders of version suite Otherholes
	_			(
ĩ	5	Single cysta - 111 piane Single cysta - 100 piane	1256 2.34	Calculated Inco Heavits on 1111 price, discovery biggers missioned	121	n 2 1	
	.5	Singhe civitia (33) preme	15 28	Carcillated from engility on prese, statutioning second	**	(9-2-1	
	36	Segre cystar 111 piant	1746	Buder carb teve	N	P# 2-1	Teadincy & Jaco benching and difficulty in reported derivers
	213	Sage cysta -111 page	₩/	Carculate has stanks constants	31	ry 2.2	
	273	Sage cyster 110 parts	1274	Calculated from elastic constants	31	ny 24 m 23	
n >{	2.3	Server cryster - 120 server	ine Annens		ند	¥ 2	
		Segre cyster 110 cum	San Francis	State as grante	5	¥ 2	Annue une - 1 300 6567 T- au Bi
	100	Segre cryster (34) pase	X 34		53	¥ 2	,
5 AL	ъ	-	21.90	Tan of hitter	69	N# 2 3	we want to a set the stategy series
×0;		ployalignetic - 110-plote	Ser Renans		ų	¥ 2	- Minner and 1 18 1257 7 481
		Borgetable - 18 part	the Reapon		53	¥-2	Annual and 1 68 1157 Tong Ba
	100 - 11	. •	37	200 4 Aug			5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
	17.34	Land			ม	¥ :	. [™] . 65° 1. T 000 ^{1.2}
	1004	dies staden in 110 tors			41	. .7	L ·
	348	Lend Pars	3	Estantion for die grim.	•1	••	
	1 500	Anerghant Fears	790	File Capital	2.115	-• 26	Be affect of the By it will also
	a	Patycoyalaniae			1.	PP 2.8	
	а #		1		1.00	10210041 m.1021187	Banning for the set of the set of the
			-				
				faits of heating	- R	W23m41	Baserie as forcion of adversity pressure
	5	Segre cysto . Ut pase BDP2	¥4	Daubre care mus	5	n 2 :	
	3	Sager cryster (12): prese Galetz	41	Dager cart-mar	7	ry 1	Bail age user
	5	Single caysto alla pare	1 44	Buder cast the	3	rei.	
	3	Singhe cryster - 32 30 piece guarda	N EAL	Bude can nor	B	r# 11	
	5 5	Name El, proce sur Anather SO, 614	44" 2 38		•. •1	ne321942 ne32ne42	Tanin's al anti- Tanin's a anti-
		America S.D. H.A.			•:	212942	
						~ ` ` `	
	3 8	Anno MAANTER AN	136		6.	m12m42	
	5	.arte pante		Cruthing	1.9.9	re 2.4	For the unger that to engenments and
	*1		76				
	42		•	Bude cat une	12	·• 2 ·	
	*		4964	Boate cart war	11.	AN 2 1	
Sec :	X		¢' I		83	• }	ang dT = 1.35 gans ca =0. √ 153 c. T. 1000 ^{1,2}
<u>.</u>	5		4.	fault for the second	. 9	#3#3.42	far periar canterbal-an to surface annego san families (5
54.	:3 23	and the state of the state	14 P 01 P	For boundary and Examples considered	28 45 28 97	•	
9 :		Lange cardina and areas	196 796	Innange car commission	N.	6 J	
	9° 6					•.	
	•						
· · · ·	N				۰.	• .	

			Sur ter			Retrief Discussion	
	"man all of "	Nor a	times (p d up	e Test	
		. and 1 and 7	And pr cm		STREET, F	Sec Y-un	(pages)
19	!	Segre cristal - 100 plane	-	Exemples Includent	•	۰.	
570	21 1	Sage "ris 138 page	, NG	E-maintaine - anca sub ans		1	
TaC	1300		.91 - 90	Statege ca carege an	•:	¥ 3	
10.	SER W LINE		13	Cantant angula	**	18 J L II 4 L	
•		Serve control	154	For Brankin and	34	¥ .	
	7)		28. 28	bergris constant	s.	z ;	
۲.8.	and to Link	Projecty Mathine	<u>.</u>	Cantal * angré	¥	(w.3.1.(s.4.2)	Singre liquid cantact angle revailured as Sunch an 2° benjarature
17			1.004	Second of contract, and	4.	• •	
	100 to 1300	Parychysterione	29 19	Canact argues	ĥ	n 3 . n 47	Same method as for Y By
14	100 to 130	Palacevillanee	.n	Context angle	S	183.1942	Spec network to 1.8
۲	•	Single crystar - 130-page	See Remarks	Sector and Approxim	21	• 2	Bannar and a US 2017 Tage
		Single crystal. Lab prace	Se Reats		53	۰:	Amapine of Millin's Mills
	1 Mile	Segre caystal 118-page	385	Lines- ung aperate	53	• 1	
	8		S.	Sanating property	1.30	m 3 m 3 2 4 2	23-10 + August
	5-	Andrew parties in an	-	nd i anno	.	W324289	Harrist a sala
	3	Note process	40 5 60		6 1	m324243	Harden and the second s
	,			Speaker press	<u>14</u>	10 3 70 3 L 4 2	water press
			18 1	Sunday anno		m 1m 114.	10 1 + 1 mm
	23	Segre crystal - 130 pears	3424	Calculated from statistic constants	.1	m::	
×	1989		348 - 39		6:	• F	
	2136	unint .		less-e des			
		and a statistical	add - 56	Conduct Annual	21.17	m E . m 41	
			447.11	"Contart and a set	4.1	n 1 m 42	
	.,				~		
	73	Sage cyste - 111 pipe	1001**	fur beuten einer		۰.	
×	1100		87-10	ines provident	6.	• 3	
aca			1		•	n (1)	
240	1300	L	2		63	٠	
				Cartest maters		▶ 1 4.	
				Ban of Sector	*	19.1	
	. т .		đ	anatures contant	e*	••	This wave is allowed as such by the fit of the second
		Louis income 110 come		Considered have marked a market	N I.	1	
-	5		i i i p	Cushing	> # #	• *	Sa hai inge
N	138		HE - 78		s .	• :	
20;		Parachyllenie	98	Senampe (# 10000but	K ()	a 1 nadada e	nc uate gran building affects
	Б	Page parties sat	-8		,	⇒F. ∎4.	ander gef 🗠 ander
	5	Ling Parallel genice sur-			۰.	16 ¹ 8 4 .	
	1	÷	N' 14			• •	Assert by I'

Footnotes for Table 5

- (a) The temperatures in parentheses are presumed the temperatures of the determination, as indicated by the method used.
- (b) The surface tension of some molten ceramics (fused saits) at or near their melting point is included, where no Glaes information is as slable or where the relation to solid surface energy might be of interest. See also Appendix C, Table C-1.
- (c) Values marked with an asterisk (*) are believed to be particularly accurate for the experimental conditions, where this judgment has, for the most part, been made by other investigators. The absence of a value so designated should not be interpreted as meaning that no jable is reliable.
- (d) The dihedral angle measurement usually involves the geometry shown in the accompanying figure, in which a grain boundary is taken as perpendicular to the surface. The $\dot{\psi}$, can develop, in which case the solid surface energy is taken to be $\dot{\psi}_{S} = 2 \gamma_{SA}$ cos $\dot{\psi}/2 = \gamma_{SA}$ is the interface energy between the solid and the appropriate atmosphere (liquid, vapor, or gas).



FIGURE 22. DIHEDRAL ANGLE GEOMETRY

(e) The somewhat lower value given here is not completely representative of the system under consideration, inamuch as the composition quoted by King⁽⁵¹⁾ is said to be CaO-Al₂O₃-SiO₂. The argument given states, in effect, that the lower value is the result of migration of a low-energy component in this liquid species. It is also noteworthy that the solution of the MgD component would not necessarily achieve the same end, since the liquid MgD has a surface tension not too dissimilar from that quoted in this citation. Of course, since MgD has a higher meting point, live inclusion of MgD in the mineral geblinite is expected to raise the surface tension. Hence, qualitative arguments would suggest that the absence of MgD would, on the average, produce a material with lower surface tension at a given tension.

VI-2. The Surface Energy of Glasses

In the preceding tabulation and discussion of the surface energy of solids, we have purposely omitted consideration of the properties of glasses. At this point, it is well to consider some of the difficulties that might be expected, not so much in the measurement of surface energy but in the interpretation of experimental results. One basic difference between glasses and crystalline materials relates in the comparative difficulties in such measurement and interpretation. For the most part, glasses are elastically isotropic and, over the temperature range where they are brittle, lend themselves to a straightforward phenomenological analysis of fracture energies, surface energies, etc. However, the structure of glass, on an atomic scale, is such that no fundamental calculations are possible on the basis of atomic arrangements, lattice distortion near the surface, and similar considerations.

ł

I

i

Î

On the other hand, while crystalline materials may be investigated rigorously (as was the case with Benson's theoretical work⁽¹⁸⁾, certain difficulties are encountered in the analysis of experimental work where crystalline anisotropies must be taken into account.

Two particular aspects of the surface energies of glasses should be touched upon; namely, the surface energies of solid glasses and the surface tension of liquid glasses. The first of these has been covered in some detail by the recent work of Wiederhorn⁽¹¹⁷⁾, who included considerable review work along with his recent original findings. This contribution should be coupled with the paper by Mould⁽⁹⁾, who discussed many details of the fracture of glass. Inasmuch as these other papers are fairly self-contained, we shall not discuss solid glasses further at this point, but will include, on the following pages, representative samples of data on various glass systems.

The second point, the surface tensions of liquid glasses, should be mentioned briefly here, and further reference will be made in the following table. There is a considerable body of data available on the surface tensions and contact angles of a number of different glasses, many of these being mixtures of many (perhaps five or more) different compounds, such as SiO2, B2O3, Na2O, P2O5, K2O. In addition, much work has been done on the surface tension and viscosity of the liquid phases used in enameling, where these are similarly composed of multiple compounds. Such data can be of exceeding importance in correlative studies of the surface energies of solids if sufficient reliable information is available for these comparisons. One of the more useful tools (if it is, indeed, applicable) lies in the use of Bruce's correlations.²⁴⁾ of the liquid surface tension, the critical temperature, the surface energy at absolute zero and the temperature coefficient of the surface energies of both the liquid and solid state. The use of this technique depends, of course, on the degree to which one can define and use the critical temperature as a meaningful parameter particularly when applied to a mixture of liquids and on the availability of reliable data on the temperature dependence of the liquid surface tension

For single liquid oxides, such data can be obtaired from the literature (in some cases) by extrapolation of the results reported for mixtures, thereby achieving relatively reliable end-point values of surface tensions as a function of temperature.

The data collected for the surface tensions of liquids and their mixtures also has great applicability in the use of the Zisman-Eberhart technique for determining the surface energy of selected solids, particularly at temperatures where more "conventional" liquids cannot be used.

Table 7 lists the surface energies of various glasses. Surface energy is best characterized in soda-lime glass, particularly because of the work of Wiederhorn⁽²⁵⁾, who undertook a rather thorough study on the surface energy of it. He investigated, in some detail, the effects of various atmospheres on crack velocities and acceleration, using the relations defined in Equations (27) and (28). The most probable value, as measured by crack propagation techniques at -396 C, is given as 3200 dyne per cm, as measured in a nitrogen atmosphere.

Re mades	Similar to experiments by Wasterhorn ⁽¹¹⁷⁾	Coming 0041 C-miling 0041	Coming 7740 Coming 7740	Coming 1720 Coming 1720	V acuem environment V acuem cavigorement M ₂ O environment	Umpecified conditions of experiment and compou- tion of materials; early works referenced in Polymour (23).	(prist) den (jund)	Liquid, NGS laad gaw (F 730/21.7) Liquid, NGS barium gaw (BaC 617/55.0)	Liquid. NBs soch burges glass (LC 5125/50.5), d _{Y L} /dT = -0.05 dyna per cm	Coming 7913 Coming 7913	Nitrogra at morphere	: :	In woment we Wisderhound ⁽¹¹⁶⁾ for specifics		:	:		sods-lime-ulice glass. No effect observed with M2. N2. He. is try as atmosphere: (XD2 lowers enargy ulightly: SD2 and M20 have mathed effect
Reference	7	111	117	51	2, 12 123 123	33	2 :	3 2	5	117	111	111	36	32	32	33	117	8
Method	Motified edge cards beed specimen	Double cantilever Double cantilever	Double castilerer Double castilerer	Double cartile we Double cartile we	Fiber elongation Cack propagation Creck propagation	::	:	::	:	Double castile var Double castile var	Double castile ver	Double cantulater	Double cautile ver	Strain energy release	Compliance	Work of Becture	:	Fiber Aress
Surface Brangy. dynes pur con	3400-5200	3600 4110	4150 4800	4650 5210	210 1210 2002	1214 540	016	218.4	261.6	4000 4170	3620		0.909	000 :	0096	€ -6 00ri	0005	.) 16
Temperature. G	25	25 19	25 -196	25 -1 96	400 to 700 20 20		1 000	00011	1300	25 -196	25	K 9	25	32	25	55	25	45 0 to 700
Type of Glan	Plate Glass	High Lead tolars	Boroulicate Glass	Aluminoulicate Class	Lead D uil icate Glass	" (j lan " (a)				Vycat	soda -lime							

(a) The entry "glave is used in the heradest sense here in referring to materials which are, generically glaves but for which no further specifications are available, except as noted

•

•

•

TABLE 1. SURFACE ENGICIDES OF VARIOUS GLASSES

1

i

VII. CONCLUSIONS

In the text and tables, we have attempted to summarize the available information on the surface energies of ceramics, and have found that much research is needed in order to provide a reasonably definitive collection of ceramic surface energy data.

Among the possible routes for advancement in this field, the following are recommended:

(1) Crack propagation experiments. The methods that have been developed and expanded by Gilman^[20] and Westwood^[21] et al., are presently applicable to a large number of materials over a temperature range where the specimens are brittle. However, where a certain degree of plasticity is involved, such as with either mobile or maneuverable dislocations, the analysis used by these authors breaks down. There are, quite generally, several different though related factors that must be included in the criterion as to whether brittle fracture occurs, among which one of the more important is consideration of the dislocation velocity along selected crystallographic planes at a given temperature. In those cases where the crack tip velocity is much greater than the dislocation velocity (either in normal glide or in climb), the material can be considered brittle and the standard analysis may be used. However, this condition may not be reached under controlled conditions at higher temperatures. It is then necessary to either develop inproved experimental techniques for effecting high-speed fracture, or to develop more nearly exact theories of fracture that will accomodate ductile materials. One must use caution, however, ir expending too great an effort at attempting to define and derive the necessary correction factors, inasmuch as one may rapidly reach the point where the resultant surface energy is inaccurately determined as a small difference between large terms.

(2) Thermodynamic interface experiments. It is well to recall the general problem of the use and interpretation of experiments that rely upon the properties of the solid surface in question in contact with a different phase or material. Earlier, the point was raised that the total surface energy is a summation of contributions from different types of interactions, i.e., coulombic forces, dispersion forces, metallic and ionic bonding, hydrogen bonding, and the like. Both Weyl and Fowkes have given qualitative arguments that suggest that, in the interaction between two distinct species, each having different degrees of several of these components, the total interaction will depend only upon the degree to which <u>similar</u> components are present. That is to say, if one material has a surface energy which is totally a result of dispersion and metallic forces and if the other is a result of dispersion and ionic forces, then the iotel interaction between these two would depend only upon the interaction of dispersion forces; the remaining contributions to the surface energy would be unatlected by juxtaposition.

As of the present writing, there has been no di-tinct quantitative argument forwarded to support this hypothesis. However, one can go somewhat further in the qualitative analysis by considering a simplified mode, for electronic interactions between, for example, a metal and a (defect) ceramic. In the case where the metal is situated in a vacuum, the surface energy will be a total of contributions from dispersion forces and the metallic bonding forces which are inherent to the material, in addition to any component deriving from the free (conduction) electrons. The juxtaposition of a highly insulating material provides other atoms and/or molecules which will interact via dispersion forces, however, there are no corresponding metallic-force electrons' or conduction electrons available for additional interactions and the placement of the insulator does not materially affect the electron cloud distributions of the metal, the former being essentially no different from the vacuum state. Hence, one would not expect significant interactions between the two materials over those due only to dispersion forces.

On the ot.-v hand, as the defect concentration of the insulator increases (toward the semiconducting state), free electrons are made available in a density corresponding to the defect concentration. Fermi levels, temperature, etc., which can interact with the free electrons of the metal. Hence, the electronic contribution to interfacial phenomena will increase. (It is noted, of course, that defects in sufficient density will reduce the dispersion force component of the total surface energy, so that one can expect an inflection in a hypothetical plot of total interaction energy versus defect concentration. Similarly, interdiffusion of components will be a function of the defect concentration of the insulato? material and one should expect a time dependence for the total interaction energy. To this author's knowledge, no detailed investigation of these phenomena has been undertaken.)

Generally speaking, the most serious limitation to the use of thermodyn_mic property measurements for surface energy determinations lies in the paucity of informatics on the various contributions to the total surface energy. It is suggested that sel/cted experiments can be performed where, through appropriate choices of wellcharacterized materials, one may be able to measure or reduce the individual comjonents of the surface energy.

More specifically, the use of "homologous series" of liquids for the performance of the Zisman-Eberhart experiments should be evaluated. It is apparent that this .echnique offers considerable promise for the measurement of surface energies provided that the materials chosen conform rigidly to the constraints that must be imposed. Since there is already a vast amount of data available on the surface tensions of binary and higher order liquid mixtures as functions of composition and temperature, it seems most natural that this would provide an excellent starting point for the determination of critical surface tensions, and the concomitant derivation of the surface energy of the substrate, particularly at "high" temperatures. This is especially attractive as a tool for the further study of surface energies at temperatures where ductility nature of the material precludes the application of the cleavage technique.

(3) Empirical Approaches. Although the semi-empirical techniques, as accredited to Bruce^[53], are seriously lacking in fundamental justification, it is apparent that they may be quite useful in estimating surface energies of a number of untested materials, provided that sufficiently accurate data may be obtained on the physical properties which enter the analysis. In addition, there is an obvious need for continuing effort on the development of meaningful correlation; not only those that seem to give approximate answers but also those in which a reasonable phenomenological basis for the correlation can be established on theoretical grounds.

REFERENCES

- (1) For a review of work on the critical angles of wetting, see Zisman, W. A., "init: ence of Constitution on Adhesion", Ind. Eng. Chem., 55, 19 (1963).
- (2) Parikh, N. M., "Effect of Atmosphere on the Surface Energy of Glass", J. Am. Ceram. Soc., 41, 18 (1956).
- (3) Morey, G. W., Properties of Glass, Second Edition, American Chen.ical Society Monograph No. 124, Reinhold Publishing Company, New York (1954).
- (4) Boni, R. E. and Derge, G., "Surface Tension of Silicates", J. Metals, 8, 53 (1956).
- (5) Kantro, D. L. Brunauer, S., and Copeland, L. E., "BET Surface Areas -Method's and Interpretations", in <u>The Gas-Solid Interface</u>, Edited by E. A. Flood, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York (1967), p 413 ff.
- (6) Shuttleworth, R., "The Surface Tension of Solids", Proc. Phys. Soc. (London), A63, 444 (1950).
- (7) Johnson, R. E., Jr., "Conflicts Between Gibbsian Thermodynamics and Recent Treatments of Interfacial Energies in Solid-Liquid-Vapor Systems", J. Phys. Chem., 63, 1655 (1959)
- (8) Gregg, S. J., <u>The Surface Energy of Solids</u>, Reinhold Publishing Co., New York (1961).
- (9) Mould, R. E., "The Strength of Inorganic Glasses", in <u>Fundamental Phenomena</u> in the Materials Sciences, Volume IV: <u>Fracture</u>, Edited by L. J. Bonis, J. J. Duga, and J. J. Gilman, Plenum Press, New York (1967), p 119 ff.
- (10) Stokes, R. J., "Fracture of Ceramics", in <u>Fundamental Phenor ena in the</u> <u>Material Sciences, Volume IV: Fracture</u>, <u>Edited by L. J. Bonis</u>, J. J. Duga and J. J. Gilman, Plenum Press, New York (1967), p 151 ff.
- (11) Sharpe, L. H., and Schonhorn, H., "Surface Energetics, Adhesion, and Adhesive Joints", Advan. Chem. Ser., 43, 189 (1964).
- (12) See, for example, Bikerman, J. J., <u>The Science of Adhesive Joints</u>, Academic Press, New York (1962), p 125 ff.
- (13) Weyl, W. A., "Partial Surface Energies, the Key to Adhesion", Bull. Am. Ceram. Soc., 45, 433 (1966).
- (14) Fowkes, F. M., "Dispersion Force Contributions to Surface and Interfacial Tensions, Contact Angles, and Heats of Immersion", Advan. Chem. Ser., 43, 99 (1964); also "The Relation of the Attractive Forces at Interfaces to Wetting, Spreading, Adsorption, and Long-Range Attractive Forces", in <u>Fundamental</u> <u>Phenomena in the Materials Sciences, Volume 11</u>; Surfaces, Edited by L. J. Bonis and H. H. Hauser, Plenum Press, New York (1965), p 139 ff.

- (15) Fowkes, F. M., "Intermolecular and Interatomic Forces at Interfaces", in <u>Surfaces and interfaces I</u>, Edited by J. J. Burke, N. L. Reed and V. Weiss, Syracuse University Press, Syracuse, New York (1967), Chapter 8.
- (16) Partington, J. R., An Advanced Treatise on Physical Chemistry, Volume III, Longmans, Green & Co., London (1952), p 242 ff.
- (17) Bikerman, J. J., "Surface Energy of Solids", Phys. Stat. Solidi, 10, 3 (1965).
- (18) Benson, G. C. and Yun, K. S., "Surface Energy and Surface Tension of Crystalline Solids", in <u>The Gas-Solid Interface</u>, Edited by E. A. Flood, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York (1967), pp 203-269.
- (19) Obreimoff, J. W., "The Splitting Strength of Mica", Proc. Roy. Soc. (London), A127, 290 (1930).
- (20) Gilman, J. J., "Direct Measurements of the Surface Energies of Crystals", J. Appl. Phys., <u>31</u>, 2208 (1960).
- (21) Westwood, A.R.C. and Hitch, T. T., "Surface Energy of (100) Potassium Chloride", J. Appl. Phys., <u>34</u>, 3085 (1963).
- (22) Gillis, P. P., "Surface Energy Determinations by Cleavage", J. Appl. Phys., 36, 1374 (1965).
- (23) Westwood, A. R. C. and Goldheim, D. L., "Cleavage Surface Energy of {100} Magnesium Oxide", J. input. Phys.; 34, 3336 (1963).
- (24) Berry, J. P., "Some Kinetic Considerations of the Griffith Criterion for Fracture.
 I. Equations of Motion at Constant Force.", J. Mech. Phys. Solids, 8, 194 (1960).
- (25) Wiederhorn, S. M., "Fracture Surface Energy of Soda-Lime Glass", in <u>Materials</u> <u>Science Research, Volume III: The Role of Grain Boundaries and Surfaces in</u> <u>Ceramics</u>, Edited by W. W. Kriegel and H. Palmour, III, Plenum Press, New York (1966), pp 503-528.
- (26) Orowan, E., "The Tensile Strength of Mica and the Problem of the Technical Strength", Z. Physik., <u>82</u>, 235 (1933).
- (27) Bryant, P. J., Taylor, L. H., and Gutshall, P. L., "Cleavage Studies of Lamellar Solids in Various Gas Environments", in <u>Transactions of the Tenth National Vacuum</u> Symposium (1963), pp 21-26.
- (2b) Gregg, S. J., "The Surface of Solids and its Significance for Industry and in the Laboratory", Silicates Ind., 25, 283 (1960).
- (29) Brace. W. F. and Walsh, J. B., "Some Direct Measurements of the Surface Energy of Quartz and Orthoclase", Amer. Mineralogist, 47, 1111 (1962).
- (30) Bowden, F. P., "The Nature and Topography of Solid Surfaces and the Study of Von Der Waals Forces in Their Immediate Vicinity: The Surface Decomposition of Solids", in <u>Fundamentals of Gas-Surface Interactions</u>, Edited by H. Saltzberg, J. N. Smith and M. Rogers, Academic Press, New York (1967), p 12.

- (31) Gilman, J. J., "Cleavage, Ductility, and Tenacity in Crystals", in <u>Fracture</u>, Edited by B. L. Averbach, et al., Technology Press, MIT, and John Wiley & Sons, New York (1960), pp 193-225.
- (32) Davidge, R. W. and Tappin, G., "The Effective Surface Energy of Brittle Materials", J. Mater. Sci., 3, 165 (1968).
- (33) Srawley, J. E. and Brown, W. F., "Fracture Toughness Testing and its Application", NASA, TMX-52030 (1964).
- (34) Nakayama, J., "Direct Measurement of Fracture Energies of Brittle Heterogeneous Materials", J. Am. Ceram. Soc., 48, 583 (1965).
- (35) Berdennikov, W. P., "Messung der Oberflachenspannung von Festern Korpern", Soviet Phys. Z. S., 4, 397 (1933); Summary by Kusnetsov, Reference (35); Corrections in Reference (25).
- (36) Kusnetsov, V. D., <u>Surface Energy of Solids</u>, Her Majesty's Stationary Office, London (1957).
- (37) Kwong, J. N.S., Adams, J. T., Jr., Johnson, J. F., and Piret, E. L., "Energy -New Surface Relation in the Crushing of Solids: I. Application of Permeability Methods to an investigation of the Crushing of Some Brittle Solids", Chem. Fing. Prog., 45, 508 (1947).
- (38) Adams, J. T., Jr., Johnson, J. F., and Pirct, E. L., "Energy New Surface Relation in the Grashing of Solids: II. Application of Permeability Measurements to an Investigation of the Crushing of Halite", ibid., p 655.
- (39) Johnson, J. F., Azelson, J., and Piret, Z. L., "Energy New Surface Relation in the Crushing of Solids: III. Application of Gas Adsorption Measurements to an Investigation of the Crushing of Quartz", ibid., p 708.
- (40) Maringer, R. E., "Etch Pitting on Sing'e Crystal InSb", J. Appl. Phys., 29, 1261 (1958).
- (41) Gatos, H. C., Finn. M. C., and Lavine, M. C., "Antimony Edge Dislocations in inSb", J. Appl. Phys., 32, 1174 (1961).
- (42) Gatos, H. C., "Dangling Bonds in III-V Compounds", ibid., p 1232.
- (43) Gatos, H. C., Strauss, A. J., Lavine, M. C., and Harmon, T. C., "Inspurity Striations in Unrotated Crystals of InSb", ibid., p 2057.
- (44) Faust, J. W., Jr., Private Communication.
- (45) Cahn, J. W. and Hanneman, R. E., "(111) Surface Tensions of III-V Compounds and Their Relationship to Spontaneous Bending of Thin Crystals", Surface Sci., 1, 387 (1964).
- (46) Fiun, M. C. and Gatos, H. C., "Spontaneous Bending of Thin (III) Crystals of III-V Compounds", Surface Sci., 1, 361 (1964).

- (47) Udin, H., Shaler, A. J., and Wulff, J., "The Surface Tension of Solid Copper", J. Metals, i, 186 (1949).
- (48) Macolson, M. M., "Surface Tension in Ionic Crystals", Proc. Roy. Soc., 228A, 490 (1955).
- (49) Eberhart, J. G., "The Critical Surface Tension of Sapphire", J. Phys. Chem. 71, 4125 (1967).

t

ļ

- (50) Rhee, S. K., "Surface Tension and Interactions of Liouid Aluminum With Ceramics", Bull. Am. Corom. Soc., 47, 745 (1968).
- (51) King, T. E., "The Surface Tension and Structure of Silicate Slags", Trans. Soc. Glass Tech., <u>35</u>, 241 (1951).
- (52) Korskumich, P., "Surface Traision and Viscosly of Artificial Slags", Rev. Met. (Paris), <u>46</u>, 505, 572 (1949).
- (53) Bruce, R. H., "Aspects of the Surface Energy of Ceramics: 1. Calculation of Surfart Free Energies; II. Calculation of the Average Surface Free Energy and the Effects of Some Variables", in Science of Ceramics, Volume 2, Edited by G. H. Stewart, Academic Press, London (1965), pp 359, 368.
- (54) Mitra, S. S. and Sanyal, N. K., "Surface Tension-Temperature Relationship", J. Chem. Phys., 23, 1737 (1955).
- (55) Bowden, S. T., "Variation of Surface Tension and Heat of Vaporisation With Temperature", J. Chem. Phys., 23, 2454 (1955); see also Reference (54).
- (56) Berghausen, P. E., Good, R. J., Kraus, G., Podolsky, B., and Soller, W., "Fundamental Studies of the Adhesion of Ice to Solids", WADC-TR-55-44 (1935).
- (57) Lester, G. R., "Contact Angles of Liquide at Deformable Solid Surfaces", J. Coll Sci., <u>16</u>, 315 (1961).
- (58) Good, R. J., Girifalco, L. A., and Kraus, G., "A Theory for Estimation of Interfacial Energies. II. Application to Surface Thermodynamics of Teflor and Graphite", J. Phys. Chem., 62, 1418 (1958).
- (59) Girifalco, L. A. and Good, R. J., "A Theory for the Estimation of Surface and Interfacial Energies. I. Derivation and Application to Interfacial Tension", J. Chem. Phys., <u>61</u>, 904 (1957); "III. Estimation of Surface Energies of Solids From Contact Angle Data", ibid., <u>64</u>, 561 (1960).
- (60) Fowler, R. and Guggenheim, <u>Statistical Thermodynamics</u>, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1949), p 445 ff.
- (61) Zettlemoyer, A. C., "Immersional Wetting of Solid Surfaces", Ind. Eng. Chem., 57 (2), 27 (1965).

- (62) Freundlich, H., <u>Kapillarchemie</u>, <u>Volume 1</u>, Fourth Edition, Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft M. B. H., Leipzig (1930), p 218.
- (63) Balk, P. and Benson, G. C., "Calorimetric Determination of the Surface Enthalpy of Potassium Chloride", J. Phys. Chem., 63, 1009 (1959).
- (64) Brooks, C. S., "Free Energies of Immersion for Clay Minerals in Water, Ethanol, and n-Heptane", J. Phys. Chem., <u>64</u>, 532 (1960).
- (65) deBruyn, F. L., "Some Aspects of Classical Surface Thermodynamics", in <u>Fundamental Phenomena in the Material Sciences, Volume III: Surface Phenomena,</u> Edited by L. J. Bonis, P. L. deBruyn, and J. J. Duga, Plenum Press, New York (1966), pp 1-3⁷.
- (66) Hirschfelder, J. O., Curtiss, C. G., and Bird, R. B., <u>Molecular Theory of Gases</u> and Liquids, John Wiley & Sons, New York (1954), p 351.
- (67) Marian, J. E., "Surface Texture in Relation to Adhesive Bonding", ASTM Materials Science Series - 4, ASTM Special Publication No. 340, p 122 (1963).
- (68) Gutshall, P. L., and Gross, G. E., "Observations and Mechanisms of Fracture in Polycrystalline Alumina", in <u>Proceedings of the National Symposium on Fracture</u> Mechanics, Lehigh University (1967), to be published.
- (69) Clarke, F.J.P., Tattersall, H. G., and "appin, G., "Toughness of Ceramics and Their Work of Fracture", Brit. Ceram. Soc. Proc., 6, 163 (1966).
- (70) Lennard-Jones, J. E. and Dent, B. M., "Cohesion at a Crystal Surface", Proc. Roy. Soc. (London), <u>A121</u>, 247 (1928).
- (71) Huggins, M. L. and Mayer, J. E., "Interatomic Distances in Crystals of the Alkali Halides", J. Chem. Phys., 1, 643 (1933).
- (72) Zadumkin, S. N. and Khulamkhanov, V. Kh., "A Simple Method of Calculating the Surface Energy of Ionic Crystals", Soviet Phys. -Solid State, English Transl., 5, 31 (1963).
- (73) Walton, A. G., "Calculation of Ionic Crystal Surface Emergies From Thermodynamic Data", J. Am. Ceram. Soc., <u>48</u>, 151 (1965).
- (74) See, for example, the recent review by Morabito, J. M. and Schworjai, G. A., "Low Energy Electron Diffraction: The Techniques and Its Application to Metallurgical Science", J. Metals, 20 (5), 17 (1968).
- (75) See, for example, Weyl, W. A., in <u>Structure and Properties of Solid Surfaces</u>, Edited by R. Gomer, and C. S. Smith, University of Chicago Press, Chicago (1953), pp 147-184.
- (76) Fowkes, F., "Attractive Forces at Interfaces", Ind. Eng. Chem., 56 (12), 40 (1964).

- (77) Friedei, J., Cullity, B. D., and Crussard, C., "The Surface Tension of a Grain Boundary in a Metal as a Function of the Orientation of the Two Grains Which the Boundary Separates", Acta Met., 1, 79 (1953).
- (78) McLeod, D. B., "On a Relation Between Surface Tension and Density", Trans. Faraday Soc., 19, 38 (1923).
- (79) Siuta, V. P. and Belicki, M.; "Development of a Corrosion Resistant Magnesium Alloy. Fart II. Surface Tension Data of Elements", WADC Technical Report 57-241 (1957).
- (80) Sikorski, M. E., "Correlation of the Coefficient of Adhesion With Various Physical and Mechanical Properties of Metals", J. Basic Eng., 85, 279 (1963).
- (81) Sikorski, M. E. and Courtney-Pratt, J. S., "Adhesion of Rare Earth Metals", Amer. Soc. Lub. Engrs. Preprint 63 LC-16 (1963).
- (82) Livey, D. T. and Murray, P., "Surface Energies of Solid Oxides and Carbides", J. Am. Ceram. Soc., 39, 363 (1956).
- (83) Bondi, A., "The Spreading of Liquid Metals on Solid Surfaces", Chem. Rev., 52 (2), 417 (1953).
- (84) Kingery, W. D., "Surface Tension of Liquid Oxides and Their Temperature Coefficients", J. Am. Ceram. Soc., <u>42</u>, 6 (1959).
- (85) Kingery, W. D., "Role of Surface Energies and Wetting in Motal-Ceramic Sealing", Bull. Am. Ceram. Soc., 35, 108 (1956).
- (86) Parkins, R. N., Armour Research Foundation (IITRI), Report ASD-TR-61-628, Part II (April, 1963).
- (87) Kingery, W. D., "Metal-Ceramic Interactions: IV. Absolute Measurement of Metal-Ceramic Interfacial Energy and the Interfacial Adsorption of Silicon From Iro--Silicon Alloys", J. Am. Ceram. Soc., <u>37</u>, 42 (1954).
- (88) Fricke, R., "Uber die Feinstruktur von Festkorpern mit Bauelementen kolloider Grosse und Deren Physikalische und Chemische Eigenschaften", Kollc.J-Z, <u>96</u>, 213 (1941).
- (89) Ryshkewitch, E., Oxide Ceramics: Physical Chemistry and Technology, Academic Press, New York (1960), p 169.
- (90) Wiederhorn, S. M. (Unpublished).
- (91) Petch, N. J., Congleton, J., Hardie, D., and Perkins, R. N., "Study of the R-1444 Rehaviour of Ceramic Materials: Effect of Surface Energy', Technical Documentary Report No. ASD-TR-61-628, Parts I, II, and III (1961).

- (92) Robins, D. A., "Bonding in Carbides, Silicider, and Borides", Porder Met., 1/2, 172 (1958).
- (93) Bronsall, P. C., Dollimer, D., and Dollimer, J., "The Selective Effect of Adsorption on the Strength of Compacts of Various Oxides and Salts", Brit. Ceram. Soc. Proc., 6, 61 (1966).
- (94) Handbook of Chemistry, 10th Edition, Edited by N. A. Lange, McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York (1961), p 1648.
- (95) Benson, G. C. and Claxton, T. A., "Calculation of the Surface Energy of the {110} Face of Some Crystals Possessing the Fluorite Structure", Canad. J. Phys., 41, 1287 (1963).
- (96) Brunauer, S., Kantro, D. L., and Weise, C. H., "The Surface Energies of Calcium Oxide and Calcium Hydroxide", Canad. J. Chem., 34, 729 (1956).
- (97) Fricke, R., "Struktur und Verteilungsart Realer Festkorper und Kataylsatoren Sowie Deren Untersuchungsmethoden", in <u>Handbuch der Katalyse, Volume IV</u>, Edited by G. M. Schwab, Springer Verlag, Vienna (1943), p 1; also "On the Fine Structure of Solid Substances With Colloidal-Sized Particles and Their Physical and Chemical Properties", Koll. z., 36, 211 (1941).
- (98) G. E. Boyd, in <u>Surface Chemistry</u>, Edited by F. R. Moulton, Amer. A soc. Adv. Sci. Publication No. 21 (1943), p 128 ff.
- (99) Jaeger, F. M., "Temperature Variation of Molar Surface Free Energy of Liquids in the Temperature Range 80 to 1650 C", Z. Anorg. Allgem. Cham., 101, 1 (1917).
- (100) Jaccodine, R. J., "Surface Energy of Germanium and Silicon", J. Electrochem. Soc., <u>110</u>, 524 (1963).
- (101) Born, M. and Stern, O., "The Surface Energy of Crystals and Its Influence on Crystal Form", Sitzber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss., 48, 901 (1919).
- (102) Lennard-Jones, J. E. and Taylor, P. A., "Some Theoretical Calculations of the Physical Properties of Certain Crystals", Proc. Roy. Soc. (London), <u>A109</u>, 476 (1925).
- (103) Dent, B. M., "The Effect of Boundary Distortion on the Surface Energy of a Crystal", Phil. Mag., 8, 533 (1929).
- (104) van Zeggeren, F. and Benson, G. C., "Calculation of the Surface Emergies of Alkali Halide Crystals", J. Chem. Phys., 26, 1077 (1957).
- (105) van Zeggeren, F. and Benson, G. C., "The Quantum Mechanical Calculation of the Surface Energy of Sodium Chloride - A First Approximation", Canad. J. Phys., <u>34</u>, 985 (1956).
- (106) Benson, G. C., "Recalculation of the Surface Energies of Alkali Halide Crystals", J. Chem. Phys., 35, 2113 (1961).

- (107) Shockey, D. A. and Groves, G. W., "Effect of Water on Toughness of MgO Crystals", J. Am. Ceram. Soc., <u>51</u>, 299 (1968).
- (108) Gutshall, P. L. and Gross, G. E., "Clevage Surface Energies of NaCl and MgO in Vacuum", J. Appl. Phys., 36, 2459 (1965).
- (109) Jura, G. and Garland, C. W., "The Experimental Determination of the Surface Energy of Magnesium Oxide", J. Am. Chem. Soc., 74, 6033 (1952).
- (110) Boyd, G. E., "Some Aspects of the Properties of Solid Surfaces", in Surface Chemistry, Edited by F. R. Moulton, American Adv. Sci. Pub. No. 21 (1943), p. 128 ff.
- (111) Benson, G. C., Schreiber, H. P., and van Zeggeren, F., "Experimental Determination of the Surface Enthalpy of Sodium Chloride", Canad. J. Chem., <u>34</u>, 1553 (1956).
- (112) Lipsitt, A. G., Johnson, F. M. G., and Maas, O., J. Am. Chem. Soc., <u>49</u>, 1940 (1927); also ibid., <u>50</u>, 2071 (1928); see also Harkins, W. D., "Energy Relations of the Surface of Solids. I. Surface Energy of the Diamond", J. Chem. Phys. <u>10</u>, 268 (1942); Benson, G. C. and Benson, G. W., "Surface Energy of the Alkali Halides", Canad. J. Chem., 33, 232 (1955).
- (113) Ryasanteev, P. P. and Shcherbakov, L. M., "The Effect of Comminution on the Solubility and the Heat of Solution", Kolloid-Z., 21, 464 (1959).
- (114) Adamson, A. W., Physical Chemistry of Surfaces, Interscience, New York (1967), p 57.
- (1:5) Parikh, N. M., "Effect of Atmosphere on the Surface Tension of Glass at Low Temperature", Sc. D. Dissertation, Massachusetts Institute of Technology (1953).
- (116) Schellinger, A. K., "Solid Surface Energy and Colorimetric Determinations of Surface-Energy Relationships for Some Common Minerals", Mining Eng., 4, 369 (1952).
- (117) Wiederhorn, S. M., "Fracture of Ceramics", <u>Mechanical and Thermal Properties</u> of Ceramics, Edited by J. D. Wachtman, Jr., Natl. Bur. Std. Special Publication No. 303 (1969), p 217.
- (118) Boyd, G. E. and Livingston, H. K., "Adsorption and the Energy Changes at Crystalline Solid Surfaces", J. Am. Chem. Soc., <u>64</u>, 2483 (1942).
- (119) Basford, P. R. Harkins, W. D., and Twiss, S. B., "Effect of Temperature on the Adsorption of n-Decane on Iron", J. Phys. Chem., <u>58</u>, 307 (1954).
- (120) Jura, G. and Harkins, W. D., "Surfaces of Solids: XI. Determination of the Decrease of Free Surface Energy of a Solid by an Adsorbed Film", J. Am. Chem. Soc., 66, 1356 (1944).
- (121) Eberhart, J. G., "The Critical Surface Tension of Uranium Dioxide", J. Nucl. Mater., 25, 103 (1968).

85 and 86

- (122) Livey, D. T. and Murray, P., "The Wetting Properties of Solid Oxides and Carbides by Liquid Metals", in <u>Plansee Proceedings</u>, 1955, Edited by F. Benesovsky, Pergamon Press, Ltd., London (1956), p 375 ff.
- (123) Humenik, M. and Whalen, T. J., "Physicochemical Aspects of Cermets", in <u>Cermets</u>, Edited by J. R. Tinklepaugh, Reinhold Publishing Co., New York (1960), p 6 ff.
- (124) Beimuller, J., Z. Physik, 38, 759 (1936)
- (125) Glauberman, A. E., 'Theory of the Surface Energy of Heteropolar Crystals", Zh. Fiz. Khim, 23, 124 (1949).

APPENDIX A

APPLICATION OF TECHNIQUES

Table A-1 lists the various materials measured by the most commonly used experimental methods for determining solid surface energy. Table A-2 gives a similar listing for the use of theoretical methods.

Technique	M	sterials Measured	
Maximum bubble pressure and	A1,01	KBO,	NaCl
similar experiments on liquids	BO	KBr	NeF
	BiBr	KCI	Nal
	BiCl	KF	Na NO 1
	Caciz	KI	Natos
	CsBr	KOP	Na SOA
	C • Cl	i.azŐj	P205
	C+F	LiBOj	RbBr
	Csl	LiCl	RbC1
	C±2SO4	LiF	RbF
	C+NO3	LINO3	Rbl
	GeO2	LizSO4 NaBr	SnClz
Solubility and heat of solution	Ag- CrOA	CaSO4 2H2C	NaC1
	P.1203	CdO	Pblz
	BaSOA	CuO	PbF2
	CaF,	Fe,O,	Sb, O,
	CaO	ксі́	SiÔz
	CaOH	MgO	SrSOA
		Mg(OH)2	•
Heat of immersion	Al203	NaCl	
	A12O3 251O2 2H2O	Sodium Illit	e
	Al2O3 45102 H2O	Sodium Mor	tmoi llonite
	BaSO ₄	SiOz	
	C (graphite)	SnO2	
	Calcium Illite	TiO2	
	Calcium Mentmoi IIn GeO2	nite ZrOz	
Work of fracture, cleavage	Al ₂ O ₃	K_O A1203	6510z
	A1203 25102 2H20	K20 3A120	3 65102 2H2O
	Ba F ₂	LiF	
	C (graphite)	MgO	
	CaCOj	Na C1	
	CaF ₂	S:	
	Ge	SiOz	
	KCI	ZnO	
Contact angles	AIN	Sapphire	71C
	A1203	ThO ₂	TiN
	CdO	TiB2	τ ο 2
		-	ZnO

TABLE A-1 PRIMARY EXPERIMENTAL TECHNIQUES AND THE MATERIALS MEASURED BY THEM

ł

Technique		Materials Determined	
Atomistic calculation	BeF2	KBr	Na Cl
	BaO	KCl	Na F
	BaS	KF	Nal
	BaSe	KI	RbBr
	BaTe	LiBr	RbCl
	CaF,	LiCl	RbF
	CaO	LiF	Rbi
	CaS	Lil	SrF ₂
	CaSe	MgS	SrS
	CaTe	MgSe	SrSe
	CsF	NaBr	SrTe
Elastic constants	AgBr	Ge	MgO Al203
	AgCl	InS	Mg2SiO4
	BaSO4	KBr	NaBr
	C (diamond)	KCI	NaCl
	CaCO3	KI	PbS
	CaF2	K20 Al203 6SiO2	Si
	Fe2Ö3	LiF	TiO ₂
	FeSz	MgO	ZnS
Sublimation energy	AlAs	Cr203	In P
	Al ₂ O ₃	FoO	InSb
	AIP	Fe ₂ O ₃	MgO
	Also	Fe2O3-CaO	MnS
	BaS	Fe ₃ O ₄	NaCl
	BeO	GaAs	PbS
	CaCO3' MgCO3	GaP	₽-SiC
	CaO	GaSb	TiO ₂
	CaO· MgO· Al2O3· SiC	2 InAs	-
Empirical calculations	BaO	КВО3	ThOZ
	BeO	KC	TiC
	CaO	KF	UC
	CdO	KI	υο ₂
	CeBr	MnO	vc ⁻
	CeCl	РЬО	ZnO
	CoF	SrO	ZrC
	Cel	TaC	ZrOz
	FeO		

•

TABLE A-2. MAJOR THEORETICAL TECHNIQUES AND SOLID SURFACE ENERGIES CALCULATED BY THEM

APPENDIX B

CLASSES OF MATERIALS STUDIED

Since it is usen of value to study trends within different classes of materials, the compounds that have been studied and reported in this work are categ.rized into different groups. It should be noted that comparisons among different materials within a group can be misleading and caution is urged in attempting to draw correlations between values of surface energy for various members of the groups. Table B-1 lists materials by class, while Table B-2 provides a minerals cross-reference. It should be pointed out that the tables of Appendix C list materials by alphabetical order in their chemical symbols.

B-1

Materials Class	Materi	als Studied	
Elements	C (gr C (di Gerr Silic	raphite) amond) manium con	
Halides	AgBr AgCl BaF ₂ BiBr ₃ BiCl ₃ CaF ₂ CdCl ₂ CaBr CaCl CaF	Col KBr KCL KF KI LiBr LiCl LiF LiI NaBr NaCl	N&F Nai PbI2 PbF2 RbBr RbCi RbF RbI SnCl2 SrF2
Simple oxides	Al2O3 B2O3 BaO BeO CaO CdO Cr2O3 CuO FeO	Fe2O3 Fe3O4 GeO2 La2O3 MgO MnO P2O5 PbO	Sb2O3 SiO2 SnO2 SrO ThO2 TiO2 UO2 ZnO ZrO2
Mixed oxides	Ag ₂ CrO ₄ Al ₂ O ₃ · 2SiO ₂ · 2H ₂ O Al ₂ O ₃ · 4SiO ₂ · H ₂ O CaO· MgO· Al ₂ O ₃ · SiO ₂ Calcium Illite Calcium Montmorillonite Fe ₂ O ₃ - CaO KBO ₂	K ₂ O·Al ₂ K ₂ O·3Al KPO ₃ LiBO ₃ MgO·Al ₂ Mg ₂ SiO ₄ NaPO ₃ Sodium l	C ₃ ·6SiO2 2O3·4SiO2·2H2O 2O3 lllite Montmorillonite
Chalcogenides	BaS BaSe BaTe CaS CaSe CaTe FeS ₂ InS	MgS MgSe MnS PbS SrS SrSe Sr Te ZnS	
III-V semiconductors	AlAs AlN AlP AlSt GaAs	Ga P GaSb InAs InP InSb	

TABLE B-1. MATERIALS STUDIED BY PRIMARY CLASSES

Materials Class	Materials Studiod						
Carbonates, nitrates, sulphates	Ba50 ₄ CaCO ₃ CaCO ₃ · MgCO ₃ CaSO ₄ · 2H ₂ O	C=NO3 CeSO4 LiNO3 Li2SO4	NaNO3 Na2804 Sr504 ZnCO3				
Miscellansous	CaOH Mg(OH)2 β-Si C Σι3N4	TaC TiB ₂ TiC TiN	UC VC ZrC				

TABLE B-1. (Continued)

Mineral	Chemical Formula				
Anatase	TiOz				
Apatite	CaF2-3Ca3P2O8				
Barite	BeSO4				
Calcite	CaCO3				
Calcium Illite	CaCO3				
Calcium Montmorillonite	CaCO3				
Diasnond	Carbon				
Dolamite	CaCO3 MgCO3				
Forsterite	Mg ₂ SiO ₄				
Galena	PbS				
Gehlini.e	CaO· MgO· Al ₂ O ₃ · SiO ₂				
Graphite	Carbon				
Hematite	Fe2O3				
Kaolinite	Al203 · 25i02 · 2H20				
Labradorite	NaAlSi3O8:CuAl2Si3O8				
Mica	K20- 3A1203- 65102- 2H20				
Orthoclase	K2O· Aì2O3· 6SiO2				
Pearl Spar	CaCO3 · MgCO3				
Potassium feldspar	K2O·Al2O3·6SiO2				
Pyrite	FeS2				
Pyrophyllite	Al203 45i02 H20				
Rutile	TiO2				
Sapphire	A1203				
Sphalerite	ZnS				
Spinel	MgO-Al2O3				
Sodium Illite					
Sodium Montmorillonite					
Topaz	(AIFI2SIO4 or AI(F2OH) SIO4				

TABLE B-2. THE COMPOSITION OF MINERALS LISTED IN THE TEXT, TABLE $6^{(a)}$

(a) For the most part, minerals are identified in the table of surface energy (Table 6) under their chemical formulae. There are however, some minerals listed by common name

ľ

Ţ

.

APPENDIX C

SURFACE TENSION OF SELECTED FUSED SALTS AS A FUNCTION OF TEMPERATURE

Values for surface tension of various fused salts over a broad temperature range are available at selected temperatures from <u>The Handbook of Chemistry</u>⁽⁹¹⁾. The values given in the handbook have been approximately fitted here to the general relation $\gamma_{\rm L}^{\rm T} = k (1 - T/T_{\rm c})^{1.2}$, which is used widely. The constants k and T_c were calculated and tabulated in Table C-1. Note that these may be somewhat different from similar calculations listed under "Remarks" in Table 6; this discrepancy is related to the wider temperature ranges employed here.

It should be emphasized that the values of T_c are calculated only from experimental data and are not presumed to have intrinsic significance as the critical temperature (since dissociation and other effects may perturb interpretation).

C-1

	Critical Temperature,				
Material	k	(T _c), k	Atmosphere		
AgCl	175	2194	Air		
BiCl ₃	112	1161	Nitrogen		
CaBr	120	2522	Nitrogen		
CaCl	138	2297	Nitrogen		
CoF	151	2804	Nitrogen		
Cel	110	2401	Nitrogen		
CsNO3	128	2130	Nitrogen		
C-2504	163	3576	Nitrogen		
KBr	135	2487	Nitrogen		
KCI	147	2664	Nitrogen		
K2Cr2O7	154	6600	Nitrogen		
KF	206	3141	Turogen		
KI	116	2504	Nitrogen		
KNO3	145	£359	Nitrogen		
KPO3	220	3431	Nitrogen		
K2SO4	201	4070	Nitrogen		
LiBO ₂	336	4472	Nitrogen		
ມເ	101	3178	Nitrogen		
LiF	340	3686	Nitrogen		
LiNO3	138	2796	Nitrogen		
افرند آ	275	5163	Nitrogen		
NaBr	159	2683	Litrogen		
NaCl	164	3018	Nitrogen		
NaF	290	3539	Nitrogen		
Nal	120	2917	Nitrogen		
NaNO3	145	2910	Nitrogen		
NaPO1	249	4522	Nitrogen		
Na 2SO4	238	5502	Nitrogen		
PbCl	180	2522	Air		
RbBr	134	2519	Nitrogen		
RbCl	154	2354	Nitrogen		
RbF	191	2789	Nitrogen		
Rbi	124	22 94	hitrogen		
RUNOI	138	2313	Nitrogen		
Rb>SC.	174	44	Nitrogen		
SnCl2	132	1084	Nitrogen		

TABLE C-1.	CONSTANTS FOR THE EQUATION γ_1^T	=	k (1 - T/	T _c) ^{1.2}
	FOR VARIOUS FUSED SALTS	•		-

Hennity placetification of their factor is an	UNENT CONTROL DATA . RE		the emergial specific is also allow	
. GAIGMATH & ACTIVITY (Company and and		2		
Defense Ceramic Information Center		URCLASSIFIED		
Columbus Laboratories, 505 Ki	ng Avenue, Cols., Ohio			
. REPORT TITLE	43201			
SURFACE ENERGY OF CERAMIC MA	TERIALS			
E SECTION INTER (1990 of open and tests Special DCIC Report	irie dates)			
. Auttebili (Lest name. Bust name, Intital)				
Dr. Jules J. Duga, Battelle Me	morial Institute, Colum	b us Lab	pratorias	
. NEPO IT SATE	76- TOTAL NO. OF P.		76. 00. 67 8678 125	
Lune 1969	94. 981 981 A TON'S AG			
F33615-69-C-1433	DCIC Renart	6 9- 2	•	
•		10(\$) (Ang	other numbers that may be savigned	
			٠	
A VA IL ADILITY/LIMITATION NOTICES		4 -		
II. SUPPL ENENTARY NOTES	is spensoning mun Air Force Ma Materials Su Wright-Patte	nnv acti aterial unnort l erson A	vity • Laboratory Division (MAM) ir Force Base, Ohio 454	
II. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES IS ABSTRACT The concepts, experimental	techniques, and theorem	rany actin aterial unnort l prson A tical a	vity S Laboratory Division (MAN) ir Force Base, Ohio 454 palyses of the surface	
The concepts, experimental energy of solid ceramic materia mass of unrelated data into a c that various experimental metho but, that each of these has cer it is shown that theoretical an rather imprecise, can be used t of temperature. While a few ma (such as HgO, AlgO ₃ and some al there is a great naucity of infi interest. Improvements and exc suggested that will help to fil solid surfaces, and specific an shown in the report that the pr notential for the measurement a number of materials that are po development of thermodynamic me surface energies of nonbrittle interest.	is promotions much dir Force Mi Materials Su Materials Su Wright-Patter techniques, and theoret is are reviewed with the oncise form for comparis ds can be applied to the tain limitations which a alyses and empirical com o approximate surface er terials have been discus kall halides), a review ormation on the surface ensions of experimental the voids in the press alyses of experimental poor use of thermodynami of interpretation of so orly understood at press thods presents an opport materials, thus overcom- methods.	ranvacti aterial unnort (erson A tical an e measuri are ofter relation tergies und end ent und tentods ic technois ic technois ing one	with s Laboratory Division (MAM) in Force Base, Ohio 454 malyses of the surface f condensing a large evaluation. It is sho rement of surface energy en unstated. Furthermo ons, while sometimes , narticularly as function considerable detail literature notes that es of many solids of cirical techniques are erstanding of ceramic are forwarded. It is niques offers consideral face energies of a large n addition, the further to investigate solid of the basic limita-	
The concepts, experimental energy of solid ceramic materia mass of unrelated data into a c that various experimental metho- but, that each of these has cer it is shown that theoretical an rather imprecise, can be used t of temperature. While a few ma (such as HgO, Al ₂ O ₃ and some al there is a great naucity of infi interest. Improvements and ex- suggested that will help to fil solid surfaces, and specific an shown in the report that the pri- notential for the measurement a number of materials that are bo development of thermodynamic me surface energies of nonbrittle lions of the use of mechanical	techniques, and theoret Materials Su Wrinht-Patter Is are reviewed with the oncise form for comparis ds can be annied to the tain limitations which a alyses and emmirical com- o approximate surface en- terials have been discus kali halides), a review ormation on the surface ensions of experimental the voids in the press alyses of experimental once use of thermodynamined interpretation of sol orly understood at press thods presents an opport	tical an enson A tical an enson A tical an enson and emeasure of the energies sed in of the energies and eme ent und thods ic techn lid sur- tunity ing one	vitv s Laboratory Division (MAM) ir Force Base, Ohio 454 malyses of the surface f condensing a large evaluation. It is sho rement of surface energy en unstated. Furthermo ons, while sometimes , narticularly as funct considerable detail literature notes that es of many solids of birical techniques are erstanding of ceramic are forwarded. It is niques offers consideral face energies of a large n addition, the further to investigate solid of the basic limita-	

and Standard Heart

Unclassified Security Classification

14		LI	IK A	LH	K 9	LM	ĸc
		ROLE		ROLE		3.04	UT
	Ceramic materials						
1	Experimental techniques						
l l	Glass						
· 1	Neasurement						
	Mechanical Proventies						
1	Physical Procerties						
	Surface tension						
	Surfaces, energy						
	Theoretical calculations			į.			
				-			
			l -				
			1				
						į.	
		8					
						1	
			0				/
		1					
	,						
	/						

Security Classification

.